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Financlal Highlights

(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31, 2003 2002 % Change 2001 % Change
@[@@T@ﬁ’ﬁ@ﬂ%

[nsurance premiums written and
contract deposits

Core business lines (1) $ 058.2 $ 8876 8.0% § 8529 4.1%
Total (1) 955.5 899.3 6.2% 875.6 2.7%
Net income 19.0 11.3 25.6
Return on equity (2) 3.5% 2.4% 5.6%
Property & casualty GAAP
combined loss and expense ratio 112.3% 101.9% 106.8%
Experienced agents 510 527 -3.2% 553 -4.7%
Financed agents 378 395 -4.3% 314 25.8%
Total agents 883 922 -3.7% 867 6.3%

Par share

Net income per share;

Basic $ 044 $ 028 57.1% $ 063 -55.6%
Diluted $ 044 $ 028 57.1% $ 063 -55.6%
Dividends paid $ 042 $ 042 - $ 042 -
Book value (3) $ 12.42 $ 1239 0.2% $ 11.27 9.9%
Fnancial position
Total assets $ 4,973.0 $4,512.3 $ 4,489.0
Short-term debt 25.0 - 53.0
Long-term debt 144.7 144.7 99.8
Total shareholders' equity 530.5 528.8 459.2

(1) Effective December 31, 2001, Horace Mann ceased writing automobile insurance policies in Massachusetts. 2002 insurance premiums written and
contract deposits for core lines increased 6.4% and for the total increased 5.8% compared to the respective 2001 amounts adjusted to exclude
premiums from Massachusetts automobile policies.

(2) Based on 12-month net income and average quarter-end shareholders’ equity.

(3) Before the fair value adjustment for investments, book value per share was $10.51 at December 31, 2003, $10.50 at December 31, 2002 and
$10.62 at December 31, 2001,

Forward-lecking nformation

It is important to note that the Company’s actual results could differ materially from those projected in forward-looking statements. Additional
information concerning factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-laoking statements is contained from time to
time in the Company's SEC filings. Copies of these filings may be obtained by contacting the Company or the SEC.

Horace Mann Educators Corporation ° 2003 Annual Report




Letter to Shareholders

2003 continued to be a year of transition at
Horace Mann as we focused on delivering our Value
Proposition to the educator market.

Our Value Proposition to “provide lifelong
financial well-being for educators and their families
through personalized service, advice, and a full range

/,/6/f tailored insurance and financial products” remains
/ our compass and underlies our commitment to realize
/ the value of the Horace Mann franchise.

/ Plans to achieve our 2004 financial and

‘/ operational objectives are in place and the near-term
focus will be on execution, with primary emphasis
on improving profit margins in our property and
casualty business.

2003: A year of challenges in P&C

In addition to implementing organizational and
process changes in key areas of the company, Horace
Mann was further challenged in its property and
casualty business in 2003 by claims reserving issues
and a record level of catastrophe losses.

Significant adverse prior years’ property and
casualty claims reserve development became apparent
in the latter part of 2002 and during 2003 as a result
of the changes that were made in the property and
casualty claims organization. In the last half of 2003,

we took the appropriate actions to address and resolve
the issue. We strengthened prior years' reserves by
$30 million in the third quarter and another

$12 million in the fourth quarter — primarily to
address 2002 and 2001 auto liability claims.
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At the end of the third guazer, we 2lree D2

Consulting LLP to conduct a cetziled rvizw o iz

company’s claim handling practices a:=c¢ el
integration with our reserving practices. Twlr cioiie
and actuarial specialists reviewed claim files as we” 25
past and current claims handling processes and
procedures, including case reserving practices, in eac:
of our six offices. Deloitte also performed an
assessment of the company’s actuarial reserving
processes. Their work was completed in January.
And, while it identified some selected opportunity
areas, the appropriateness of our actions to improve
the property and casualty claims operations and
practices was reaffirmed.

The company also engaged Deloitte to provide
independent actuarial consulting services to
evaluate property and casualty claims reserves as of
December 31, 2003. Our year-end actuarial analysis
and reserve estimates incorporated the findings of

their claims and reserving practices review, as well as
their actuarial review as of December 31, 2003.

As a result of the insights provided by the Deloitte
study and the reserve strengthening actions taken, we
enter 2004 with increased confidence that our
improving underlying property and casualty results
will flow through to our reported earnings.

Advanced Claim Environment
leads critical P&C initiatives

While the adverse property and casualty reserve
development was an unforeseen challenge, the
implementation of ACE, our Advanced Claim
Environment, has enabled us to make considerable




progress toward streamlining processes and improving
efficiency in our claims operation. We consolidated
cur 17 claims offices to six regional offices in 2002,
which has allowed us to cut overhead costs and reduce
our reliance on independent adjusters. We have
implemented improved and consistent claim handling
processes and procedures, accelerated the claims
settlement process and improved customer service.

Critical to our claims restructuring are the
technological investments we made to improve the
delivery process and drive further efficiencies. The
most notable is Claims Workstation®, a comprehensive
claims management system that handles the life cycle
of claims from notice of loss through settlement. We
successfully piloted and launched the program in two
of our regional offices in 2003, and our goal is to
have it completely deployed in the second quarter of
2004. Claims Workstation® will lead to better
consistency of claims handling and settlement
throughout our organization.

Property results improve
despite catastrophe losses

2003 was the industry’s third-costliest year in the
past 10 years for catastrophe losses. United States
property and casualty insurers paid $12.8 billion for
insured property losses for the California wildfires,
Hurricane Isabel and other disasters. For Horace
Mann, catastrophe losses were $33 million, our
highest year on record.

On a positive note, continued improvement was
realized in the underlying profitability of our
homeowners business. Our property loss ratio

excluding catastrophes of 62 percent reflected
decreases of more than 11 percentage points compared
to 2002 and nearly 30 points compared to 2001
results. Aggressive rate actions, tightened
underwriting guidelines, increased educator business
and our continuing reinspection program produced
the dramatic improvement.

Financial markets
significantly improved

There was substantial improvement in the
financial markets during the year. We realized a
modest level of net investment gains as the credit
markets stabilized. The equity markets also rebounded
nicely, which had a positive impact on our variable
annuity business.

We continued to experience pressure on
investment income, including margin compression
in our fixed annuity business, due primarily to
persistently low reinvestment rates. While crediting
rates have been reduced to the minimum contractual
guarantees in most instances, this reduction was not
enough to offset the investment income decline.
However, we do expect investment income to grow at
a modest pace in 2004, driven by growth in assets.

]

New business growtlh, agent
productivity trends positive

After a weak start to the year, we enjoyed a modest
sales increase in the second quarter and accelerated
growth in the third and fourth quarters to finish the
year with a 15 percent increase in new business.
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While all core lines recorded healthy increases,
annuities generated over three-quarters of the growth.
Career agent annuity sales increased modestly, and
production fref our new independent agent initiative
more th/an‘”ﬁipled compared to 2002.
o /
We broadened our financial services offerings with

~he introduction of a universal life insurance product
issued by Jefferson Pilot Financial as well as mutual
funds and 529 college savings plans offered by
American Funds. Jefferson Pilot is one of the market
leaders in the sale of fixed universal life insurance.
American Funds is one of the largest mutual fund
families and has been consistently ranked as one of
the top mutual fund companies. These partner
products enhance our ability to deliver on our

Value Proposition.

Our new business growth was accomplished with
agents having less than two years’ experience
comprising a larger portion of the agent force than in
2002. And although the agent count was down at
December 31 compared to the prior year-end, the
average number of agents over the 12 months was
4 percent higher in 2003. Average agent productivity
increased slightly in 2003 following significant gains
in both 2001 and 2002.

Target market trends improve

We continue to make steady progress in attracting
and retaining our target market clients. Educators
comprised 68 percent of the 2003 new auto business,

up from 50 percent three years earlier. That increase is

being driven by several factors, including competitive
g )4 g p
pricing in the educator market and compensation that
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rewards our agents for serving o

will maintain our focus on ircrz

*
-t

new educator customers while seliinz

<

products and services to our existing base =+
administrators and support staff.

High Priority Markets, Solutions
helping to accelerate opportunities

We have sharpened our focus on High Priority
Markets, where we have identified 13 strategic
locations to explore and pursue opportunities to
deliver significant revenue growth in our core educator
market. The potential to outperform benchmarks
across the board in these territories — in new
business, productivity, educator households, cross

selling, persistency, profitability and retention — is
significant. Our High Priority Market initiative will
create a template for realizing consumer franchise
value in other locations in conjunction with our new
Solutions sales system.

Solutions is an end-to-end selling system that
incorporates sales materials, presentations and scripts,
and enables agents to gather relevant customer
information and help assess client needs. It will
enable our agents to have a consistent sales and
customer contact process. Successful implementation
of Solutions in 2004 — which agents viewed favorably
in a pilot in late 2003 — is expected to further
increase new business production in all lines.




srvice

Cur commitment to providing our clients with
<=2 customer service they desire remains steadfast and
ss0.ute as we continue to enhance service operations.

Our major accomplishments in 2003 included
development of a Web-enabled Customer Care Center,
a Client Quality Assurance program that evaluates our
representatives on incoming call handling, and a
successful launch of property and casualty regional call
center pilots.

We implemented the initial stages of a client
document management system as the first step in
creating a paper-free work environment, improved
client/agent satisfaction and expanded methods for
clients to pay their premium. And, taking another
step toward improving customer satisfaction,
quality control and operational efficiency, we teamed
with DST Output to redesign and deliver our
customer COmmunications.

2004 priorities to bolster
franchise value

For the team at Horace Mann, 2004 is all about
focus, execution and delivery. We are focused on the
execution of the critical initiatives that will deliver
the greatest impact on bottom line results and

shareholder value.

We plan to continue our aggressive rate and
underwriting actions to improve property and casualty

V\‘x‘PI‘Ofit margins. The benefits of our claims

@ .

restructuring — afid-the associated technological
advances — are also expected-to have 2 positive impact

on the bottom line. We will continue to focus on
growing our educator business while increasing the
level of service and advice we provide our tatget
market, addressing their needs through a broad ™
portfolio of Horace Mann and partner products.

Transitioning to a stronger
Horace Mann

Our investors and other stakeholders can feel
secure in knowing that we continue a strict adherence
to high standards of corporate governance. We are
committed to, and take very seriously, our
responsibilities to comply with the provisions of

Sarbanes-Oxley.

We are confident that although the transition we
are experiencing is clearly not without its challenges,
the initiatives being implemented will accelerate
delivery of our Value Proposition and move us in
the right direction to enable shareholders, clients
and employees to realize the full value of Horace
Mann’s franchise.

Sincerely,

Gt et

Joseph J. Melone

Chairman of
the Board of Directors

Louis G. Lower 11
President &
Chief Executive Officer
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PART |
ITEM 1. Business
Forward-looking Information

it is important to note that the Company's actual results could differ materially from those
projected in forward-looking statements. Additional information concerning factors that could cause
actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements is contained in
*Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

QOverview and Available Information

Horace Mann Educators Corporation ("HMEC"; and together with its subsidiaries, the "Company"
or "Horace Mann") is an insurance holding company incorporated in Delaware. Through its
subsidiaries, HMEC markets and underwrites personal lines of property and casualty and life insurance
and retirement annuities in the United States of America ("U.S."). HMEC's principal insurance
subsidiaries are Horace Mann Insurance Company ("HMIC"), Teachers Insurance Company ("TIC")
and Horace Mann Life Insurance Company ("HMLIC"), each of which is an illinois corporation; Horace
Mann Property & Casualty Insurance Company ("HMPCIC"), a California domiciled company; and
Horace Mann Lloyds ("HM Lloyds™), domiciled in Texas.

The Company markets its products primarily to educators and other employees of public schools
and their families. The Company's one million customers typically have moderate annual incomes, with
many beionging tc two-income households. Their financial planning tends to focus on retirement,
security, savings and primary insurance needs. Management believes that Horace Mann is the largest
national multiline insurance company focused on the nation's educators as its primary market.

The Company markets and services its products primarily through an exclusive sales force of full-
time agenis employed by the Company and trained tc sell multiline products. The Company's agents
seil Horace Mann's products and limited additional third-party vendor products authorized by the
Company. Many of the Company's agents are foermer educators or individuals with close ties to the
educational community whe utilize their contacts within, and knowledge of, the target market.
Compensation for agents includes an incentive element based upon the profitability of the business
they write. This employee agent sales force is supplemented by an independent agent distribution
channel for the Company’s annuity products.

The Company's insurance premiums written and contract deposits for the year ended December
31, 2003 were $955.5 million and netincome was $19.0 million. The Company's total assets were $5.0
billion at December 31, 2003. The property and casualty segment, whose primary preducts are private
passenger automobile and homeowners insurance, accounied for 57% of the Company's insurance
premiums written and contract deposits for the year ended December 31, 2003; the annuity and life
insurance segments together accounted for 43% of insurance premiums written and contract deposits
for the year ended December 31, 2003 (31% and 12%, respectively).




The Company is one of the iargest participants in the 403(b) tax-quaiified annuity market,
measured by 403(b) net written premium on a statutory accounting basis. The Coempany's 403(b) tax-
gualified annuities are annuities purchased veluntarily by individuals employed by public school systems
or cther tax-exempt organizations. The Company has approved 403(b) payrcll reduction capabilities in
approximately one-third of the 15,000 public school districts in the U.S.

The Company's investment portfolic had an aggregate fair value of $3.4 billion at December 31,
2003. Investments consist principally of investment grade, publicly traded fixed income securities.

The Company's annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on
Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports are available free of charge through the Company's
Internet website, www.horacemann.com, as soon as practicable after such reports are electronically
filed with, or furnished to, the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). The EDGAR filings of
such reports are also available at the SEC’s website, www.sec.gov.

History

The Company's business was founded in Springfield, lllinois, in 1945 by two linois school
teachers to sell automobile insurance to other teachers within the State of lilincis. The Company
expanded its business to other states and broadened its product line to include life insurance in 1849,
403(b) tax-quaiified retirement annuities in 1961 and homeowners insurance in 1965. In November
1991, HMEC completed an initial public offering of its common stock (the "IPO"). The common stock is
traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “"HMN."




SELECTED HISTORICAL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following statement of operations and balance sheet data have been derived from the
consolidated financial statements of the Company. The consolidated financial statements of the
Company for each of the years in the five year period ended December 31, 2003 have been audited by
KPMG LLP. The following selected historical consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction
with the consolidated financial statements of HMEC and its subsidiaries and Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
Statement of Operations Data: (Dollars in miilions, except per share data)
Insurance premiums written and contract deposits........................ $ 9555 $ 8993 $ 8756 $ 8217 $ 821.2
Insurance premiums and contract charges earned ... . 643.5 625.2 615.2 598.7 585.1
Net investment iNCOMe ... e 184.7 186.0 199.3 192.4 188.3
Realized investment gaing (IoSSES) ........oovvecverivee e 255 (49.4) (10.0) 9.9) 8.0)
Total revenues .........ccvceeivieiieniae . 853.7 771.8 804.5 781.2 775.4
Amortization of intangible assets (1). 5.0 57 5.8 8.8 0.2
Interest expense........ccooceveveeeinn. 6.3 85 9.3 10.2 9.7
Income before INCOMEe taxes ..o 19.2 7.7 28.3 97 934
NEtiNCOME (2)....c.ieiieiiiii e s 18.0 1.3 256 208 445
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges (3) ..o 4.0x 1.9x 4.0x 2.0x 10.6x
Per Share Data (4):
Net income:
BASIC ... ceer i $ 044 $ o028 $ 063 $ 051 $ 108
DHIUBA. .. ceoniee e e $ 044 $ 028 $ 063 $ 051 $ 107
Shares of Common Stock - weighted average:
BaSIC .ottt 427 40.9 406 40.8 412
DHULBA. ..o e 429 41.2 409 41.0 417
Shares of Common Stock - ending outstanding ..o 427 427 40.7 405 41.0
Cash dividends......cccoovvceneiiiinieee e $ 042 $ 042 $ 042 $ 042 $0.3825
Book value per share (5) $ 1242 $ 12.39 $ 1127 $ 1056 $ 975
Balance Sheet Data, at Year End:
Total INVESIMENTS ....cooviiei i e $3,385.7 $3,130.6 $2,9757 $2,912.3 $2,630.2
Total assets.............. 4,973.0 45123 4,489.0 44206 4,253.8
Total policy liabilities 2,824.2 2,626.8 2,475.6 2,362.3 2,341.3
Short-term debt ........ 250 - 53.0 49.0 49.0
Long-term debl..........ccooeiiiii 144.7 144.7 99.8 99.7 99.7
Total shareholders’ equity..............ccooeiieiicee e 530.5 528.8 459.2 428.0 400.1
Segment Information (6):
Insurance premiums written and contract deposits
$ 5465 $ 5249 $ 5193 $ 4835 $ 4951
296.6 2615 2391 206.4 205.7
1124 112.9 117.2 121.8 120.4
955.5 899.3 875.6 821.7 821.2
Net income
Property and Casualty ..o $ (17.8) $ 199 $ 52 $ 89 $ 395
Annuity ... 14.4 17.0 206 19.3 27.3
Life e 134 18.9 18.7 12.9 14.6
Corporate and other (2) 9.0 (44.5) (18.9) (20.3) (36.9)
TOMAN e 19.0 11.3 258 208 445

(1) Amortization of intangible assets is comprised of amortization of goodwill and amortization of acquired value of insurance in force and is the result of
purchase accounting adjustments related to the 1989 acquisition of the Company and the 1994 acquisition of HMPCIC. Effective January 1, 2002, the
Company adopted Financial Accounting Standard ("FAS") No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” Under FAS No. 142, goodwill amortization
ceases and the goodwill is annually tested for impairment. Goodwill amortization was $1.6 million in each of the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000
and 1999.

(2) 1999includes a charge of $20.0 miilion to record an additiona! federal income tax provision representing the Company's maximum exposure for disputed
prior years' taxes (for tax years 1994 through 1997). 2000 includes a benefit of $8.7 million from resolution of tax years 1994 through 1986. 2001 includes
a benefit of $1.3 million from resolution of tax year 1997.

(3) For the purpose of determining the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, "earnings" consist of income before income taxes and interest expense (including
amortization of debt issuance cost), and "fixed charges" consist of interest expense (including amortization of debt issuance cost).

{4) Basic earnings per share is computed based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding. Diluted eamings per share is computed based on the
weighted average number of shares and common stock equivalents outstanding. The Company's common stock equivalents relate to outstanding
common stock options, Director Stock Plan units and Employee Stock Plan units and warrants prior to their repurchase in 1999.

(5) Due to the adoption by the Company on January 1, 1994 of FAS No. 115, total shareholders' equity included an increase, net of taxes, of $81.6 million,
$80.6 million and $26.3 million at December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 and a decrease, net of taxes, of $4.0 million and $40.0 million at December 31, 2000
and 1999, respectively. Excluding the FAS 115 fair value accounting for investments, book value per share was $10.51, $10.50, $10.62, $10.66 and
$10.73 at December 31, 2003, 2002, 2001, 2000 and 1899, respectively.

(6) Information regarding assets by segment at December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 is contained in the Company's Notes to Financial Statements listed on
page F-1 of this report.

(7) The corporate and other segment primarily includes interest expense on debt and the impact of realized investment gains and losses, restructuring
charges, debt retirement costs, litigation charges, provision for prior years' taxes and certain public company expenses.
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Corporate Strategy and Marketing
The Horace Mann Value Proposition

The Horace Mann Value Preposition articulates the Company's overarching strategy and
business purpose: Provide lifelong financial well-being for educators and their families through
personalized service, advice, and a full range of tailored insurance and financial products.

Target Market

Management believes that Horace Mann is the largest national multiline insurance company
focused on the nation’s educators as its primary market. The Company's target market consists of
educators and other employees of public schools and their families located throughout the U.S. The
U.S. Department of Education estimates that there are approximately 3.5 million elementary and
secondary teachers in public and private schocls in the U.S. The Company also markets its products to
cther education-related customers, including school administrators, education support perscnnel,
private school teachers, community college personnel, and customer referrals.

Exclusive Agency Force

A cornerstone of the Company's marketing strategy is its exclusive sales force of full-time
employee agents trained to sell muitiline products. As of December 31, 2003, the Company empioyed
888 fuli-time agents, approximately 70% of which are licensed by the NASD to sell variable annuities.
Many of the Company's agents were previously teachers, sther members of the education profession or
persons with close ties to the educational community. The Company's agents are under contract to
market only the Company's preducts and limited additionai third-party vendoer products authorized by
the Company. Collectively, the Company's principal insurance subsidiaries are licensed to write
business in 48 states and the District of Columbia.

Broadening Distribution Options

Management has begun to broaden the Company's distribution options t¢ complement and
extend the reach of the Company's agency force. This initiative initially focuses on more fully utilizing its
approved payroll deduction slots in schoc! systems across the country which are assigned to Horace
Mann. In 2001, the Company began building a network of independent agents who will comprise a
second distribution channel for the Company's 4C3(b) tax-qualified annuity products. [n addition to
serving educators in areas where the Company dces not have agents, the independent agents will
complement and exiend the annuity capabilities of the Company's agents in under-penetrated areas.

As an example of the potential for this initiative, in January 2002 the Company announced that it
had been selected as one of four providers of fixed and variable annuity options to Chicago, lllinois
public school employees. The Chicago Public Schocls is the third-largest school district in the U.S.
Beginning in April 2002, the Cempany is partnering with an independent broker/dealer, which has been
providing retirement planning services to Chicago Public School employees for more than two decades,
to pursue this cpportunity tc bolster growth in its annuity business. At December 31, 2003, there were
465 independent agents approved to market the Company's annuity products throughout the U.S.
During 2003, collected contract deposits from this distribution channel were approximately $42 miliion.




Geographic Composition of Business

The Company's business is geographically diversified. For the year ended December 31, 2003,
based on direct insurance premiums earned and contract deposits for all product lines, the top five
states and their portion of total premiums were North Carolina, 7.8%; lllinois, 5.9%; Flerida, 5.7%;
Minnesota, 5.4%; and California, 5.2%.

HMEC's property and casualty subsidiaries write business in 48 states and the District of
Columbia. The following table sets forth the Company's top ten property and casualty states based on
total direct premiums in 2003:

Property and Casualty Segment Top Ten States
(Dollars in millions)

Property and Casualty
Segment
Direct Percent
Premiums (1 of Total
State
NOMN CaArOliNG ...t ettt ettt s e e e s e esseae e betae b enan $ 434 8.0%
California ............ 422 7.7
Florida............. 39.8 7.3
Minnesota ....... 383 7.2
Texas ... 26.5 49
Pennsyivania ...... 23.9 44
Michigan ............ 238 4.4
South Carolina.... 22.1 4.1
Louisiana ............ 220 4.0
Maine ......ccoooevieiiiiri, 17.2 3.2
Total of top ten states.. 300.2 55.
All other areas..................... 2438 44.8
TOtal dirCt PrEMIUIMIS ...cviveviiiesieetceeet sttt ee et b st sn ettt sse s nabes $544.0 100.0%

(1) Defined as earned premiums before reinsurance and is determined under statutory accounting principles.

HMEC's principal life insurance subsidiary writes business in 48 states and the District of
Columbia. The following table sets forth the Company’s top ten combined life and annuity states based
on total direct premiums and contract deposits in 2003:

Combined L.ife and Annuity Segments Top Ten States
(Dollars in miltions)

Direct Premiums and Percent
Contract Deposits (1) of Total
State

JINIOIS ... evverteetiier et st ce b ettt s s e rr e sre e se s ebetaebea e b de b s es e s ean et e reeses et bt enbrar e $ 422 10.1%
North Carolina 314 75
Indiana.......ccoovceniienriienns 23.0 55
Virginia........ccococeneinrcrennee 228 55
TEXAS .c.vecvvevier e 21.9 52
Tennessee...cc.covviverinnane 19.3 46
Pennsylvania ...................... 16.5 4.0
Florida......cc.ccovenicnniirain 14.6 3.5
South Caralina.............c...... i4.4 34
Louisiana ......c.occococrrinnnnn, 13.9 33
Total of top ten states 220.0 52.6
All other areas................... 198.5 47.4

Total direCt PrEMILMS ......iivvieeeieiceiet e eerererr bbb st sst s es st sab s e $4185 100.0%

(1) Determined under statutory accounting principles.




National, State and Local Education Associations

The Company has had a long relationship with the Natiocna! Education Association ("NEA"), the
nation’s largest confederation of state and local teachers’ associations, ang many of the state and lecal
education associations affiliated with the NEA. The NEA has approximately 2.7 million members. The
Company maintains a special advisory board, primarily composed of leaders of state education
assaociations, that meets with Company management on a regular basis. The NEA and its affiliated
state and local asscciations sponsor various insurance products and services cf the Company and its
competitors. ‘

From 1984 tc September 1993 and beginning again in September 1888, the NEA purchased from
the Company educator excess professional liability insurance for all of its members. The NEA has
entered into a contract to purchase this insurance from the Company through August 2007. Premium
from this product represents less than 1% of all insurance premiums written and contract deposits of
the Company.

Property and Casualty Segment

The property and casualty segment represented 57% of the Company’s total insurance premiums
written and contract deposits.

The primary property and casualty product offered by the Company is private passenger
automobile insurance, which in 2003 represented 41% of the Company’s total insurance premiums
written and contract deposits and 73% of property and casualty net written premiums. As of December
31, 2003, the Company had approximately 571,000 voluntary automebile policies in force with annual
premiums of approximately $393 million. The Company's automobile business is primarily preferred
risk, defined as a household whose drivers have had no recent accidents and no more than one recent
moving violation. The Company has instituted a program in a majority of states to provide non-
preferred risk automaobile coverage to the educator market, with a third-party vendor underwriting such
insurance and the Company receiving a commission on its sale.

In 2003, homeowners insurance represented 16% of the Company’s total insurance premiums
written and contract deposits and 27% of property and casuaity net written premiums. The Company
insures primarily residential homes. As of December 31, 2003, the Company had approximately
279,000 homeowners policies in force with annual premiums of approximately $141 million. As
expected, the number of homeowners policies in force decreased in 2003, reflecting initiatives fo
improve profitability in this product line.

Educator excess professional liability insurance represented less than 1% of the Company's 2003
property and casualty premiums. See "Business -- Corporate Strategy and Marketing -- National, State
and Local Education Associations.”




Selected Historical Financial Information For Property and Casually Segment

The following table sets forth cerfain financial information with respect to the property and
casualty segment for the periods indicated.

Property and Casuaﬁﬁy Segment

Selected Historical Financial Information
{Dollars in millions)

Year Ended December 31,

) . 2003 2002 2001
Statement of Operations Data:
Insurance premiums WIHEN (1).......cc..ccoriiviiienimincn s $546.5 $524.9 $519.3
Insurance premiums earned (1) ... . 533.8 519.6 508.3
Net investment income .................. 319 35.2 377
Income (loss) before income taxes ..... (35.2) 23.8 1.9
Net income (l0S8)......c.ocooeviiriennn (17.8) 19.9 5.2
Catastrophe costs, Pretax)..........oooiiiinnic e e 33.2 1.9 1.2
GAAP Operating Statistics:
Loss and loss adjustment expense ratio. 88.6% 78.9% 85.2%
EXPENSE FALO ....c.oviiiiiiiiic et e 23.7% 23.0% 21.6%
Combined loss and expense ratio
(including policyholder dividends) ..o 112.3% 101.9% 106.8%
Combined loss and expense ratio before
catastrophes (including policyholder dividends) ... iirninans 106.1% 93.6% 104 6%
Automobile and Homeowners (Voluntary):
INSUrance premiums WIHHEBN (1) e oo e ecaences e crevessnesse s $549.2 $513.2 $496.6
Insurance premiums earned (1) ... 534.8 504.3 485.5
Policies in force (in thousands) (1) .....ccccoccrienriiricce e 850 857 888

(1) Effective December 31, 2001, Horace Mann ceased writing automobile insurance policies in Massachusetts. As policies in force on that date expired
during the 12 months ended December 31, 2002, the following reductions were recognized in comparison to the year ended December 31, 2001: -$25.5
million insurance premiums written; -$10.8 million insurance premiums earned; -$18.9 million voluntary automobile insurance premiums written; -$8.4
million voluntary automobile insurance premiums earmned; and -23 thousand voluntary automobile policies in force. For the year ended December 31,
2002, the following amounts were included in the Company’s results and were reduced to zero in 2003: $1.2 million insurance premiums written; $9.9
million voluntary automobile premiums earned; $15.6 million insurance premiums earned.




Catastrophe Costs

The level of catastrophe costs can fluctuate significantly from year to year. Catastrophe costs
before federal income tax benefits for the Company and the property and casualty industry for the ten
years ended December 31, 2003 were as follows:

Catastrophe Costs
(Doltars in miltions)

Property and
The Casualty
Company (1) Industry (2)
Year Ended December 31,
$33.2 $12,800.0
11.9 5,900.0
11.2 28,100.0
16.2 4,600.0
19.6 8,300.0
28.4 10,000.0
6.2 2,600.0
20.9 7,300.0
13.9 8,300.0
16.2 17,000.0

(1) Netof reinsurance and before federal income tax benefits. Includes allocated loss adjustment expenses and reinsurance reinstatement premiums. The

Company's individually significant catastrophe losses net of reinsurance were as follows:
2003 - $12.0 million, California wildfires; $9.6 million, May hail, tornadoes and wind; $5.0 million, Hurricane Isabel; $2.7 million early April winter
storms.
2002 - 3$4.2 million, Hurricane Lili; $1.7 million, April Eastern states hail, tornadoes, wind and heavy rain; $1.2 million, Eastern states winter storms.
2001 - $3.7 million, June Midwest wind/hailtornadoes; $2.3 million April tornadoes; $2.2 million Tropical Storm Allison,
2000 - $5.0 million, May tornadoes; $2.7 million December winter storms.
1999 - $5.4 million, Hurricane Floyd; $3.1 million, May tornadoes primarily in Oklahoma.
1998 - $7.9 million, May Minnesota hailstorm; $2.9 million, May Upper Midwest hailstorm; $2.0 million, June Midwest wind/hail; $1.6 million, Hurricane
Georges.
1997 - $1.4 million, July wind/hail/tornadoes; $1.1 million, Denver, Colorado hailstorm.
1986 - $8.2 million, Hurricane Fran.
1995 - $2.9 million, Texas wind/hail/tornadoes; $2.2 million Hurricane Opal.
1994 - $6.0 million, Northridge, California earthquake.
(2) Source: Insurance Services Office, Inc. news release dated January 14, 2004. These amounts are net of reinsurance, before federal income tax benefits,
and exclude all loss adjustment expenses.

Fiuctuations from year to year in the level of catastrophe losses impact a property and casualty
insurance company’s loss and loss adjustment expenses incurred and paid. For comparison purposes, the
following table provides amounts for the Company excluding catastrophe iosses:

Impact of Catastrophe Losses (1)
(Dollars in millions)

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Claims and claim expense incurred (2) $472.9 $411.7 $433.3
Amount attributable to catastrophes..... . 33.2 11.9 1.2
Excluding catastrophes (2)....c.eeveeeeereeeerniiiereerrrnrierereeeeriianererarernnes $439.7 $399.8 $422.1
Claims and claim expense paymentS............ccocceieriienine e $424.6 $411.1 $411.1
Amount attributable to catastrophes 214 10.6 14.2
EXCIuding CatastrOPNES........c.ovccerivcricerrririnnrecanin e ncesesscerersanssnssisescensice $403.2 $400.5 53969

(1) Net of reinsurance and before federal income tax benefits. Includes allocated loss adjustment expenses.
(2) Includes the impact of adverse development of prior years' reserves as quantified in “Property and Casualty Reserves”.

Property and Casually Reserves

At December 31, 2003, all of the Company's net reserves for unpaid claims and claim expenses
were carried at the full value of estimated liabilities and were not discounted for interest expected to be
earned on reserves. Due to the nature of the Company’'s personal lines business, the Company has no
exposure {o claims for toxic waste cleanup, other envircnmental remediation or asbestos-related
ilinesses other than claims under homeowners insurance policies for envircnmentally related items
such as texic mold.




The following table is a summary recenciliation of the beginning and ending property and casualty
insurance claims and claim expense reserves, displayed individually for each of the last three years.
The table presents reserves on a net (after reinsurance) basis. The total net property and casualty
insurance claims and claim expense amcunts are reflected in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations listed on page F-1 of this report. The end of the year gross reserve (before reinsurance)
balances are reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheets also listed on page F-1 of this report.

Reconciliation of Property and Casualty Claims and Claim Expense Reserves
{Dollars in millions)

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Gross reserves, beginning of Year...........co.ovevinvcvnicenn i $317.3 $306.1 $298.9
Less reinsurance recoverables...........ooivieniirennccrneicnen e 447 341 49.1
Net reserves, beginning of YEar.........cc...ccovivrerncis e e 2726 272.0 249.8
incurred claims and claim expenses:
Claims occurring in the CUIrent YEar. ..o 416.5 387.7 416.8
Increase (decrease) in estimated reserves for claims
occurring in prior years (1):
Policies written by the Company (2) .....c...cevrecemmrimnrnrierceneicne 58.3 223 145
Business assumed from state reinsurance facilities.................c...ce..... (1.9) 1.7 20
TOtal INCrEaSE ....co e 56.4 240 16.5
Total claims and claim expenses incurred (2) (3) 472.9 411.7 433.3
Claims and claim expense payments for claims occurring during:
CUITENE YBAI ....c.oieiiir ittt et e bt 240.0 2443 2559
PrOF YEAIS .....ociviiiiiec i e 184.6 166.8 165.2
Total claims and claim expense payments ... 424.6 411.1 4111
Net reserves, end of Period ... 320.9 2726 2720
Plus reinsurance reCoverables ...........oco.oviierieee e s 20.6 447 34.1
Gross reserves, end of Period (4) ....cooceererieeenr e e $341.5 $317.3 $306.1

(1) Shows the amounts by which the Company increased its reserves in each of the periods indicated for claims occurring in previous periods to reflect

subsequent information on such claims and changes in their projected final settlement costs. For discussion of the reserve strengthening recorded by the
Companyin 2002, 2001 and 2000 see "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Results of Operations
for the Three Years Ended December 31, 2003 -- Benefits, Claims and Settlement Expenses” listed on page F-1 of this report.

(2) Forthe year ended December 31, 2002, these amounts included a $1.6 million statutory accounting charge for class action litigation which was separately
reported as Litigation Charges in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations.

(3) Benefits, claims and settiement expenses as reported in the Consolidated Statements of Operations, listed on page F-1 of this report, also include life,
annuity, group accident and health and corporate amounts of $46.1 million, $40.7 million and $42.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002
and 2001, respectively, in addition to the property and casualty amounts.

(4) Unpaid claims and claim expenses as reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, listed on page F-1 of this report, also include life, annuity, and group
accident and health reserves of $9.0 million, $9.3 million and $8.2 million at December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, in addition to property and
casualty reserves.

The claim reserve development table below illustrates the change over time of the net reserves
established fer property and casualty insurance claims and claim expenses at the end of varicus
calendar years. The first section shows the reserves as originally reported at the end of the stated year.
The second section, reading down, shows the cumulative amounts paid as of the end of successive
years with respect to that reserve liability. The third section, reading down, shows retroactive
reestimates of the original recorded reserve as of the end of each successive year which is the result of
the Company's learning additional facts that pertain tc the unsetiled claims. The fourth section
compares the latest reestimated reserve to the reserve originally established, and indicates whether or
not the coriginal reserve was adeguate or inadequate tc cover the estimated costs of unsetiled claims.
The table alsc presents the gross reestimated liability as of the end of the latest reestimation period,
with separate disclosure of the related reestimated reinsurance recoverable. The claim reserve
development tabie is cumulative and, therefore, ending balances should not be added since the amount
at the end of each calendar year includes activity for both the current and prior years.




In evaluating the information in the table below, it should be noted that each amount includes the
effects of all changes in amounts of prior periods. For example, if a claim determined in 2002 to be $150
thousand was first reserved in 1993 at $100 thousand, the $50 thousand deficiency (actual claim minus
original estimate) would be included in the cumulative deficiency in each of the years 1993 - 2001 shown
below. This table presents development data by calendar year and does not relate the data to the year in
which the accident actually occurred. Conditions and trends that have affected the development of these
reserves in the past will not necessarily recur in the future. It may not be appropriate to use this cumulative
history in the projection of future performance.

Property and Casualty

Claims and Claims Expense Reserve Development
(Dollars in millions)

December 31,
1983 1994 1885 1996 1997 ige8 1898 2000 2001 2002 2003
Gross reserves for property
and casualty claims and
claim expenses ............c........ $373.5  $389.1 $369.7 $340.4  $310.6 $298.9 $299.8 $298.9 $306.1  $317.3 33415
Deduct: Reinsurance
recoverables. ..o 216 19.5 23.8 34.1 41.3 55.9 64.4 49.1 341 44.7 206
Net reserves for property and
casualty claims and claim
EXPENSES ...oivvviieieeiiie s 351.9 369.6 3459 306.3 269.3 243.0 2354 249.8 272.0 2726 320.9
Increase in reserves due to
purchase of HMPCIC:
Gross reserves for
property and casualty
claims and claim
EXPENSES ..o 30.6 - - - - - - - - -
Deduct: Reinsurance
recoverables................ 06 - - - - - - - - -
Net reserves for property
and casualty claims
and claim expenses....... 30.0 - - - - - - - - -
Paid cumulative as of:
One yearlater ............cccco... 1334 140.8 139.3 148.6 142.0 1425 155.6 1565.2 166.8 184.7
Two years later....................... 190.5 184 .5 195.3 202.1 191.4 2032 2127 2201 2457
Three years later................... 2184 2242 223.0 2251 223.0 233.0 248.0 262.2
Four years later.................... 2341 237.9 233.8 240.2 236.7 2512 269.8
Five years later............c.c........ 241.0 243 .1 2414 245.0 246.5 262.5
Six years later ..............c........ 243.7 2471 242.8 250.5 2529
Seven years later ................ 246.1 2475 246.8 2546
Eight years later................... 246.2 250.4 249.2
Nine years later ................... 2481 252.0
Tenvyearslater................... 249.9
Reserves reestimated as of:
End of year........cc.covviennn, 381.9 369.6 3459 306.3 269.3 243.0 2354 2498 2720 2726 320.9

...... 3276 314.0 2834 261.2 244 4 2384 2581 266.3 296.0 329.0
...... 281.9 269.2 2496 250.2 239.3 261.2 276.9 287.3 3261

One year later ...
Two years later...

Three years later .................... 258.1 251.4 245.8 247.8 254.9 268.7 284.6 303.8
Four years later...........c........ 2493 248.9 243.8 2571 257.0 271.3 295.5

Five years later..............c....... 229.7 2474 250.9 256.4 258.7 278.0

Six years later ..........cccccoceee 246.6 2529 250.1 258.8 262.7

Seven years later .................. 250.2 2526 252.2 261.2
Eight years later ................... 250.2 255.0 2543
Nine years later.........c............ 2521 256.7
Tenvyears later.......ccee.e 2544
Reserve redundancy
(deficiency) — initial net
reserves in excess of (less
than) reestimated reserves:

Amount (1) $1275 %1128 $ 916 $451 $ 66 $(350) $(60.1) $(54.0) $(53.1) $(56.4)
Percent ........c.ccocoevvieriienn. 33.4% 30.5% 26.5% 14.7% 2.5% -14 4% -25.5% -21.6% -19.5% -20.7%
Gross reestimated liability -
latest........ocooviieeee e $283.5 $287.4  $279.8 $291.3 $2919 §3134  $3203 $33786 $3606  $370.1
Reestimated reinsurance
recoverables - latest............... 29.1 30.7 255 30.1 29.2 354 338 33.8 355 411

Net reestimated liability - latest $254.4  $256.7  $254.3 $261.2 $2627 $278.0 $2955 33038 $3251  $329.0
Gross cumulative excess

(deficiency) (1) ... $1206 $101.7 . §$899 §$491 $187 §(145) §(285) §(387) S§(545) §(528)

(1) For discussion of the reserve development, see “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations -- Results of
Operations for the Three Years Ended December 31, 2003 -- Benefits, Claims and Settlement Expenses”.
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Property and Casually Reinsurance

All reinsurance is obtained through contracts which generally are renewed each calendar year;
however, the 2003 catasirophe reinsurance program was comprised of two contracts, a three-year
contract with rate guaraniees effective January 1, 2001 and a one-year contract effective January 1,
2003. Althcugh reinsurance does not iegally discharge the Company from primary liability for the full
amount of its policies, it does make the assuming reinsurer liable to the extent of the reinsurance
ceded. Historically, the Company's losses from uncollectible reinsurance recoverables have been
insignificant due to the Company’s emphasis on the credit worthiness of its reinsurers. Past due
reinsurance recoverables as of December 31, 2003 were insignificant.

The Company maintains an excess and catastrophe treaty reinsurance program. The Company
reinsured 95% of catastrophe losses above a retention of $8.5 million per occurrence up to $80 million
per occurrence through December 31, 2003. Effective January 1, 2004, the retention cn this coverage
increased to $10.0 million. In addition, the Company’s predominant insurance subsidiary for property
and casualty business written in Florida reinsures 90% of hurricane losses in that state above a
retention of $14.5 million up to $50.9 million with the Florida Hurricane Catastrophe Fund, based on the
Fund's financial resources. These catastrophe reinsurance programs are augmented by a $75 million
equity put and reinsurance agreement.

Effective May 7, 2002, the Company entered into an equity put and reinsurance agreement with 2
subsidiary of Swiss Reinsurance Company. The Swiss Re CGroup is rated "A+ (Superior)” by A.M. Best.
Under the 36-month agreement, which is renewable annually at the option of the Company, the equity
put coverage of $75 million provides a source of capitai for up to $115 million of pretax catastrophe
losses above the reinsurance coverage limit. The Company also has the option, in place of the equity
put, to require a Swiss Re Group member to issue a 10% quota share reinsurance coverage of all ¢f the
Company’s property and casualty book of business. Annual fees related to this equity put cption, which
are charged directly to additional paid-in capital, are 145 basis points for the May 7, 2002 through May
7, 2004 period increasing to 150 basis points for the May 7, 2004 through May 7, 2005 period. The
agreement contains certain conditions to Horace Mann's exercise of the equity put option including: (1)
the Company's shareholders’ equity, adjusted to exciude gocdwill, can not be less than $215 million
after recording the first triggering event; (2) the Company's debt as a percentage of total capital can not
be more than 47.5% prior to recording the triggering event; and (3) the Company's S&P financiai
strength rating can not be below "BBB" prior to a triggering event. The Company's S&P financial
strength rating was "A" at December 31, 2003.

For liability coverages, including the educator excess professional liability policy, the Company
reinsures each loss above a retention of $500,000 up to $20 million. Through December 31, 2003, the
Company aiso reinsured each property loss above a retention of $250,000 up to $2.5 million, including
catastrophe losses that in the aggregate are iess than the retention levels above. Effective January 1,
2004, the retention on the property loss coverage increased to $500,000.




The following table identifies the Company's most significant reinsurers under the traditional
catastrophe reinsurance program, their percentage participation in the Company's aggregate reinsured
catastrophe coverage and their rating by A.M. Best and Standara & Pcor's Corporation ("S&P" or
"Standard & Poor's") as of January 1, 2004. Ne other single reinsurer's percentage participation in
2004 or 2003 exceeds 5%.

Property Catastrophe Reinsurance Participants In Excess of 5%

AM. Best S&P Participation
Rating Rating Relnsurer Parent 2004 2003
A+ A+ IPCRe, Ltd. IPC Holdings, Ltd. 17% 5%
A AA- Mapfre Reinsurance Corporation Sistema MAPFRE 12% 8%
A- A Lloyd's of London Syndicates 12% *
A A- Montpelier Reinsurance Ltd. Montpelier Re Holdings, Ltd. 9% 11%
A- AA- AXA Reinsurance Company AXA Group 7% 14%
A++ AA Transatlantic Reinsurance Company American International Group, Inc. 7% *
A A Axis Specialty Limited Axis Capital Holdings, Inc. 6% 0%
A+ NR Allied World Assurance Company, Ltd. Allied World Assurance

Holdings, Ltd. 5% 5%
A+ A Erie Insurance Exchange 0% 15%
A A+ St. Paul Fire and Marine
Insurance Company The St. Paul Companies, Inc. 0% 6%
NR Not rated.

Less than 5%.

For 2004, property catastrophe reinsurers representing 100% of the Company's aggregate
reinsured catastrophe coverage were rated either "A- (Excellent)” or above by A.M. Bestor “A” or above
by S&P. »

Annuity Segment

Educators in the Company's target market benefit from the provisions of Section 403(b) of the
Internal Revenue Code. This section of the Code allows public school employees and employzes of
other {ax-exempt organizations, such as not-for-profit private schocls, to reduce their pretax income by
making periodic contributions to an individual qualified retirement plan. The Company is one of the
largest participants in the 403(b) tax-gualified annuity market, measured by 403(b) net written premium
on a statutory accounting basis. The Company has approved 403(b) payrcil reduction capabilities in
approximately one-third of the 15,000 public school districts in the U.S. Approximately 60% of the
Company's new annuity contract deposits in 2003 were for 403(b) tax-qualified annuities; approximately
75% of accumulated annuity value cn deposit is 403(b) tax-qualified. In 2003, annuities represented
31% cf the Company’s total insurance premiums written and contract deposits.

The Company markets tax-qualified annuities primarily under a contract which allows the
contracthelder to allocate funds to both fixed and variable alternatives. The features of the Company’s
annuity contract contribute to business retention. Under the fixed account option, both the principal and
a rate of return are guaranteed. Contractholders can change at any time their ailocation of deposits
between the guaranteed interest rate fixed account and available variable investment options.

The Company's 40 variable account options include funds managed by some of the best-known
names in the mutual fund industry, such as Fidelity, Strong, J.P. Morgan, Wiishire, T. Rowe Price,
Putnam, Neuberger Berman, Alliance Capital, Ranier, Davis, Credit Suisse, BlackRock, Berger,
Templeton and Ariel, offering the Company's customers multiple investment options, regardiess of their
personal investment objectives and risk iolerance. Total accumuiated fixed and variable annuity cash
value on deposit at December 31, 2003 was $2.8 billion.
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In 2003, to assist agents in delivering the Value Proposition, the Company entered into a third-
party vendor agreement with American Funds Distributors, Inc. to market their retail mutual funds. n
addition to retail mutual funds accounts, the Company’s agents can also offer a 529 college savings
program and Coverdell Education Savings Accounts through this marketing alliance.

Selected Historical Financial Information For Annuity Segment

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the Company's annuity products
for the periods indicated.
Annuity Segment

Selected Historical Financial Information
(Dollars in millions, unless otherwise indicated)

Year Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001
Statement of Operations Data:
Contract deposits:
Variable $ 1153 $ 1203 $ 1221
Fixed........... 181.3 141.2 117.0
Total 296.6 261.5 2391
Contract charges arned ..o 14.6 14.2 14.9
Net investment iNCOME ..o e e e 104.4 107.7 107.7
Net interest margin (without realized gains) ..o 33.1 39.3 39.8
Net margin (includes fees and contract charges earned) ...........ccocvoenn 49.6 55.5 57.0
Income before INCOME LAXES ..........ccoiriiiceie s 19.8 232 30.7
NEEINCOME. ...t et 14.4 17.0 206
Operating Statistics:
Fixed:
ACCUMUIBLEA VAU ....veveeviciee ettt $1,650.6 $1,506.0 $1,393.7
Accumulated value persistency .. 95.1% 94.0% 93.4%
Variable:
ACCUMUIALEA VAIUG ........cco. it e $1,119.2 $ 8545 $1,008.4
Accumulated value persistency.......c.coiiini e 92.8% 92.1% 92.4%
Number of contracts in force .............cccoceeeee ettt e 152,515 147,084 139,410
Average accumulated cash value (in dollars) ..., $ 18,161 $ 16,048 $ 17,230
Average annual deposit by contractholders (in dollars) ......c...coeviinenne $ 2303 $ 2317 $ 2,183
Annuity contracts terminated due to surrender, death, maturity or other:
NUMDEr OF COMTACES ...t e 7,019 7,180 7,222
AMOUNE .....cviii e s e e r b e s et s s st absatebecs $ 1713 $ 176.0 $ 1864
Fixed accumulated cash value grouped by applicable surrender charge:
0% ettt ettt et bt et e $ 5286 $502.1 $472.5
5% and greater but less than 10% 968.3 846.6 752.9
10% and Greater.......i i 54.3 59.6 704
Supplementary contracts with life contingencies not subject to
discretionary withdrawal..............coccoriiriconncn e 99.4 97.7 97.9
TOMAL ..ottt et e $ 1,650.6 $1,506.0 $1,393.7
Life Segment

The Company entered the individual life insurance business in 1949 with traditicnal term and
whole life insurance products. The Company's traditional term, whole life and group life business in
force consists of approximately 172,000 policies, representing approximately $7.8 billion of life
insurance in force with annual insurance premiums and contract deposits of approximately $42.0 million
as of December 31, 2003. The Company also underwrites "Experience Life," a flexible, adjustable
premium life insurance contract which allows the customer {o combine elements of term life insurance,
interest-sensitive whele life insurance and an interest-bearing account. At December 31, 2003 the
Company had in force approximately 86,000 Experience Life policies representing approximately $5.7
billion of life insurance in force with annual insurance premiums and contract deposits of approximately
$66.7 millien. In 2000, the Company instituted a program tc offer long-term care and variable universal
life policies, with two third-party vendors underwriting such insurance. In 2003, the Company expanded
its third-party vendor offerings with the addition of universal life insurance underwritien by Jefferson
Pilot Financial. On business underwritten by third-party vendors, the Company receives a commission
on the sale of that business. In 2003, the life segment represented 12% of the Company’s total
insurance premiums written and contract deposits, including approximately 1 percentage point
attributable to the Company's group life and group disability income business.
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During 2003, the average face amount of ordinary life insurance policies issued by the Company
was $138,224 and the average face amount of all ordinary life insurance policies in force at December
31, 2003 was $61,467.

The maximum individual life insurance risk retained by the Company is $200,000 on any
individual life and $100,000 or $125,000 is retained on each group life policy depending on the type of
coverage. The excess of the amounts retained are reinsured with life reinsurers that are ali rated "A-
(Excellent)” or above by A.M. Best. The Company alsc maintains a life catastrophe reinsurance
program. The Company reinsured 100% of the catastrophe risk in excess of $1 million up to $20 million
per occurrence through December 31, 2003 and in excess of $1 million up to $15 million per
occurrence effective January 1, 2004. This program covers acts of terrorism but excludes nuclear,
biological and chemical explosions as well as other acts of war.

Selected Historical Financial Information For Life Segment

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the Company's life products for
the pericds indicated.

Life Segment

Selected Historical Financial Information
{Dollars in millions, unless otherwise indicated)

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Statement of Operations Data:
Insurance premiums and contract depositS...............ccevrveeerierrivonecennnnn $ 1124 $ 1129 $ 1172
insurance premiums and contract charges earned . . 95.1 914 92.0
Net investment inCOMe ...t iicrriennne .. 43.6 539 55.2
Income before income taxes ... cevreer s 208 29.2 289
NEEINCOME. ... et sa e ebysta e 13.4 18.9 18.7
Cperating Statistics:
Life insurance in force:
OrdiNary life ......oovioeiiiiite et $ 11,527 $ 11,445 $ 11,291
Group life 1,736 1,752 1,925
TOtAL .ot 13,263 13,197 13,216
Number of policies in force:
OrdiNANY I ... ittt st e a e 187,533 189,459 193,560
Group life 70,725 75,018 80,507
TOAL .t ettt e arnn 258,258 264,477 274,067
Average face amount in force (in dollars):
OrdiNANY 8 ..ottt $ 61,467 $ 60,409 $ 58,333
Group life 24,546 23,354 23,911
TOtAl oo e 51,356 49,898 48,222
Lapse ratio (ordinary life insurance in force) 7.7% 9.1% 9.1%
Ordinary life insurance terminated due to death, surrender, lapse
or other:
Face amount of insurance surrendered or 1apsed............ccoo oo $ 9326 $ 959.0 $ 9440
Number of poliCies..........ccocovrieieiiiii e 7,466 10,799 11,865
Amount of death claims opened $ 320 $ 310 $ 301
Number of death claims opened 1,292 1,263 1,317

Investments

The Company's investments are selected o balance the objectives of protecting principal,
minimizing exposure to interest rate risk and providing a high current vield. These objectives are
implemented through a porifolio that emphasizes investment grade, publicly traded fixed income
securities. When impairment of the value of an investment is considered other than temporary, the
decrease in value is recorded and a new cost basis is established. At December 31, 2003, investments
in non-investment grade securities represented 5.3% of total investments. At December 31, 2003, fixed
income securities represented 86.9% of investments excluding securities lending collateral. Of the
fixed income investment porifclic, 94.1% was investment grade and 99.8% was publicly traded. The
average quality of the total fixed income portfolic was A+ at December 31, 2003, and the average
option adjusted duration of total investments was 6.0 years. There are no significant investments in
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mortgage loans, real estate, foreign securities, privately placed securities, or common or preferred
stocks.

The Company has separate investment sirategies and guidelines for its property and casuaity
assets and for its life and annuity assets, which recognize different characteristics of the associated
insurance liabilities, as well as different tax and regulatory environments. The Company manages
interest rate exposure for its portfolios through asset/liability management technigques which attempt tc
coordinate the duration of the assets with the duration of the insurance policy liabilities. Duration of
assets and liabilities will generally differ only because of opportunities to significantly increase yields or
because policy values are not interest-sensitive, as is the case in the property and casualty segment.

The investments of each insurance subsidiary must comply with the insurance laws of such
insurance subsidiary's domiciliary state. These laws prescribe the type and amount of investments that
may be purchased and held by insurance companies. In general, these laws permit investments, within
specified limits and subject to certain qualifications, in federal, state and municipal obligations,
corporate bonds, mortgage-backed bonds, other asset-backed bonds, preferred stocks, common
stocks, real estate morigages and real estate.

The following table sets forth the carrying values and amortized cost of the Company's
investment portfolio as of December 31, 2003:

Investment Portfolio
(Dollars in millions)

Percentage
of Total Carrying Value
Carrying Life and Property and Amortized
Value Total Annuity Casualty Cost
Publicly Traded Fixed Maturity Securities
and Cash Equivalents:
U.S. government and agency obligations (1):
Mortgage-backed securities.........c....ooooovveeeneen. 19.5% $ 660.1 $ 6466 $ 135 $ 647.7
Other ..t 8.9 300.9 248.3 52.6 2956
Investment grade corporate and public
utility BONAS ..o s 43.3 1,466.6 1,415.4 51.2 1,380.5
Municipal bonds..........ccccoveviennn. . 14.9 502.9 53.2 449.7 488.1
Other mortgage-backed securities ............c...cconeeen. 32 109.9 87.8 221 106.0
Non-investment grade corporate and
utility bonds (2).........ccoeveeenn 5.3 178.2 1247 56.5 169.9
Foreign government bonds 1.1 36.2 36.2 - 33.1
Short-term investments (3) 07 253 9.0 16.3 25.3
Short-term investments, loaned
securities collateral (3) ... 06 22.1 22.1 - 22.1
Total publicly traded securities ......................... 97.5 3,302.2 2640.3 661.9 3,168.3
Other Investments:
Private placements, investment grade (4)..........c...c...... 0.1 38 37 0.1 3.8
Private placements,
non-investment grade (2) (4).......ccoocvrrecniiieceen - 0.1 0.1 - 0.1
Mortgage loans and real estate (5) 0.2 46 4.6 - 46
Policy loans and other..................... 22 75.0 74.0 1.0 74.4
Total other investments ..... 25 83.5 82.4 i1 829
Total iINvestments (6)......c...ccocoveevvinicerrereerncae 100.0% $3.3857 $2.722.7 $663.0 $3,251.2

{1) Includes $302.0 million fair value of investments guaranteed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. government and $659.0 million fair value of federally
sponsored agency securities.

(2) A non-investment grade rating is assigned to a security when it is acquired, primarily on the basis of the Standard & Poor's Corporation (“Standard &
Poor's” or "S&P") rating for such security, or if there is no S&P rating, the Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. ("Moody's") rating for such security, or if there is
no S&P or Moody's rating, the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (the "NAIC") rating for such security. The rating agencies monitor
securities, and their issuers, regularly and make changes to the ratings as necessary. The Company incorporates rating changes on a monthly basis.

(3) Short-term investments mature within one year of being acquired and are carried at cost, which approximates fair value. Short-term investments include
$25.4 million in money market funds rated "AAA", $21.9 million in an asset-backed short-term bond rated "AAA”, and $0.1 million in certificates of deposit.
The Company loans fixed income securities to third parties, primarily major brokerage firms. The Company separately maintains a minimum of 100% of
the value of the loaned securities as collatera! for each loan.

(4) Fair values for private placements are estimated by the Company with the assistance of its investment advisors.

(5) Mortgage loans are carried at amortized cost or unpaid principal balance and real estate acquired in the seitlement of debt is carried at the lower of cost or
fair value.

(6) Approximately 9% of the Company’s investment portfolio, having a carrying value of $288.9 million as of December 31, 2003, consisted of securities with
some form of credit support, such as insurance. All of these securities have the highest investment grade rating.
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Fixed Maturity Securities

The fellowing table sets forth the composition of the Company's fixed maturity securities portfolio
by rating as of December 31, 2003:

Rating of Fixed Maturity Securities (1)

(Dollars in millions)

Percent
of Total
Carrying Carrying Amortized
Value Value Cost
AAA e e et an ettt et 44.6% $1,455.1 $1,422.7
AA et a e bttt e eh e e ane e na e he e e ra e 7.7 249.5 240.8
A e etk b bR et eere ke ean e Rt 232 7574 710.6
BB ... e e s b et bt r et et easaae s 18.6 605.3 567.5
BB 2.0 64.8 63.0
B 3.2 104.8 1011
CCC or lower ... 06 18.0 15.4
Not rated (2)..... 0.1 3.8 3.8
TOMAL ..ttt b e 100.0% $3.258.7 $3.1249

(1) Ratings are as assigned primarily by S&P when available, with remaining ratings as assigned on an equivalent basis by Moody's. Ratings for publicly
traded securities are determined when the securities are acquired and are updated monthly to reflect any changes in ratings.

(2) This category includes $3.8 million of private placement securities not rated by either S&P or Moody's. The NAIC has rated 97.1% of these private
placement securities as investment grade.

At December 31, 2003, 28.3% of the Company's fixed maturity securities portfclic was expected
to mature within the next 5 years. Mortgage-backed securities, including mortgage-backed securities of
U.S. governmental agencies, represented 22.7% of the total investment portfolio at December 31, 2003.
These securities typically have average lives shorter than their stated maturities due tc unscheduled
prepayments on the underlying morigages. Mortgages are prepaid for a variety of reasens, including
sales of existing homes, interest rate changes over time that encourage homeowners {o refinance their
morigages and defaults by homeowners on morigages that are then paid by guaranters.

For financial reporting purposes, the Company has classified the entire fixed maturity portfolic as
"available for sale”. Fixed maturities to be held for indefinite pericds of time and not intended to be held
to maturity are classified as available for sale and carried at fair value. The net adjustment for
unrealized gains and losses on securities available for sale is recorded as a separate component of
shareholders’ equity, net of applicable deferred tax asset or liability and the related impact on deferred
policy acquisition costs and value of acquired insurance in force asscciated with interest-sensitive life
and annuity contracts. Fixed maturities held for indefinite pericds of time include securities that
management intends (o use as part of its assevliability management strategy and that may be sold in
response to changes in interest rates, resultant prepayment risk and cther related factors.

Cash Flow

As a holding company, HMEC conducts its principal operations through its subsidiaries. Payment
by HMEC of principal and interest with respect tc HMEC's indebtedness, and payment by HMEC of
dividends to its shareholders, are dependent upen the ability of its insurance subsidiaries tc pay cash
dividends or make other cash payments to HMEC, including tax payments pursuant to tax sharing
agreements. Restrictions on the subsidiaries’ ability to pay dividends cr to make other cash payments
to HMEC may materially affect HMEC's ability to pay principal and interest on its indebtedness and
dividends on its common stock.
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The ability of the insurance subsidiaries tc pay cash dividends to HMEC is subject to state
insurance department regulations which generally permit dividends to be paid for any 12 month period
in amounts equal to the greater of (i) net gain from operations in the case of a life insurance company or
net income in the case of all other insurance companies for the preceding calendar year or (i) 10% of
surpius as of the preceding December 31st. Any dividend in excess of these levels requires the prior
approval of the Director or Commissioner of the state insurance department of the state in which the
dividend paying insurance subsidiary is domiciled. The aggregate amount of dividends that may be
paid in 2004 from all of HMEC's insurance subsidiaries without prior reguiatory approval is
approximately $43 million.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if insurance reguiators otherwise determine that payment of a
dividend or any other payment o an affiliate would be detrimental tc an insurance subsidiary's
policyholders or creditors, because of the financial condition of the insurance subsidiary or otherwise,
the regulators may biock dividends or other payments to affiliates that would otherwise be permitted
without pricr approval.

Competition

The Company operates in a highly competitive environment. The insurance industry consists of a
large number of insurance companies, some of which have substantially greater financial resources,
more diversified product lines, and lower cost marketing approaches compared to the Company, such
as direct marketing, mail, internet and telemarketing. The Company competes in its target market with
a number of national providers of personal automaobile and homeowners insurance and life insurance
such as State Farm, Allstate, Farmers and Nationwide as well as several regional companies. The
Company also competes for automobile business with other companies, such as AlG, GEICO,
Progressive and USAA, many of which feature direct marketing distribution. For annuity business, the
marketpiace has seen a competitive impact from new entrants such as mutual funds and banks into the
tax-deferred annuity products market. Among the major national providers of annuities to educators,
Variable Annuity Life Insurance Company, a subsidiary of American International Group ("AlG"), has
been among the Company's major tax-qualified annuity competitors. Mutual fund families, independent
agent companies and financial planners are aiso competitors of the Company.

Regulation
General Regulation at Slate Level

As an insurance holding company, HMEC is subject to extensive reguiation by the states in which
its insurance subsidiaries are domiciled or transact business. In addition, the laws of the various states
establish regulatory agencies with broad administrative powers to grant and revoke licenses to transact
business, regulate trade practices, license agents, require statutory financial statements, and prescribe
the type and amount of investments permitted.

The NAIC has adopted risk-based capital guidelines to evaluate the adequacy of statutory capital
and surplus in relation to an insurance company's risks. State insurance regulations prohibit insurance
companies from making any public statements or representations with regard to their risk-based capital
levels. Based on current guidelings, the risk-based capital statutory requirements are not expected to
have a negative regulatory impact on the Company’s insurance subsidiaries.




Assessments Against insurers

Under insurance insolvency or guaranty laws in most states in which the Company cperates,
insurers doing business therein can be assessed for policyhoider losses related to insolvencies of other
insurance companies. The amount and timing of any future assessments cn the Company under these
laws cannct be reascnably estimated and are beyond the control of the Company. Most of these laws
do provide, however, that an assessment may be excused or deferred if it would threaten an insurer's
financial strength, and many assessments paid by the Company pursuant to these laws may be used as
credits for a portion of the Company's premium taxes in certain states. For the three years ended
December 31, 2003, the Company’'s assessments, net of the related premium tax credits, were not
significant.

Mandatory Insurance Facilities

The Company is reguired to participate in various mandatory insurance facilities in proportion to
the amount of the Company’s direct writings in the applicable state. [n 2003, the Company reflected a
net loss from participation in such mandatory pools and underwriting associations of $1.6 million before
federal income taxes.

California Earthquake Authority

The California Earthquake Authority ("CEA") was formed by the California Legislature to
encourage companies to write residential property insurance in California and began operating in
December 1986. All companies which write residential property insurance in California are also
required to offer earthquake coverage. The CEA operates as an insurance company providing
residential property earthquake coverage under policies sold by companies which have chosen fo
participate in the CEA. The participating companies fund the CEA and share in earthguake losses
covered by the CEA in proportion to their market share.

The Company has not joined the CEA. The Company's exposure to losses from earthquakes is
managed through its underwriting standards, its earthquake policy coverage limits and deductible
levels, and the geographic distribution of its business, as well as its reinsurance program. After
reviewing the exposure tc earthquake losses from its own policies and from participation in the CEA,
management believes it is in the Company’'s best economic interest to offer earthquake coverage
directly to its homeowners policyholders. See "Property and Casualty Segment -- Property and
Casualty Reinsurance.”

Regulation at Federal Level

Althcugh the federal government generally does not directly regulate the insurance industry,
federal initiatives often impact the insurance business. Current and proposed federal measures which
may significantly affect insurance and annuity business include employee benefits regulation, controls
on the costs of medical care, medical entitlement programs such as Medicare, structure of retirement
plans and accounts, changes to the insurance industry anti-trust exemption, minimum solvency
requirements and ailowing national banks to engage in the insurance, annuity and mutual fund
businesses. With the passage of the Financial Services Modernization Act of 1988, it is possible there
will be increased pressure for federal regulation of the insurance industry.
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Federal income taxation of the build-up of cash value within a life insurance policy or an annuity
contract could have a materially adverse impact on the Company's ability to market and sell such
products. Various legislation to this effect has been proposed in the past, but has not been enacted.
Although no such legislative proposals are known tc exist at this time, such proposals may be made
again in the future. Changes in other federal and state laws and regulations could also affect the
relative tax and other advantages of the Company’s life and annuity products to customers.

The variable annuities underwritten by HMLIC and the Company's proprietary mutual funds
offered as investment vehicles for those products are regulated by the SEC. Horace Mann investors,
Inc., the broker-dealer subsidiary of HMEC, performs certain management functions for the Company's
proprietary mutual funds and also is regulated by the SEC and the NASD.

Employees

At December 31, 2003, the Company had approximately 2,500 employees, including 888 full-time
agents. The Company has no collective bargaining agreement with any employees.

[TEM 2. Properties

HMEC's home office property at 1 Horace Mann Plaza in Springfield, lllinois, consists of an office
building totaling approximately 230,000 square feet which is owned by the Company. The Company
also owns buildings with an aggregate of approximately 24,000 square feet at other locations in
Springfield. The Company leases buildings in Springfield with an aggregate of approximately 87,000
square feet. In addition, the Company leases office space in other states related to claims and agency
offices which are smaller in size. These properties are adequate and suitable for the Company's
current and antficipated future needs.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings
The Company is not currently party to any material pending legal proceedings cther than routine
litigation incidental to its business. See also "Note 12 - Contingencies - Lawsuits and Legal

Proceedings” contained in the Index to Financial Information on page F-1 herein.

ITEM 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.




PART I
ITEM 5. Market for Registrant’s Commaon Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

HMEC's common stock began trading on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") in November
1991 under the symbol of HMN at a price of $9 per share. The following table sets forth the high and
low sales prices of the common stock on the NYSE Composite Tape and the cash dividends paid per
share of common stock during the periods indicated.

Market Price Dividend

Fiscal Period High Low Paid
2003:

FOUMN QUAIET «.....ooeeeeeeee oo sees e $15.39 $12.81 $0.105

THIFG QUEIET .......cooeoee oo e 16.95 14.22 0.105

SECONG QUAMET ..ottt eeere e 16.91 13.06 0.105

FIrSt QUEMET ...coeeoeeeeeeeee e 16.35 12.43 0.105"
2002:

FOUMN QURIMET co.oooeoeeeee et saesoseeesssease st $16.49 $13.61 $0.105

THIPA QUATTET ... e eer et 18.86 14.00 0.105

SECONG QUEAMET ....cceeeeeeeeee et er s 24.08 47.45 0.105

FIrst QUAMET ...t 23.00 19.35 0.105

As of February 27, 2004, the approximate number of holders of common stock was 5,000.

In March 2004, the Company's Board of Directors announced a regular quarterly dividend of
$0.105 per share. The payment of dividends in the future is subject to the discretion of the Board of
Directors and will depend upon general business conditicns, iegal restrictions and cther factors the
Board of Directors of HMEC may deem to be relevant.

On December 10, 2002 the Company repurchased $58.0 million aggregate principal amount of its
Senior Convertible Notes, representing $26.6 millicn carrying vaiue, for $26.0 million. As consideration
for the repurchase, the Company issued 1,837,925 shares of its common steck.

During 2003, no opticns were exercised for the issuance of shares of the Company's common
stock.

The infermation required by ltem 201(d) of Reguiaticn S-K is incorporated by reference to the
Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2004 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

[TEWM 6. Selected Financial Data

The information required by ltem 301 of Regulation S-K is contained in the table in ltem 1 --
“Business -- Seiected Historical Consolidated Financial Data.”

ITEM 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditicn and Results of
Cperations

The information required by Item 303 of Regulation S-K is contained in the Index to Financial
Information on page F-1 herein.

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
The information required by ltem 305 of Regulation S-K is contained in “Management's

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” contained in the Index to
Financial information on page F-1 herein.
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ITEM 8. Consolidated Financial Sﬁatem@ms and Supplementary Data

The Company's consolidated financial statements, the repoit of its independent accountants and
the selected quarterly financial data required by item 302 of Regulation S-K are contained in the Index
to Financial Information on page F-1 herein.

ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial
Disclosure

None.
ITEM 9A: Controls and Procedures

The Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the
Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of
the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures as of
December 31, 2003 pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 132-15 and 15d-15. Based upon that evaluation, the
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures are effective in timely alerting them to material information relating to the Company (including its
consolidated subsidiaries) required {o be included in the Company's periodic Securities and Exchange
Commission filings. No significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in the Company’s disclosure
controls and procedures were identified in the evaluation and therefore, no corrective actions were taken.
There were no significant changes in the Company’s internal controls or in other factors that could
significantly affect these controls subsequent to the date of their evaluation.

PART
ITEM 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information required by [tems 401 and 4C5 of Regulation S-K is incorporated by reference to
the Company's Proxy Statement for the 2004 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

Horace Mann Educators Corporation has adopted a code of ethics that applies to its principal
executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer and all other employees of the
Company. in addition, the Board of Directors of Horace Mann Educators Corporation has adopted the
code of ethics for its Board members as it applies tc each Board members’ business conduct on behalf
of the Company. The code of ethics is posted on the Company’s website, www.horacemann.com,
under “Investor Relations -- Corporate Governance”. -

ITEM 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by liem 402 of Regulation S-K is incorporated by reference to the
Company's Proxy Statement for the 2004 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The information required by ltems 201(d) and 403 of Regulation S-K is incorporated by reference
to the Company's Proxy Statement for the 2004 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

[TEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by ltem 404 of Regulation S-K is incorporated by reference to the
Company's Proxy Statement for the 2004 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.
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ITEM 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by item 9(e) of Schedule 14A is incorporated by reference to the
Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2004 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

PART IV
ITEM 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K

(a){(1) The following consolidated financial statements of the Company are contzined in the
Index to Financial Information on Page F-1 herein:

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2003 and 2002.

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002
and 2001.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity for the Years Ended
Decemper 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001.

Consolidated Statements cf Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002
and 2001.

(a}2) The following consolidated financial statement schedules of the Company are contained
in the Index to Financial Information on page F-1 herein:

Scheduie | - Summary of Investments - Cther than Investments in Related Parties.
Schedule Il - Condensed Financial Information of Registrant.

Scheduies (Il and VI Combined - Supplementary Insurance Information and
Supplemental Information Concerning Property and Casualty Insurance Operations.

Scheduie IV - Reinsurance.

(@)(3) The following items are filed as Exhibits. Management contracts and compensatory
plans are indicated by an asterisk (*).

Exhibit
No. Description

(3) Articles of incorporation and bylaws:

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of HMEC, filed with the Delaware Secretary of
State on June 24, 2003, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to HMEC's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003, filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on August 14, 2003.

3.2 Form of Certificate for shares of Common Stock, $0.001 par value per share, of
HMEC, incorporated by reference tc Exhibit 4.5 to HMEC's Registration Statement on
Form S-3 (Registration No. 33-53118) filed with the SEC on October 9, 1992.
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Exhibit
No.

3.3

Descrigtion

Bylaws of HMEC, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to HMEC's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003, filed with the SEC on
August 14, 2003.

(4) Instruments defining the rights of security holders, including indentures:

4.1

4.1(a)

4.2

4.2(a)

4.3

Indenture dated as of January 17, 1896, between HMEC and U.S. Trust Company of
California, N.A. as trustee, with regard to HMEC's 6 5/8% Senior Notes Due 2008,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to HMEC's Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 1995, filed with the SEC on March 13, 1996.

Form of 6 5/8% Senior Notes Due 2006 (included in Exhibit 4.1).

indenture dated as of May 14, 2002, between HMEC and JPMorgan Chase Bank as
trustee, with regard to HMEC's 1.425% Senior Convertible Notes Due 2032,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to HMEC's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended June 30, 2002, filed with the SEC on August 14, 2002.

Form of 1.425% Senior Convertibie Notes Due 2032 (included in Exhibit 4.2).

Certificate of Designations for HMEC Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred
Stock (included in Exhibit 10.14).

(10) Material contracts:

10.1

10.2%

10.3°

10.4*

10.57

Credit Agreement dated as of May 28, 2002 (the "Bank Credit Facility”) among HMEC,
certain financial institutions named therein and Bank of America, N.A, as
adminisirative agent (the "Agent”), incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
HMEC's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002, filed
with the SEC on August 14, 2002.

Stock Subscription Agreement among HMEC (as successor to HME Holdings, Inc.),
The Fulcrum il Limited Partnership, The Second Fulcrum lli Limited Partnership and
each of the Management Investors, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to
HMEC's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the vear ended December 31, 1289, filed
with the SEC on April 2, 1820.

Horace Mann Educators Corporation Deferred Eaquity Compensation Plan for
Directors, incarporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to HMEC's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1996, filed with the SEC on
November 14, 1996.

Herace Mann Educators Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan for Employees,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to HMEC's Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 1897, filed with the SEC on March 30, 1998.

Amended and Restated Horace Mann Educators Corporation 1981 Stock Incentive
Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to HMEC's Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the year ended December 31, 188, filed with the SEC on March 30, 2000.
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Exhibit
No.

10.5(a)"*

10.5(b)*

10.5(c)*

10.6”

10.6(a)"

10.6(b)*

10.7%

10.7(a)*

10.7(b)*

10.7(c)*

Description

Amendment to Amended and Restated Horace Mann Educators Corporation 1991
Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(a) to HMEC's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000, filed with the
SEC on August 11, 2000.

Specimen Employee Stock Option Agreement under the Horace Mann Educators
Corporation 1991 Stock Incentive Plan, incerporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5(a) to
HMEC's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999, filed
with the SEC en March 30, 2000.

Specimen Director Stock Option Agreement under the Horace Mann Educators
Corporation 1881 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5(b) tc
HMEC's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998, filed
with the SEC on March 30, 2000.

Horace Mann Educators Corporation 2001 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to HMEC's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2001, filed with the SEC on March 29, 2002.

Specimen Employee Stock Cption Agreement under the Horace Mann Educators
Corporation 2001 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6(a) to
HMEC's Annual Repert on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, filed
with the SEC on March 29, 2002.

Specimen Director Stock Option Agreement under the Horace Mann Educators
Caorporation 2001 Steck Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference te Exhibit 10.6(b) to
HMEC's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, filed
with the SEC on March 28, 2002.

Horace Mann Educators Corporation 2002 Incentive Compensation Plan,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to HMEC's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended June 30, 2002, filed with the SEC on August 14, 2002.

Specimen Employee Stock Option Agreement under the Horace Mann Educators
Corporation 2002 Incentive Compensaticn Plan, incorporated by reference io Exhibit
10.2(a) to HMEC's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2002, filed with the SEC on August 14, 2002.

Specimen Regular Empioyee Stock Option Agreement under the Horace Mann
Educators Corporation 2002 Incentive Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.2(b) to HMEC's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2002, filed with the SEC on August 14, 2002.

Specimen Director Stock Option Agreement under the Horace Mann Educators
Corporation 2002 Incentive Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.2(c) to HMEC's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2002, filed with the SEC on August 14, 2002.
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10.8”

10.8(a)*

10.9

10.10%

10117

10.12*

10.13*

10.14

Description

Severance Agreements between HMEC and certain officers of HMEC, incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to HMEC's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2001, filed with the SEC con March 29, 2002.

Revised Schedule to Severance Agreements between HMEC and certain officers of
HMEC.

Horace Mann Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan, 2002 Restatement,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to HMEC's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended March 31, 2002, filed with the SEC cn May 15, 2002.

Horace Mann Executive Supplemental Empioyee Retirement Plan, 2002
Restatement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 tc HMEC's Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2002, filed with the SEC on May 15,
2002.

Horace Mann Nongualified Suppiemental Money Purchase Pension Plan,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to HMEC's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the Quarter Ended March 31, 2002, filed with the SEC on May 15, 2002.

Employment Agreement entered by and between HMEC and Louis G. Lower [} as of
December 31, 19989, incerporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to HMEC's Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999, filed with the SEC on
March 3C, 2000.

Transition, Retirement and Release Agreement entered by and between Horace
Mann Service Corporaticn and George J. Zock as of December 31, 2003.

First Amended and Restated Catastrophe Equity Securities [ssuance Option and
Reinsurance Option Agreement entered by and between HMEC, Swiss Re Financial
Products Corporation (Option Writer) and Swiss Reinsurance America Corporation
{Reinsurance Option Writer), dated May 7, 2002, incerporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 tc HMEC's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,
2002, filed with the SEC on November 14, 2002.

(11) Statement regarding computation of per share earnings.

(12) Statement regarding computation of ratios.

(21) Subsidiaries of HMEC.

(23) Consent of KPMG LLP.

(31) Cerlification pursuant to¢ Section 302 of the Sarbanes-COxley Act of 2002,

31.1

31.2

Certification by Louis G. Lower [l, Chief Executive Officer of HMEC.

Certification by Peter H. Heckman, Chief Financial Officer of HMEC.




(32) Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1 Certification by Louis G. Lower [I, Chief Executive Officer of HMEC.
32.2 Certification by Peter H. Heckman, Chief Financial Officer of HMEC.

(b) During the fourth guarter of 2003, HMEC filed seven Current Reports on Form 8-K with
the SEC as follows:

1. Dated October 27, 2003, regarding the Company's press release regarding guidance
on financial results for the year ended December 31, 2003 and related October 28,
2003 Conference Call Prepared Remarks, containing an ltem 9 Regulaticn FD
Disclosure and an item 7 Financial Statements and Exhibits.

2. Dated October 30, 2003, regarding the Company’s press release reporting its
financial results for the three and nine month periocds ended September 30, 2003,
containing an ltem 12 Disclosure of Results of Operations and Financial Condition
and an [tem 7 Financiai Statements and Exhibits.

3. Dated November 14, 2003, regarding a press release issued by A.M. Best Company
regarding the financial strength and debt ratings of HMEC, containing an ltem 5
Other Events and Regulaticn FD Disclosure and an ltem 7 Financial Statements and
Exhibits.

4. Dated December 2, 2003, regarding a press release issued by Mcody’s Investors
Service, Inc., regarding the insurance financial strength and senior debt ratings of
HMEC, containing an liem 5 Cther Events and Regulation FD Disclosure and an item
7 Financial Statements and Exhibits.

5. Dated December 8, 2003, regarding the Company’'s press release regarding
guidance on financial resuiis for the year ended December 31, 2003, containing an
ltem 9 Regulation FD Disclosure and an ltem 7 Financial Statements and Exhibits.

6. Dated December 17, 2003, regarding a press release issued by Standard & Poor's
Ratings Services regarding the insurance financial strength and senior debt ratings
of HMEC, containing an ltem 5 Other Events and Reguiaticn FD Disclosure and an
Item 7 Financial Statements and Exhibits.

7. Dated December 19, 2003, regarding a press release issued by A.M. Best Company
regarding (1) the assignment of indicative ratings of securities of HMEC’s $300C
million universal shelf offering filed with the SEC on December 16, 2003 and (2)
affirmation of HMEC's financial strength ratings and ratings for outstanding debt,
containing an ltem 5 Cther Events and Regulation FD Disclosure and an ltem 7
Financial Statements and Exhibits.

(c) See list of exhibits in this ltem 15.
(d) See list of financial statement schedules in this ltem 15.

Copies of Exhibits and Horace Mann Educaters Corporation’s Code of Ethics may be obtained by
writing to Investor Relations, Horace Mann Educaters Corporation, 1 Horace Mann Plaza,
Springfield, lllinois 62715-0001. Persons requesting copies may be charged a reasonable fee tc
cover reproduction and mailing expenses.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

Forward-looking Information

Statements made in the following discussicn that state the Company’s or management's
intentions, hopes, beliefs, expectations or predictions of future events or the Company's future
financial performance are forward-locking statements and involve known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other factors. [t is important tc note that the Company's actual results could
differ materially from those projected in such forward-looking statements due to, among other
risks and uncertainties inherent in the Company's business, the following important factors:

Changes in the composition of the Company's assets and liabilities.

o Fluctuations in the market value of securities in the Company's investment portfolic and
the related after-tax effect on the Company's shareholders’ equity and total capitai
through either realized or unrealized investment losses. [In addition, the impact of
fluctuations in the financial markets on the Company's defined benefit pension plan
assefs and the related afier-tax effect on the Company's operating expenses,
sharehclders’ equity and total capital.

o Prevailing interest rate levels, including the impact of interest rates on (i) unrealized
gains and losses in the Company's investment portfolic and the related after-tax effect
on the Company's shareholders’ equity and total capital, (i) the book vield of the
Company's investment portfolic and (iii) the Company's ability to maintain appropriate
interest rate spreads over the fixed rates guaranteed in the Company's life and annuity
preducts.

o Defaults on interest or dividend payments in the Company's investment portfolio due to
credit issues and the resulting impact on investment income.

o The impact of fluctuations in the capital markets on the Company's ability to refinance
outstanding indebtedness or repurchase shares of the Company’'s common stock.

o The frequency and severity of catastrophes such as hurricanes, earthquakes, storms
and wildfires, the ability of the Company tc maintain a favorable catastrophe
reinsurance pregram and the collectibility of reinsurance receivables.

o Adverse development of property and casuasity loss experience and its impact on
estimated claims and claim settlement expenses for losses occurring in prior years.

The cyclicality of the insurance industry.
Business risks inherent in the Company's restructuring of its property and casualty
claims operation.

o The risk related to the Company's dated and complex information systems, which are
more prone to error than advanced technology systems.

o Disruptions of the general business climate, investments, capital markets and consumer
attitudes caused by geopolitical acts such as terrorism, war cr other similar events.

o The impact of a disaster or catastrophic event affecting the Company's employees or its
home office facilities and the Company's ability (o recover and resume its business
operations cn a timely basis.
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o The Company's ability to develop and expand its agent force and its direct product
distribution systems, as well as the Company's ability to maintain and secure product
sponsorships by local, state and national education associations.

o The competitive impact of new entrants such as mutual funds and banks into the tax-
deferred annuity products markets, and the Company's ability to profitably expand its
property and casualty business in highly competitive environments.

o Changes in insurance regulations, including (i) those affecting the ability of the
Company's insurance subsidiaries to distribute cash to the holding company and (ii)
those impacting the Company's ability to profitably write property and casualty
insurance policies in one or more states.

o Changes in federal income tax laws and changes resulting from federal tax audits
affecting corporate tax rates or taxabie income.

o Changes in federal and state laws and reguiations which affect the relative tax and
other advantages of the Company’s life and annuity products to customers.

o The impact of fluctuations in the financial markets on the Company's variable annuity
fee revenues, vaiuations of deferred policy acquisition costs and value of acquired
insurance in force, and the level of guaranteed minimum death benefit reserves.

o The Company's ability to maintain favorable claims-paying ability, financial strength and
debt ratings.

o Adverse changes in policyholder mortality and morbidity rates.

o The resolution of legal proceedings and related matters.

Executive Summary

During 2001, 2002 and 2003, the Company improved the underiying operating results of
its property and casualty segment and substantially increased the new sales volume and
retention of business in its annuity segment. However, that underlying operating progress was
more than offset by other factors which suppressed the Company's net income. In ali three
years, the Company recorded adverse development of prior years’ property and casualty
reserves, primarily refated to voluntary automobile liability claims, with 2003 reflecting the most
significant impact. 2003's results alsc reflected a record level of catastrophe losses for the
Company. In addition, the Company experienced declining investment income, including
related spread compression in its fixed annuity business, over the three years as a resuit of
credit-related investment losses and declining investment yields. In 2002, the Company
recorded a significant level of realized investment losses, due primarily to impairments of fixed
income securities.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP") requires the Company's management to
make estimates and assumptions based on information available at the time the financial
statements are prepared. These estimates and assumpticns affect the reported amounts of
the Company's assets, ligbilities, shareholders’ equity and net income. Certain accounting
estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the Company's financial
statements and because of the possibility that subsequent events and available information
may differ markedly from management's judgements at the time the financial statements were
prepared. Management has discussed with the Audit Committee the quality, not just the
acceptability, of the Company's accounting principles as applied in its financial reporting. The
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discussions generally included such matters as the consistency of the Company's accounting
policies and their application, and the clarity and completeness of the Company’s financial
statements, which include related disclosures. For the Company, the areas most subject to
significant management judgements include: liabilities for property and casualty claims and
claim settlement expenses, liabilities for future policy benefits, deferred policy acquisition
costs, value of acquired insurance in force, valuation of investments and valuation of assets
and liabilities related to the defined benefit pension plan.

Liabilities for Property and Casualty Claims and Claim Settlement Expenses

Underwriting results of the property and casualty segment are significantly influenced by
estimates of the Company's ultimate liability for insured events. There is a high degree of
uncertainty inherent in the estimates of ultimate locsses underlying the liability for unpaid claims
and claim expenses. This inherent uncertainty is particularly significant for liability-related
exposures due to the extended pericd, often many years, that transpires between a loss event,
receipt of related claims data from policyholders and ultimate selllement of the claim.
Reserves for property and casualty claims include provisions for payments to be made on
reported claims, claims incurred but not yet reported and associated settlement expenses.
The process by which these reserves are established requires reliance upon estimates based
on known facts and on interpretations of circumstances, including the Company's experience
with similar cases and historical {rends involving claim payment patterns, claim payments,
pending levels of unpaid claims and product mix, as well as other factors including court
decisions, economic conditions and public attitudes.

The Company continually updates loss estimates using both quantitative information
from its reserving actuaries and gualitative information derived from other sources.
Adjustments may be required as informaticn develcps which varies from experience, or, in
some cases, augments data which previously were nct considered sufficient for use in
determining liabilities. The effects of these adjusiments may be significant and are charged or
credited to income for the period in which the adjustments are made. Detailed discussion of
the impact of adjustments recorded during 2003 is included in “Results of Operations for the
Three Years Ended December 31, 2003 -- Benefits, Claims and Settlement Expenses.” Due to
the nature of the Company’'s personal lines business, the Company has no exposure to claims
for toxic waste cleanup, other envircnmental remediation or asbestos-related ilinesses other
than claims under homeowners insurance policies for environmentally related items such as
toxic meld.

The Company completes a detailed study of preperty and casualty reserves based on
information available at the end of each quarter and year. Trends of reported losses (paid
amounts and case reserves on claims reported tc the Company) for each accident year are
reviewed and ultimate loss costs for those accident years are estimated. - The Company
engages an independent property and casualty actuarial consulting firm o prepare an
independent study of the Company's property and casuaity reserves twice a year - at June 30
and December 31.
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Reserves for Future Policy Benefits

Liabilities for future benefits on life and annuity policies are established in amounts
adequate to meet the estimated future obligations on policies in force. Liabilities for future
policy benefils on certain life insurance policies are computed using the net level premium
method and are based on assumptions as to future investment vyield, mortality and
withdrawals. Mortality and withdrawal assumptions for all policies have been based on
actuarial tables which are consistent with the Company's own experience. Liabilities for future
benefits on annuity contracts and certain long-duration life insurance contracts are carried at
accumulated policyholder values without reduction for potential surrender or withdrawail
charges. In the event actual experience varies from the estimated liabilities, adjustments are
charged or credited to income for the period in which the adjustments are made.

Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs and Value of Acquired Insurance in Force for Annuity
and Interest-Sensitive Life Producis

Policy acquisition costs, consisting of commissions, policy issuance and other costs,
which vary with and are primarily related to the production of business, are capitalized and
amortized on a basis consistent with the type of insurance coverage. For investment (annuity)
contracts, acquisition costs, and also the value of annuity business acquired in the 1989
acquisition of the Company (“Annuity VIF™), are amortized over 20 years in proportion to
estimated gross profits. Capitalized acquisition costs for interest-sensitive life contracts are
alsc amortized over 20 years in proportion to estimated gross profits.

The most significant assumptions that are involved in the estimation of annuity gross
profits include future financial market performance, interest rate spreads, business
surrender/iapse rates and the impact of realized investiment gains and losses. For the variable
deposit portion of the annuity segment, the Company amortizes policy acquisition costs and
the Annuity VIF utilizing a future financial market performance assumption of a 10% reversion
to the mean approach with a 200 basis point corridor arcund the mean. At December 31,
2003, capitalized annuity policy acquisition costs and the Annuity VIF asset represented
approximately 4% of the total annuity accumulated cash value.

In the event actual experience differs significantly from assumptions or assumptions are
significantly revised, the Company may be required tc record a material charge or credit to
amortization expense for the pericd in which the adjustment is made. As noted above, there
are a number of assumptions involved in the vealuation of capitalized policy acquisition costs
and the Annuity VIF. Generally, if all other assumptions are met, with regard to financial
market performance assumptions for the underlying mutual funds of the Company's variable
annuities, a 1% deviation from the targeted financial market performance would currently
impact amortization between $0.1 million and $0.2 million depending on the magnitude and
direction of the deviation. Detailed discussion of the impact of adjustments to the amortization
of capitalized acquisition costs and Annuity VIF is included in “Results of Operations for the
Three Years Ended December 31, 2003 -- Amortization of Policy Acquisition Expenses and
intangible Assets”.

F-5




Valuation of Investments

The Company's methodology of assessing other-than-temporary impairments is based
on security-specific facts and circumstances as of the date of the reporting period. Based on
these facts, if management believes it is probable that amounts due will not be collected
according to the confractual terms of a debt security not impaired at acquisiticn, or if the
Company does not have the ability or intent tc hold a security with an unrealized lcss until it
matures or recovers in value, an other-than-temporary impairment shall be censidered to have
occurred. As a general rule, if the fair value of a debt security has fallen beloew 80% of bock
value for more than six months, this security will be reviewed for an cother-than-temporary
impairment. Additionally, if events become known that call into question whether the security
issuer has the ability to honor its contractual commitments, whether or not such security has
been trading above an 80% fair value to book value relationship, such security holding will be
evaiuated to determine whether or nct such security has suffered an other-than-temporary
decline in value.

The Company reviews the fair value of all investments in its portfolic on a monthly basis
to assess whether an other-than-temporary decline in value has occurred. These reviews, in
conjunction with the Company's investment managers’ monthly credit reports and relevant
factors such as (1) the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer, (2) the
Company's intent and ability to retain the investment long enough to aliow for the anticipated
recovery in fair value, (3) the stock price trend of the issuer, {4) the market l[eadership position
of the issuer, (5) the debt ratings of the issuer and (6) the cash flows cf the issuer, are all
considered in the impairment assessment. A write-down of an investment is recorded when a
decline in the fair value of that investment is deemed to be other-than-temporary, with a
realized investment loss charged to income for the pericd.

A decline in fair value below amortized cost is not assumed to be other-than-temporary
for fixed maturity investments with unrealized losses due to market conditions or industry-
related events where there exists a reascnable market recovery expectation and the Company
has the intent and ability tc hold the investment until maturity or a market recovery is realized.
An cther-than-temporary impairment loss will be recognized based upon all relevant facts and
circumstances for each investment, as appropriate, in accordance with Securities and
Exchange Commissicn Staff Accounting Bulletin ("SAB") No. 59, "Accounting for Non-Current
Marketable Equity Securities”, Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 115, "Accounting for Certain Investments in
Debt and Equity Securities”, and related guidance.

Detailed discussion of charges recorded in 2003 and 2002 for the write-down of
investments due tc other-than-temporary impairments is included in “Results of Operations for
the Three Years Ended December 31, 2003 -- Realized Investment Gains and Losses”.

Valuation of Assets and Liabilities Related to the Defined Benefit Pension Plan

Effective April 1, 2002, participants stopped accruing benefits under the defined benefit
plan but continue o retain the benefits they had accrued {c date.

The Company's cost estimates for its defined benefit pension plan are determined
annuelly based on assumptions which include the discount rate, expected return on plan
assets, anticipated retirement rate and estimated lump sum distributions. A discount rate of
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6.25% was used by the Company at December 31, 2003, which was based on the average
yield for long-term, high grade securities having maturities generally consistent with the
defined benefit pension payout period. To set its discount rate, the Company looks to leading
indicators, including Moody's Aa long-term bond index. The expected annual return on plan
assets assumed by the Company at December 31, 2003 was 7.50%. The assumption for the
long-term rate of return on plan assets was determined by considering actual investment
experience during the lifetime of the plan, balanced with reasonable expectations of future
growth considering the various classes of assets and percentage allocation for each asset
class. Management believes that it has adopted realistic assumptions for investment returns,
discount rates and other key factors used in the estimation of pension costs and asset values.

To the extent that actual experience differs from the Company's assumptions,
subseqguent adjustments may be required, with the effects of those adjustments charged or
credited to income and/or shareholders' equity for the period in which the adjustments are
made. Generally, a change of 50 basis points in the discount rate would inversely impact
pension expense and accumuiated other comprehensive income (“ACCI") by approximately
$0.2 million and $2 million, respectively. In addition, for every $1 million increase in the value
of pension plan assets, there is an equal and offsetting decrease in ACCI.

Results of Operations For the Three Years Ended December 31, 2003
Insurance Premiums and Contract Charges

Insurance Premiums Written and Contract Deposits

Year Ended Growth Over Year Ended
December 31, Prior Year December 31,
2003 2002 Percent Amount 2001
Automobile and property (voluntary).......... $549.2 $513.2 7.0% $36.0 $496.6
Excluding Massachusetts automobile..... 549.2 513.2 7.0% 36.0 477.7
Massachusetts automobile...................... - - - 18.9
Annuity deposits ........ccoevcveriineiie e 296.6 261.5 13.4% 351 239.1
(IR £ TSRS PU PP 112.4 112.9 -0.4% (0.5) 117.2
Subtotal —corelines .................... 958.2 887.6 8.0% 70.6 852.9
Subtotal - core lines,
excluding Massachusetis ......... 958.2 887.6 8.0% 70.6 834.0
Involuntary and other
property & casualty........cccccccviveniniiiinn (2.7) 11.7 (14.4) 227
Excluding Massachusetts
automobile........ccociciiiiercii (2.7) 10.5 (13.2) 14.9
Massachusetts automobile ................. - 1.2 (1.2) 7.8
TOtAl vt $955.5 $899.3 6.2% $56.2 $875.6
Total, excluding Massachusetts
automobile...........cccooeveeieenennns $955.5 $898.1 6.4% $57.4 $848.9
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Insurance Premiums and Contract Charges Earned
(Excludes annuity and life contract deposits)

Year Ended Growth Over Year Ended
December 31, Prior Year December 31,
2003 2002 Percent Amount 2001
Automobile and property (voluntary) ......... $534.8 $504.3 6.0% $30.5 $485.5
Excluding Massachusetts automobile 534.8 494.4 8.2% 404 467.2
Massachusetts automobile ..................... - 9.9 -100.0% (9.9) 18.3
ANNUIRY ..o 14.6 14.2 2.8% 0.4 14.9
I (- TP UPPTURPPRUOPR 95.1 91.4 4.0% 37 92.0
Subtotal —core lines.........oeeeeee. 644.5 609.9 5.7% 34.6 592.4
Subtotal — core lines, excluding
Massachusetts automobile....... 644.5 600.0 7.4% 445 5741
Involuntary and other
property and casualty ........cceever i (1.0) 15.3 (16.3) 228
Excluding Massachusetts
automobile.......oeievveren e (1.2) 9.6 (10.8) 14.7
Massachusetts automobile ................. 0.2 5.7 (5.5) 8.1
TOtaleicrrieee e $643.5 $625.2 2.9% $18.3 $615.2
Total, excluding Massachusetts
automobile........ccoooeveeeireerenne. $643.3 $609.6 5.5% $33.7 $588.8

The Cempany restructured its presence in the Massachusetts automobile market and
ceased writing automebile insurance policies in that state on December 31, 2001. Through a
marketing alliance with an unaffiliated company, The Commerce Group, Inc. (*Commerce”),
the Company's agents are authorized tc offer Massachusetts cusiomers autcmobile insurance
policies written by Commerce. Hcrace Mann agents continue to write the Company's other
products in Massachusetltls, including retirement annuities and property and life insurance.
Comparisons throughout this discussion of insurance premiums and contract deposits exclude
Massachusetts voluntary automobile premiums and policies in force.

2003 premiums written and contract deposits for the Company's core lines increased
8.0% over 2002 as a result of rate increases in the property and autcmebile lines and an
increased rate of growth in new annuity deposits in the second haif of 2003. 2002 premiums
written and contract deposits increased 6.4% over 2001 for similar reasons. Voluntary
property and casualty business, a component of the Company's core lines, represents policies
sold through the Company's marketing organization and issued under the Company's
underwriting guidelines.

The Company's exclusive agent force totaled 888 at December 31, 2003, reflecting a
decrease of 3.7% compared tc 822 agents a year earlier. At December 31, 2001, the
Company had 867 agents. Of the 2003 total, 378 agents were in their first 24 months with the
Company, a decrease of 4.3% compared to December 31, 2002, with full year 2003 new hires
equal to 2002 and terminations exceeding the prior year. The number of experienced agents
in the agent force, 510, was down 3.2% at December 31, 2003 compared to a year earlier, due
primarily to terminaticns of less-productive agents. While the year-end 2003 agent count was
lower than a year earlier, the average number of agents throcughout the year was 4% higher
than in 2002. In 2003, average agent productivity for all lines of business combined increased
slightly compared tc 2002 foliowing an increase of 6.5% in 2002, compared to 2001. Average
agent procuctivity is measured as new sales premiums from the exclusive agent force per the
average number of exclusive agents for the period. The Company continues tc seek ways to
improve the retention and productivity of its exclusive agent force. 2003 total sales, which
include the independent agent distribution channel, increased 14.6% compared tc 2002,
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largely due to the growing contribution of annuity business from the independent agent
distribution channel.

The Company’s results have been impacted by ongoing and recurring proceedings in
North Carolina challenging private passenger automobile rates. This has required the
Company to escrow premiums received pending resolution of these proceedings, adversely
impacting 2003 earmned premiums and pretax income by $3.0 million and 2002 earned
premiums and pretax income by $1.8 million.

Total voluntary automobile and homeowners premium written increased 7.0% in 2003
and 7.4% in 2002. Voluntary automobile insurance premium written increased 6.0% ($22.6
million) from 2002 to 2003 and 7.1% ($24.9 million) from 2001 to 2002. Homeowners premium
increased 9.8% ($13.4 miliion) from 2002 to 2003 and 8.4% ($10.6 million) from 2001 to 2002.
The increases in property and casualty premiums resulted from the impact of rate increases on
average premium per policy. Average written premium was up approximately 5% in 2003 and
6% in 2002 for voluntary automobile. Homeowners average written premium increased
approximately 12% in 2003 and 14% in 2002. Average earned premium increased 5% and 6%
for voluntary automobile and 14% and 11% for homeowners for the same periods. Through
December 31, 2003, approved rate increases for the Company's automobile and homeowners
business were 7% and 13%, respectively, compared to approved increases of 6% and 21%,
respectively, during 2002. During 2003, automobile policies in force decreased by 2,000
compared to December 31, 2002, reflecting an increase in policies for educators which was
more than offset by a decrease in non-educator policies. Automobile policies in force at
Becember 31, 2002 were equal io year-end 2001. Homeowners policies in force decreased
5,000 during 2003 and 8,000 during 2002 reflecting expected reductions due {o the Company’s
pricing and underwriting actions. At December 31, 2003, there were 571,000 voluntary
automobile and 279,000 homeowners policies in force, for a total of 850,000. At December 31,
2002, there were 573,000 voluntary automobile and 284,000 homeowners policies in force for
a total of 857,000. At December 31, 2001, there were 573,000 voluntary automobiie and
292,000 homeowners policies in force for a total of 865,000.

Based cn policies in force, the property and casualty 12-month retention rate for new and
renewal policies was 88% in 2003, 87% in 2002 and 88% in 2001. The Company plans
additional rate increases in 2004 for both its automobile and homeowners lines of business,
which may have an adverse impact on pclicy retention.

involuntary property and casualty business includes allocations of business from state
mandatory insurance facilities and assigned risk business. Feor 2003, involuntary and other
property and casualty premiums written were comparable to the pricr year excluding the
negative impact of adjustments made in the third and fourth quarters to anticipated premiums
from state mandatory insurance facilities.

New annuity deposits increased 13.4% in 2003 and 9.4% in 2002. The 2003 growth
primarily reflected a 45.8% increase in single premium and rollover deposits partially offset by
a 4.2% decrease in new scheduled annuity deposits. New depoesits to fixed accounts were
28.4%, or $40.1 million, higher than in 2002 and new deposits to variable accounts decreased
4.2%, or $5.0 miilion, compared to a year earlier. The 2002 growth reflected an 8.8% increase
in scheduled deposits received and a 10.4% increase in single premium and rollover deposits.
2002 new deposits to fixed accounts were 15.6%, or $19.1 million, higher than in 2001, and
new deposits to variable accounts increased 2.8%, or $3.3 million, compared toc 2001.
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In 2001, the Company began building a nationwide network of independent agents who
will comprise a second distribution channel for the Company’s 403(b) tax-qualified annuity
products. The independent agent distribution channel, which included 465 authorized agents
at December 31, 2003, generated $38.1 million in annualized new Horace Mann annuity sales
during 2003, compared to $10.5 million for the full year 2002 and no sales in 2001. A
significant portion of the 2002 amount, over $8 million, was produced as a result of Horace
Mann being named as one of four providers for fixed and variable annuity options tc Chicago,
lllinois public schocl employees and the Company’s partnering with an independent
broker/dealer having two decades of experience in providing retirement planning services tc
Chicago Public School employees.

Total annuity accumulated cash value of $2.8 billicn at December 31, 2003 increased
17.3% compared to a year earlier reflecting the growth in sales during 2003, continued
favorable retention and an improving equity market. Total annuity accumulated cash value of
$2.4 billion at December 31, 2002 decreased 1.7% ccmpared to a year earlier reflecting an
increase in deposits tc fixed accounts that was more than offset by a decrease in variable
accumulated funds on deposit which were impacted by financial market values. [n 2003, the
number of annuity contracts outstanding increased 4.1%, or 6,000 contracts, and in 2002, the
increase was 5.8%, or 8,000 contracts.

! In 2003, annuity segment contract charges earned increased 2.8%, or $0.4 million,
following a decline of 4.7% in 2002, compared to 2001. Declines in market valuations during
2002 and the first quarter of 2003 resulted in lower variable accumulated balances in force
against which contract charges are principally applied. Market appreciation in the last nine
months of 2003, however, resulted in variable annuity accumulated balances at December 31,
2003 which were 31.0% higher than at December 31, 2002.

Life segment premiums and centract deposits declined slightly in 2003 and decreased
3.7% in 2002. The life insurance in force lapse ratio improved tc 7.7% for the twelve menths
ended December 31, 2003 compared tc 9.1% for the same period in each of the pricr two
years.

Consistent with the Company’s Value Proposition and overall strategy to meet a broader
array of consumer financial needs, the product porifolic that the Company’s agents can offer
was expanded in 2003 through two new marketing alliances. The first is with Jefferson Pilot
Financial for universal life insurance. Jefferson Pilot was a leading issuer of universal life
policies in the U.S. for 2002. The second alliance is with American Funds for retail mutual
funds. Both product rollouts began in the second quarter of 2003 and are intended to help the
Company reach more educatcrs while deepening relationships with existing clients. While
business that the Company's agents write through these and other partner ccmpanies is not
recorded as Horace Mann premium, generally the marketing allowance received is comparable
to the Company’s nermal underwriting margin, with no correspending capital requirement.

Net investment income

Pretax investment income of $184.7 million for 2003 decreased 5.8%, or $11.3 millicn,
(4.7%, or $6.2 miliion, after tax) compared to the prior year as a decline in the portfolio yield
offset growth in the size of the investment porifolic. Pretax investment income of $196.0
million for 2002 decreased 1.7%, cr $3.3 million, (1.6%, or $2.1 millicn after tax) compared o
2001 due primarily to lost income related to investment credit issues and a decline in the
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portfolio yield which offset growth in the size cof the investment portfolio. Average investments
(excluding securities lending coilateral) increased 6.8% during 2003 and 5.0% during 2002.
The average pretax yield on the investment porifolio was 5.9% (4.0% after tax) for 2003, 6.7%
(4.5% after tax) for 2002 and 7.2% (4.8% after tax) for 2001.

Realized Investment Gains and Losses

Net realized investment gains were $25.5 million in 2003 compared to realized
investment losses of $49.4 million in 2002 and $10.0 million in 2001. For the full year 2003,
the Company recorded fixed income security impairment charges totaling $12.5 million, $6.2
million related to two of the Company’s collateralized debt obligation (“CDC") securities, $3.1
million related to one manufactured housing asset-backed security and the remaining $3.2
million primarily related to two airline industry issuers. In 2002, the Company recorded
charges of $53.9 million due to the impairment of fixed income securities primarily issued by
companies in the communications sector. In 2001, $7.8 million of the $10.0 miliion realized
loss resulted from the sale of all of the Company’s holdings in fixed income securities issued
by Enron Corporation, with the balance primarily attributable to credit-related sale and
impairment of securities issued by companies in the communications sector. Gains realized in
2003 included $16.1 million from sales of securities for which impairment charges were
recorded in 2002. Net realized investment gains and losses for 2003, 2002 and 2001 also
reflected gains realized from ongoing invesiment portfolio management activity.

In each of the periods, the impaired securities were marked to fair vaiue, and the write-
downs were recorded as realized investment losses in the Statement of Operations. These
impairments were deemed to be other-than-temporary for one or more of the following
reasons: the recovery of full value was not likely, the issuer defauited or was likely to default
due to the need to restructure its debt, or the Company had an intent to sell the security in the
near future.




The table below presents the Company’s fixed maturity securities portfolio as of
December 31, 2003 by major asset class, including the ten largest sectors of the Company's
corporate bond holdings.

Pretax
Number of Fair Amortized Unrealized
Issuers Value Cost Gain(Loss)
Corporate bonds
Banking and Finance.........c..cccevvvvrccnnennene 34 $ 3100 $ 2859 $ 241
ENEIGY ..ot 40 2191 2054 13.7
Food and Beverage.........ccccovvvvevireeeeeninenn. 28 128.9 124.2 4.7
UHIIIES ...t 19 128.9 123.3 5.6
Telecommunications........ccccvveriieiiieniiennnnnn. 15 108.8 101.2 7.6
Industry, Manufacturing...........ccoceceenies 19 79.1 76.2 29
INSUIBNCE.....cooiviriiie e s 10 77.4 73.8 3.6
Transportation .......ccccoceee i 10 77.2 76.7 0.5
Broadcasting and Media........c..cccceeveieannnns 21 51.4 46.6 4.8
Healthcare ..o 22 48.8 46.9 1.9
All Other Corporates (1) .ooooveeveveccveeiviiieenns 104 418.8 393.8 25.0
Total corporate bonds ...........ccoeveevinnnn. 322 1,648.4 1,554.0 94.4
Mortgage-backed securities
GOVENMENE....c.ooviiiieece e e 442 660.1 647.7 12.4
(0] (7= S VST RSSO 6 56.5 53.4 3.1
Municipal bonds...........ceevvvvveiniiiiiie e 154 502.9 488.1 14.8
Government bonds
U S e e 5 300.9 295.6 5.3
FOrQIQN ovvvvviviieecciieieee ettt 8 36.2 33.1 3.1
Collateralized debt obligations (2) ................. 7 33.2 33.2 -
Asset-backed securities ......ccoocvieeeciineeiniinnn. _7 20.5 9.8 0.7
Total fixed maturity securities.................. 951 $3,258.7 $3,124.9 $133.8

(1) The All Other Corporates category contains 18 additional industry classifications. Real estate, automobiles, paper, retall,
defense, chemicals, consumer products and metals represented $304.0 million of fair value at December 31, 2003, with
the remaining 10 classifications each representing less than $27 million of the fair value at December 31, 2003.

(2) Six of the securities were rated investment grade by Standard and Poor's Corporation and/or Moody’s Investors Service,
Inc. at December 31, 2003.
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At December 31, 2003, the Company's diversified fixed maturity portfolio consisted of
1,139 investment positions and totaled approximately $3.3 billion in fair value. The porifolio
was 94.1% investment grade, based on fair value, with an average quality rating of A+. At
December 31, 2003, the porifolio had approximately $41 million pretax of total gross
unrealized losses related to 113 positions. At Cecember 31, 2002, the total pretax gross
unrealized losses were approximately $27 million related to 137 positions. The following table
provides information regarding fixed maturity securities that had an unrealized loss at
Pecember 31, 2003, including the length of time that the securities have continuousiy been in
an unrealized loss position.

Investment Positions With Unrealized Losses Segmented by Quality
and Period of Continuous Unrezalized Loss
As of December 31, 2003

Pretax

Number of Fair Amortized Unrealized
Positions Value Cost Loss
Investment grade
B Months Or 1SS ....ccvvveeiviieicr e, 65 $347.8 $352.9 $ (51)
7 through 12 monthS.....ccceveevvievniiccceen, 18 90.1 94.4 4.3)
13 through 24 months......c.oveiiiinene 1 26 2.7 0.1)
25 through 38 months..........ccoovcinennn, 1 29 3.0 (0.1)
37 through 48 months........ccccvvvviiieiinicinn, - - -
Greaterthan 48 months...........coo i, - - - -
TOtal oot _85 $4434 $453.0 $ (9.6)
Non-investment grade
6 Months orless ......ooveeeiiiieeecceren, 19 $ 113 $ 1.7 $ (0.4)
7 through 12 months.......c.ccccoeoiiiiieecnie e, - - - -
13 through 24 months.........ccccccveiievinrnninin - - -
25 through 36 months.........coovvevieiinineninenn, 1 59 6.1 (0.2)
37 through 48 months........ccocoovvieecvininnne - - -
Greater than 48 months........cccoceevviienenns, _2 9.4 10.0 (0.6)
Total o 22 $ 266 $ 278 $ (1.2
Not rated
Total, all 13 through 24 months............... ) $ 25 $ 25 :
Grand total..........c.cccoovvveereveriverereenen, 13 $4725 $483.3 $(10.8)

*  Less than $0.1 million

Of the securities with unrealized losses, no issuers had pretax unrealized losses greater
than $2 million and no securities were trading below 80% of book value at December 31, 2003.
The Company views the decrease in value of all of the securities with unrealized losses at
December 31, 2003 as temporary, expects recovery in fair value, anticipates continued
payments under the terms of the securities, and has the intent and ability to hold these
securities until maturity or a recovery in fair value occurs. Therefore, no impairment of these
securities was recorded at December 31, 2003. Future changes in circumstances related to
these and other securities could require subsequent impairment in value. The Company’s
investment guidelines generally limit single corporate issuer concentrations tc 4.0% (after tax)
of shareholders’ equity for “AA” or “AAA" rated securities, 2.5% (after tax) of sharehoiders’
equity for “A” rated securities, 2.0% (after tax) of shareholders’ equity for “BBB” rated
securities, and 1.0% (after tax) of shareholders’ equity for non-investment grade securities.




Benefits, Claims and Settlement Expenses

Year Ended Growth Over Year Ended
December 31, Prior Year December 31,
2003 2002 Percent Amount 2001
Property and casualty ............ccooeever e, $472.9 $410.2 15.3% $62.7 $433.3
ANNUIRY ..o 0.8 0.8 - - (0.8)
Life . e 45.3 39.9 13.5% 54 41.1
Corporate & other ........ccooeeiiiiiiiiiiie, - - - 2.0
Total oo $519.0 $450.9 15.1% $68.1 34758

Property and Casualty Claims and Claim Expenses

Year Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001

Incurred claims and claim expenses:
Claims occurring in the current year.......cccoccceovveeveeciivcncinenns $416.5 $387.7 $416.8
Increase (decrease) in estimated reserves for claims
occurring in prior years (1):

Policies written by the Company (2) .........cccceevviiveneenn 58.3 20.8 14.5
Business assumed from state reinsurance facilities......... (1.9) 1.7 2.0
Total INCrease ........oovcveeeiei e 56.4 225 16.5
Total claims and claim expenses incurred (2).............. $472.9 $410.2 $433.3
Net reserves, end of period ...........ocooeeeoiiccecce e, $320.9 $272.6 $272.0
Pius reinsurance recoverables .........ccoccvveniii e e 20.6 44.7 34.1
Gross reserves, end of Period........cc.coeeeeveier e $341.5 $317.3 $306.1
Property and casualty GAAP loss ratio:
Before catastrophe l0SSES .......ccovvcvivivviee i 82.4% 76.6% 83.0%
After catastrophe 10SSeS......cccccce i 88.6% 78.9% 85.2%
Property and casualty GAAP loss ratio excluding net increases
in estimated reserves for claims occurring in prior years:
Before catastrophe [0SSes ......c.ocvevriiiiieciciniin e 71.8% 72.0% 79.8%
After catastrophe 10SSES .....cccceeei v 78.0% 74.3% 82.0%

(1) Shows the amounts by which the Company increased its reserves in each of the periods indicated for claims occurring in
previous periods to reflect subsequent information on such claims and changes in their projected final settliement costs.

(2) For the year ended December 31, 2002, these amounts excluded a $1.6 million statutory accounting charge for class
action litigation which was separately reported as Litigation Charges in the Company's Consolidated Statements of
Operations.

In 2003, the voluntary automobile loss ratio increased compared to 2002 primarily
reflecting adverse development and strengthening of prior years' reserves, as described below.
The Company's benefits, claims and settlement expenses also reflected underlying
improvement in the homeowners loss ratic as a result of loss containment initiatives and the
favorable impact of rate increases on earned premiums which was offset by an increase in
catastrophe losses. In 2002, the Company's benefits, claims and settlement expenses
reflected improvements in both the voluntary automobile and the homeowners loss ratios,
including catastrophe losses and the impact of litigation charges, as a result of mild weather,
loss containment initiatives and the favorable impact of the Company's restructuring of its
Massachusetts automobile business. Favcrable property and casualty current accident year
loss trends were partially cffset by adverse development in prior years' reserves. In 2001, the
Company's benefits, claims and seftlement expenses were affected adversely by
strengthening of prior years' reserves for property and casualty claims and by a high level of
non-catastrophe weather-related losses.
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Excluding involuntary business, net adverse development of reserves for property and
casualty claims occurring in prior years was $58.3 miliion for the full year 2003, primarily
related to automobile liability loss reserves from the 2001 and 2002 accident years, compared
to adverse reserve development of $22.3 million in 2002 which was primarily related to (1)
automobile loss reserves from accident years 2001 and years prior to 1997 and (2) loss
adjustment expense reserves from the 2001 and 2000 accident years for both automobile and
homecwners. Adverse development recorded in 2002 aiso included $1.6 million due to a
provision for the costs of resolving class action lawsuits related to diminished value brought
against the Company. Net adverse development of total reserves for property and casualty
claims cccurring in prior years, including involuntary business, was $56.4 million in 2003, $24.0
million in 2002 and $16.5 million in 2001. The Company's property and casualty reserves were
$320.9 miliion, $272.6 million and $272.0 million at December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively, net of anticipated reinsurance recoverables.

During 2002 and 2003, the Company made changes in its property and casualty claims
function including hiring of new management and claim adjusters (new hires represented over
half of the Company’s 300 claims employees at December 31, 2003), implementing improved
processes and consolidating the previous 17 branch offices into 6 regional claims offices,
which began in late-November 2002 and was completed in the first quarter of 2003.
Instaliation and implementation of the new claims administration system, including related
process changes, occurred in the third and fourth quarters of 2003 in the first two claims
offices with the remaining four offices planned for the first half of 2004.

As part of the claims operation redesign effort, open claim files -- particularly for
automacbile liability claims -- were reviewed by the new team. In the first half of 2003, these
reassessments resulted in a higher projected ultimate liability for automobile liability claims
from accident years 2001, 2000 and 1999 and prior. The high level of property and casualty
paid and case reserve activity cn older bodily injury claims that was observed in the second
quarter of 2003 continued in the third quarter as the Company's new claims organization
intensified their efforts to bring older claims files up to date. Furthermore, the acceleration of
claim disposition rates extended intec the third quarter, as the new organization also moved to
reduce the backlog of older claims and handie current claims on a timely basis. As a result,
the estimation of claims costs, setliement rates and severity has been complicated in recent
quarters due tc the degree of change involved.




As a result of the factors above, and in light of the pattern of adverse prior years’ reserve
deveilopment observed over the five quarters ended September 30, 2003, at the end of the
third quarter, the Company's management retained an independent property and casualty
actuarial and claims consulting firm to conduct a detailed review of the Company’s claims
handling practices and their integration with the Company's reserving practices. The
consultant’s claims and actuarial specielists reviewed claim files as well as past and current
claims handling processes and precedures, including case reserving practices, in each of the
Company's six claims offices. They also performed an assessment of the Company’s actuarial
processes for establishing IBNR and supplemental reserves.

The Company's December 31, 2003 actuarial analysis and reserve estimates
incorporated the cbservations of the consultant's claims and reserving practices review. The
low and high end of a reasonable range of reserve estimates for all of the Company's
coverages indicated net claim reserve ievels of $286 million and $338 million, respectively. In
recording the December 31, 2003 net reserves of $320.9 millicn, the Company assessed the
relative weight given toc emerging claim ftrends resulting from recent business process
changes, pricing and claims handling. Based upon this analysis, the Company selected a
higher point in the range for reserves related to the autcmobile liability coverages.

F-16




The following table guantifies the amount of adverse/(favorable) reserve development
recorded in each quarter in 2003 for each line of business and the accident years to which the
re-estimates relate:

Other
Voluntary Total Property &
Total Automobile Property Casualty
Three months ended
March 31, 2003
Accident Years:
2002 . e $ 08 $ 1.1 $(0.9) $06
2007 1 1.4 17 0.6 {0.9)
2000 & PriOr cuvvvvveeei e 2.1 2.8 _(0.1) _(0.6)
TOtAL ..ot $43 $56 $(0.4) $(0.9)
Three months ended
June 30, 2003
Accident Years:
2002 .. $ 58 $64 $(0.6) $ -
2007 e 0.7 1.0 (0.3) -
2000 & PriOr coovveeei e rreee e 3.4 2.8 _0.2 _0.4
TOMAl it $ 99 $10.2 $0.7) $04
Three months ended
September 30, 2003
Accident Years:
2002 . $12.9 $10.7 $13 $0.9
2009 1o e 8.8 9.0 0.2 (0.4)
2000 & PriOT cvvveviie et ersere e 8.4 7.7 041 _06
TOtal e e $30.9 $27.4 316 $14
Three months ended
December 31, 2003
Accident Years:
2002 ... $ 78 $ 6.9 $03 $06
2009 (o 1.9 1.9 - -
2000 & PHOT ..ocoeee et ceveee e 2.4 5.0 _(0.2) _(2.4)
AT T $12.1 31338 501 $(1.8)

During 2000, the Company noted increases in paid severities in excess of the original
expectations in its direct voluntary automobile line of business. As a result, the Company
continued to monitor such severity trends until such time as the Company believed that they
were sufficiently credible toc require adjustment tc the Company's claim and claim expense
reserve projections. Accordingly, the Company revised its projecticns in the fourth quarter of
2000 to give greater weight to the increasing trend of claim severities.
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In 2001, the Company refined its claim reserving methodologies and trend analyses
including more detailed analyses of subrogation recovery activity on business ceded to the
state automobile insurance facility in Massachusetts. The nature of the adverse trends in the
second and fourth quarters of 2001 that caused the Company tc increase reserves consisted
primarily of the following: (1) an increase in the frequency and severity of educators excess
professional liability claims; (2) the utilization of selected ultimate subrogation recoverables
that were not trending with actual recoveries; and (3) the utilization of selected ultimate loss
ratios in establishing reserves for ceded voluntary automobile excess liability claims and ceded
Massachusetts involuntary automobiie reserves that were not trending with actual results.

In the third quarter of 2002, the Company increased its reserves for prior accident years
primarily related to allocated claim adjustment expenses for the voluntary automobile and
homeowners lines and claims for the educator excess professicnal liability product. The
Company had noted increases in paid claims and claim expenses for prior accident years in
these lines during the first and second guarters of 2002 and continued tc monitor such adverse
trends until such time as the Company believed that they were sufficiently credible to require
adjustment of the reserves. As a result, the Company revised its loss projections in the third
quarter of 2002, incorporating the higher paid claims and claim expense trends.

in the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company increased its reserves for prior accident years
related primarily to (1) automobile claim reserves from accident years 2001, 2000 and years
prior {c 1997 and (2) allocated and unallocated claim expense reserves from the 2001 accident
year for both automobile and homecowners. During the third and fourth quarters of 2002, the
Company continued to closely monitor emerging trends in (1) the severity of payments on
previously reported losses for voluntary automebile and (2) paid claim adjustment expenses for
these prior accident years until such time as the Company believed that the trends were
sufficiently credible to require adjusiment of the reserves. As a result, the Company revised its
projections in the fourth quarter of 2002, incorporating the higher paid claims and claim
expense trends.

As the Company's claims operation redesign efforts progressed during 2003, the
elevated level of claim payments and case reserve activity related to prior accident years
continued. Consequently, the Company revised its loss projections throughout 2003, most
notably in the third quarter, as greater relative weight was given fc the emerging claim trends.

At the time each of the reserve analyses were performed, the Company believed that
each estimate was based upcn sound and correct methodology, that such methodology was
appropriately applied and that there were no {rends which indicated the likelihcod of future
adverse development. The financial impact of the net reserve strengthening was therefore
accounied for in the period that the change was determined.
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For 2003, total incurred property and casualty catastrophe losses were $33.2 million, the
Company's record high, compared to $11.9 million in 2002 and $11.2 million in 2001. The
2003 increase generated approximately 4 percentage points of the increase in the property
and casualty loss ratio. Homeowners claims from the California wildfires, net of anticipated
reinsurance recoveries, represented $12.0 million of the 2003 losses and occurred in the fourth
guarter. Claims from Hurricane isabel, primarily in the homeowners line, represented $5.0
million of the losses and occurred in the third quarter of 2003. Incurred catastrophe losses in
2001 included a net benefit of $1.1 million due to favorable development of reserves for 2000
catastrophe losses.

Including the higher level of catastrophe losses, the property loss ratio of 82.6% for 2003
increased approximately 1.5 percentage points compared to 2002 in spite of 2 13 percentage
point increase attributable to higher catastrophe losses in 2003. The adverse impact of
catastrophes was nearly offset by an increase in average premium per policy and an
improvement in loss frequency as a result of loss containment initiatives such as tightened
underwriting guidelines, deductible management and an aggressive reunderwriting program.
The property loss ratio was 97.0% in 2001.

The voluntary automobile loss ratio for 2003 increased approximately 13 percentage
points compared to the prior year. The loss ratio in 2003 included 14.5 percentage points due
tc adverse development of prior years' reserves compared to an impact of approximately 4
percentage points a year earlier. The voluntary automobile loss ratio for 2002 decreased
approximately 2 percentage points compared o 2001.

As disclosed in the Company's Annual Reports on Form {10-K for 2002 and 2001, early in
2001 management discovered deficiencies in the fax compliance tesling procedures
associated with certain of the Company's life insurance policies that could jeopardize the tax
status of some of those life policies. Deficiencies in the Company's computer-based
monitoring of premiums, combined with the complexily of certain of the Company's life
insurance products, resulied in the acceptance of toc much premium for certain policies under
the applicable tax test the Company was using. As a result of this discovery, the Company
retained outside experts to assist with the investigation and remediation of this issue. The
deficiencies in the testing procedures related to compliance with Internal Revenue Code
("IRC") Section 7702 (Definition of Life Insurance) were identified and corrected. Such a
problem is not uncommon in the life insurance industry and the Company pursued a remedy
following Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") procedures that have been established to address
this type of situation. The Ccmpany recorded $2.C million of policyhclder benefits in the
Corporate and Cther segment in the fourth quarter of 2001, as well as $1.0 million of operating
expense, which represented the Company's best estimate of the costs to the Company fo
resolve these problems. In July 2003, the Company entered into agreements with the IRS
resolving its compliance with [RC Section 7702 (Definition of Life Insurance). The accrual
established at December 31, 2001 was adequate to cover these costs.

The Company is in the process of identifying and correcting any related deficiencies in
the testing procedures and quantifying any potential exposure asscciated with IRC Section
7702A (Modified Endowment Contracts). The Company recorded $0.8 million of operating
expense in the Corporate and Other segment in the second quarter of 2003 which represents




its current best estimate of the cosis tc the Company to complete this correction and
assessment process. By the end of 2004, the Company expects to have completed
implementation of its testing procedures. [n 2005, the Company expects to quantify its
potential exposure, if any, associated with |RC Section 7702A.

Interest Credited to Policyholders

Year Ended Growth Over Year Ended
December 31, Prior Year December 31,
2003 2002 Percent Amount 2001
ANNUIRY ....ooiiiiiiee et eeee e seee e $ 713 $68.4 4.2% $2.9 $67.9
LI e 31.7 30.0 5.7% 17 28.6
TOAl oot $103.0 $98.4 4.7% $4.6 $96.5

Compared tc the prior year, the 2003 increase in annuity segment interest credited
| reflected an 8.9% increase in average accumulated fixed deposits, partially offset by a 22
basis point decline in the average annual interest rate credited to 4.6%. Compared te the 2001
rate of 5.1%, the fixed annuity average annual interest rate credited decreased tc 4.8% for
2002. Offsetting the decline in the rate credited, the average accumulated fixed deposits
increased 6.4% for 2002 compared to 2001. Life insurance interest credited increased in both
2003 and 2002 as a result of the growth in interest-sensitive life insurance reserves.

Operaling Expenses

In 2003, operating expenses increased $6.1 million, or 4.6%, compared to 2002
including an increase in investments in technology and property and casualty underwriting
initiatives as well as fees related tc the Company’s life subsidiary surplus relief transaction. In
2002, operating expenses increased $7.5 million, or 6.1%, compared tc 2001. The higher
level of company-wide expense was due predominantly to increased employee benefits costs,
including transition costs related to changes in the Company's defined benefit pension plan,
and reduced employee incentive compensaticn expenses in 2001. Excluding these factors,
cperating expenses for the two periods were appreximately equal.

In 2001, the Company determined that it would freeze its defined benefit pension plan in
2002 and move to a defined contribution structure. Cests of transitioning to the new structure,
based upon assumptions of future events, were $4.8 million and $6.2 million in 2003 and 2002,
respectively, and are currently estimated to be approximately $4 million for 2004. These costs
are largely as a result of settlement accounting provisions that are expected to be triggered as
a result of the higher retirement rate currently being experienced by the Company, coupled
with more retirees choosing lump sum distributions, and the impact of declines in the market
value of the pension plan’s assets in 2002 and 2001.

The Company's policy with respect to funding the defined benefit pension plan is to
contribute amounts which are actuarially determined tc provide the plan with sufficient assets
to meet future benefit payments consistent with the funding requirements of federal laws and
regulations. In 2002, the Company contributed $7.9 millicn to the defined benefit pension plan,
which was greater than the $1.8 million actuarially-determined required minimum amount,
reflecting a degree of conservatism which the Company believed tc be appropriate in light of
the then current volatility in the financial markets. [n 2003, the Company contributed $8.8
million to the defined benefit pension plan, with the entire amecunt being in excess cf the
required minimum amount. Based on assumptions at the time of this Report on Form 10-K,

F-20




the Company anticipates contributing approximately $3.5 million to the defined benefit pension
plan in 2004. All defined benefit pension plan investments are set aside in a trust fund.

The property and casualty GAAP expense ratio of 23.7% for the year ended December
31, 2003 increased approximately 1 percentage point over 2002, and the 2002 ratio increased
approximately 1.5 percentage points over 2001, in both cases primarily reflecting the property
and casuaity segment’s portion of the increase in corporate-wide expenses.

Amortization of Policy Acquisition Expenses and Intangible Assets

For 2003, the combined amortization of policy acquisition expenses and intangible
assets was $69.3 million compared to $67.0 million recorded in 2002 and $63.8 million
recorded in 2001. Amortization of intangible assets was $5.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2003 compared to $5.7 million for 2002 and $5.8 million in 2001. Amortization
of gocdwill, which was $1.6 million in 2001, was eliminated with the 2002 adoption of SFAS
No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”.

Amortized policy acquisition expenses of $64.3 million in 2003 were $3.0 million more
than the prior year and 2002 amortization exceeded 2001 by $3.3 million, in both cases
primarily related to the property and casuaity segment.

income Tax Expense

The effective income tax rate on the Company's pretax income, including realized
investment gains and losses, was a tax of 1.0% for the year ended December 31, 2003
compared to a benefit of 46.8% for 2002 and a tax of 9.5% for 2001.

Income from investments in tax-advantaged securities reduced the effective income tax
rate 36.3, 76.2 and 13.4 percentage points for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively. While the amount of income from tax-advantaged securities in 2003
increased scmewhat compared to 2002, the reduced level of income before income taxes in
2002 resulted in this having 2 more significant impact cn the 2002 effective income tax rate.
The impact of tax advantaged securities in 2002 included 13.3 percentage points from the prior
year's tax return. Alsc in 2002 and 2001, the Company's tax provision was reduced by $0.8
million and $3.0 million, respectively, reflecting the release of excess tax provision previcusly
recorded, representing 9.9 and 10.7 percentage points, respectively.

Net Income

For 2003, the Company reported net income of $19.0 million, or $0.44 per share,
compared to $11.3 million, or $0.28 per share, for 2002 and $25.6 millicn, or $0.63 per share,
in 2001. In 2003, net income was negatively impacted by adverse development and
strengthening of prior years’ property and casualty reserves as well as a significant level of
catastrophe losses, partially offset by net realized gains on securities. 2003 net income
comparisons to 2002 were alsc negatively impacted by decreases in investment income.
These negative prior year comparisons were partially offset by the impact of property and
casualty rate increases on earned premiums and favorable property loss results excluding the
impeact of catastrophes.




Net income in 2002 as cocmpared to 2001 benefited from positive develcpments in the
Company's property and casualty segment including: the impact of rate increases on earned
premiums; improved 2002 accident year loss trends; lower weather-related losses; and the
Company's restructuring of its Massachusetis automobile business. In addition, net income in
2002 benefited from the January 1, 2002 discontinuance of goodwill amortization. These
positive prior year comparisons were partially offset by greater adverse development of
property and casualty prior years' reserves. Net income in 2002 was also negatively affected
by (1) the significant level of realized investment losses, (2) decreases in investment income
due to lost income related to investment credit issues and declining interest rates, (3)
tightening margins on variable annuities resulting from adverse market conditions and (4)
higher company-wide cperating expenses resulting primarily from transition costs related to
changes in the Company's retirement plans and lower employee incentive compensation in
2001.

Net income (loss) by segment and net income per share were as follows:

Year Ended Growth Over Year Ended
December 31, Prior Year December 31,
2003 2002 Percent Amount 2001
Net income (loss})
Property & casualty
Before catastrophe losses ................. $ 38 $27.7 -86.3% $(23.9) $125
Catastrophe losses, after tax............. (21.8) (7.8) (13.8) (7.3)
Total including catastrophe
[0SSES...civererreneerrereesteesineaeseee e (17.8) 19.9 (37.7) 5.2
ANNUIY Lo s 14.4 17.0 -15.3% (2.6) 20.6
LIfE oot e 134 18.9 -29.1% (5.5) 18.7
Corporate and other (1).....ccocrevrvecenne 9.0 (44.5) 53.5 (18.9)
Total e $19.0 $11.3 68.1% $ 7.7 $256
Net income per share, diluted................... $044 $0.28 57.1% $0.16 $0.63
Property and casualty
GAAP combined ratio:
Before catastrophe losses ................. 106.1% 99.6% 6.5% 104.6%
After catastrophe losses............c....... 112.3% 101.9% 10.4% 106.8%

(1) The Corporate and Other segment includes interest expense on debt, realized investment gains and losses, certain public
company expenses and other corporate level items. The Company does not allocate the impact of corporate ievel
transactions to the insurance segments, consistent with management's evaluation of the resulis of those segments.

Net income for the property and casualty segment has been significantly impacted by
adverse development of prior years’ reserves and, in 2003, catastrophe losses which are
described in “Results of Operations for the Three Years Ended December 31, 2003 -- Benefits,
Claims and Settlement Expenses”.

Annuity segment net income in 2003 decreased $2.6 miliion compared to 2002 which, in
turn, declined by $3.6 miliion compared to 2001. 2003 income was adversely impacted by a
reduction in the pretax net interest margin of $6.2 million, reflecting spread compression due fo
lower investment income. Partially offsetiing this, valuation of annuity segment deferred
acquisition costs and value of acquired insurance in force at December 31, 2003 resulted in a
$2.6 million reduction in amortization compared to a minimal impact resulting from similar
valuations a year earlier. 2002 annuity segment net income, particularly for the last half of
2002, was adversely impacted by reductions in investment income as a result of investment
credit issues, declining interest rates and the increase in company-wide operating expenses.
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Life segment net income decreased $5.5 million compared to 2002, primarily reflecting a
decline in investment income, an increase in mortality costs and fees in 2003 related to the
Company’s surplus relief transactions. 2002 life segment net income was comparable to 2001.

The change in the 2003 net income (loss) for the Corporate and Other segment
compared to 2002 primarily reflected realized investment gains in 2003 compared to realized
investment losses, including impairment charges, in 2002. Interest expense on the Company’s
outstanding debt decreased compared to the prior year, reflecting refinancing transactions
completed in the last eight months of 2002. The increase in the net loss for the corporate and
other segment in 2002 compared to 2001 primarily reflected the significant increase in realized
investment losses in 2002, as described above. This segment benefited from the change in
accounting, which was effective January 1, 2002, that eliminated goodwill amortization. For
the year ended December 31, 2001, amortization of goodwill was $1.6 million. In 2001, the
loss for the corporate and other segment reflected (1) a pretax charge of $3.0 million related to
probiems with the life insurance tax status of certain of the Company's life policies and also (2)
a $3.0 million reduction of the Company's tax provision, reflecting the release of excess tax
provision previously recorded.

in May, September and Cctober 2002, the Company used a portion of the proceeds from
the sale of its Convertible Notes to repay the balance outstanding under the previous Bank
Credit Agreement and repurchase $71.4 million of its outstanding Senior Notes and $53.0
million aggregate principal amount, $25.2 million carrying value, of its cutstanding Senior
Convertible Notes. The debt retirement in 2002 resulted in a pretax charge of $2.3 million. In
June 2002, the Company recorded a pretax charge of $1.6 million to income, representing the
Company's best estimate of the costs of resclving class action lawsuits related to diminished
value brought against the Company. In addition, in the third quarter of 2002 the Company
recorded a pretax charge of $4.2 million due to restructuring of its property and casualty claim
operations. These three charges were reflected in the Corporate and Other net loss for the
vear ended December 31, 2002.

in 2001, the Company reached conclusiocn on its strategic direction for automobile
business in the State of Massachusetts and recorded charges of $7.3 million pretax related to
actions to restructure its presence in the Massachusetts automobile market. Also in 2001, the
Company recorded federal income tax benefits of $1.3 million due to resolution of the
Company's liability for the 1987 tax year.

Return on shareholders’ equity based on net incocme was 3%, 2% and 6% for the 12
months ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Based on the Company's full year 2003 results and generally positive underlying
operating trends, at the time of this Report on Form 10-K, management anticipates that 2004
full year net income before realized investment gains and losses will be within a range of $1.20
to $1.30 per share. This projection reflects management's anticipation of improvement in the
underlying (current accident year) property and casualty combined ratic and stabilization of
income from the annuity and life segments. As described in "Critical Accounting Policies,”
certain of the Company's significant accounting measurements require the use of estimates
and assumptions. As additional information becomes avzilable, adjustments may be required.
Those adjustments are charged or credited to income for the pericd in which the adjustments
are made and may impact actual results compared to management's current estimate. A
projection of net income is not accessible on a forward-looking basis because it is not possible
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to provide a reliable forecast of realized investment gains and losses, which can vary
substantially from one pericd to another and may have a significant impact on net income.

Liguidity and Financial Resources
Special Purpose Entities

At December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, the Company did not have any relationships with
unceonsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured
finance or special purpose entities, which would have been established for the purpose of
facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or for other contractually narrow or limited
purposes. As such, the Company is not exposed tc any financing, liquidity, market or credit
risk that could arise if the Company had engaged in such relationships.

Related Party Transactions

The Company does not have any contracts or other transactions with related parties that
are required to be reported under the applicable securities laws and regulations.

Ariel Capital Management, Inc., HMEC's largest sharehclder with 30% of the common
shares outstanding per their SEC filing on Form 13F as of December 31, 2003, is the
investment adviser for two of the mutual funds offered to the Company's annuity custemers. In
addition, T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc., HMEC's third largest shareholder with 8% of the
commen shares outstanding per their SEC filing on Form 13F as of December 31, 2003, is the
investment advisor for two of the mutual funds offered tc the Company's annuity customers.

Investments

infermation regarding the Company’s investment portfoiio, which is comprised primarily
of investment grade, fixed income securities, is located in “Business -- Investments”.

Cash Flow

The short-term liguidity requirements of the Company, within a 12-month operating cycle,
are for the timely payment of claims and benefils to policyholders, operating expenses, interest
payments and federal income taxes. Cash fiow in excess of these amounts has been used to
fund business growth, retire shori-term debt, pay dividends tc sharehclders and repurchase
shares of the Company’s common stock. Long-term liguidity requirements, beyond one year,
are principally for the payment of future insurance pclicy claims and benefits and retirement of
long-term debt. :

Operating Activities

As a holding company, HMEC conducts its principal operations in the persona! lines
segment of the property and casualty and life insurance industries through its subsidiaries.
HMEC's insurance subsidiaries generate cash flow from premium and investment income,
generally well in excess of their immediate needs for policy obligations, operating expenses
and other cash reguirements. Cash provided by operating activities primarily reflects net cash
generated by the insurance subsidiaries. For 2003, net cash provided by operating activities
decreased compared to 2002 reflecting an increase in federal income taxes paid, a reduction
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in investment income collected, and an increase in net cash used for insurance undenwriting.
In 2003 and 2002, the Company made cash contributions to its defined benefit pension plan
trust fund of $8.8 million and $7.9 million, respectively, both exceeding the actuarially-
determined required minimum amount.

Payment of principal and interest on debt, fees related to the catastrophe-linked equity
put option and reinsurance agreement, dividends to shareholders and parent company
operating expenses, as well as the share repurchase program, are dependent upon the ability
of the insurance subsidiaries to pay cash dividends or make other cash payments to HMEC,
including tax payments pursuant to tax sharing agreements. The insurance subsidiaries are
subject to various regulatory restrictions which limit the amount of annual dividends or cther
distributions, including loans or cash advances, available tc HMEC without prior approval of
the insurance regulatory authorities. Dividends which may be paid by the insurance
subsidiaries to HMEC during 2004 without pricr approval are approximately $43 million.
Although regulatory restrictions exist, dividend availability from subsidiaries has been, and is
~ expected to be, adequate for HMEC's capital needs.

investing Activities

HMEC's insurance subsidiaries maintain significant investments in fixed maturity
securities to meet future contractual obligations {o policyholders. In conjunction with its
management of liquidity and other assetliability management objectives, the Company, from
time to time, will sell fixed maturity securities prior tc maturity and reinvest the proceeds in
cther investments with different interest rates, maturities or credit characteristics. Accordingly,
the Company has classified the entire fixed maturity securities pertfolio as "available for sale.”

Financing Activities

Financing activities include primarily payment of dividends, the receipt and withdrawal of
funds by annuity contractholders, repurchases of the Company's common stock, and
borrowings, repayments and repurchases related to its debt facilities. Fees related to the
catastrophe-linked equity put option and reinsurance agreement, which augments the
Company'’s traditional reinsurance program, have been charged directly to additional paid-in
capital.

For the year ended December 31, 2003, receipts from annuity contracts increased
13.4%. Annuity contract maturities and withdrawals decreased $97.0 million, or 51.1%,
compared to the prior year. Cash value retentions for variable and fixed annuity options were
92.8% and 95.1%, respectively, for the 12 month period ended December 31, 2003. Net
transfers to variable annuity accumulated cash values increased $95.8 million compared fo the
prior year.




Contractual Obligations

Payments Due By Period
As of December 31, 2003

More Than
Less Than 1-3Years 3-5Years 5 Years
1 Year {2005 and (2007 and (2009 and
Total (2004) 2006) 2008) beyond)
Short-term Obligations (1):
Bank Credit Facility ..........cccovrnvennne $ 25,781 $ 550 $25,231 - -
Long-Term Debt Obligations (1):
Convertible Notes Due 2032 ............. 256,694 3,484 6,968 $1,742 $244 500
Senior Notes Dug 2006..................... 33,337 1,895 31,442 - -
TOtal oo $315.812 $5.929 $63,641 $1.742 $244,500

(1) Includes principal and interest.

The Company has entered intc varicus operating lease agreements, primarily for
computer equipment, computer software and real estate (agency and claims offices across the
country and portions of the home office complex). These leases have varying commitment
periods with most in the 1 to 3 year range. Payments on these leases were approximately $10
million in 2003 and approximately $8 millicn for each of the years ended December 31, 2002
and 2001. It is anticipated that the Company's payments under operating leases for the full
year 2004 will be comparable tc the 2003 payments. The Company does not have any other
arrangements that expose it to material liability that are not recorded in the financial
statements.

Capital Resources

The Company has determined the amount of capital which is needed tc adequately fund
and support business growth, primarily based on risk-based capital formulas including those
developed by the National Asscciation of insurance Commissioners ("NAIC”). Historically, the
Cempany's insurance subsidiaries have generated capital in excess of such needed capital.
These excess amounts have been paid to HMEC through dividends. HMEC has then utilized
these dividends and its access to the capital markets to service and retire long-term debt,
increase and pay dividends to its shareholders, fund growth initiatives, repurchase shares of its
common stock and for other corporate purposes. Management anticipates that the Company's
sources of capital will continue tc generate capital in excess of the needs for business growth,
debt interest payments and shareholder dividends.

The total capital of the Company was $700.2 million at December 31, 2003, including
$144.7 million of long-term debt and $25.0 million of short-term debt cutstanding. Total debt
represented 27.4% of capital excluding unrealized investment gains and losses (24.2%
including unrealized investment gains and losses) at December 31, 2003, slightly above the
Company's long-term target of 25%.

Shareholders’ equity was $530.5 million at December 31, 2003, including a net
unrealized gain in the Company's investment portfolio of $81.6 million after taxes and the
related impact on deferred policy acquisiticn costs and the value of acquired insurance in force
associated with annuity and interest-sensitive life policies. The market value of the Company's
common stock and the market value per share were $598.8 million and $13.97, respectively, at
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December 31, 2003. Book value per share was $12.42 at December 31, 2003 ($10.51
excluding investment fair value adjustments).

Cn May 14, 2002, the Company issued $353.5 million aggregate principal amount of
1.425% Senior Convertible Notes ("Senior Convertible Notes™), which will mature on May 14,
2032, at a discount of 52.5% resulting in an effective vield of 3.0%. The Senior Convertible
Notes were privately offered only to qualified institutional buyers under Rule 144A under the
Securities Act of 1933 and outside the U.S. to non-U.S. persons under Reguiation S under the
Securities Act of 1933. A Securities and Exchange Commission registration statement
registering the Senior Convertible Notes was declared effective on November 4, 2002. At a
meeting held on September 10 and 11, 2002, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the
Company to repurchase, from time to time, for cash or other consideration, its Senior
Convertible Notes. As of December 31, 2002, net proceeds from the sale of the Senior
Convertible Notes had been used to (1) repay the $53.0 million balance outstanding under the
previous Bank Credit Agreement on May 14, 2002, (2) repurchase a total of $71.4 million
aggregate principal amount of the Company's cutstanding 6 5/8% Senicr Notes due January
15, 2006 ("Senior Notes") at an aggregate cost of $74.7 million, and (3) repurchase $53.0
million aggregate principal amount, $25.2 million carrying value, of the Company’s outstanding
Senior Convertible Notes at an aggregate cost of $22.8 millicn. The remaining proceeds were
used for general corporate purposes. [n addition tc the cash repurchase transactions, in
December 2002 the Company repurchased an additional $56.0 million aggregate orincipal
amount, $26.6 million carrying value, of the outstanding Senior Convertible Notes at an
aggregate cost of $26.0 million in a non-cash transaction. As consideration for this
repurchase, 1.8 million shares of HMEC's common stock were issued.

Interest on the Senior Convertible Notes is payable semi-annually at a rate of 1.425%
from November 14, 2002 until May 14, 2007. After that date, cash interest will not be paid on
the Senior Convertible Notes prior to maturity unless contingent cash interest becomes
payable. From May 15, 2007 through maturity of the Senior Convertible Notes, interest will be
recognized at the effective rate of 3.0% and will represent the accrual of discount, excluding
any contingent cash interest that may become payable. Contingent cash interest becomes
payable if the average market price of a Senior Convertible Note for a five trading day
measurement period preceding the applicable six-month period equals 120% or mere of the
sum of the Senior Convertible Note's issue price, accrued original issue discount and accrued
cash interest, if any, for such Senior Convertibie Note. The contingent cash interest payable
per Senicr Convertible Note with respect 1o any quarterly pericd within any six-month period
will equal the then applicable conversion rate multiplied by the greater of (1) $0.105 or (2) any
regular cash dividends paid by the Company per share on HMEC's common stock during that
quarterly period.

The Senior Convertible Notes will be convertible at the option of the holders intc shares
of HMEC's commeon stock at a conversion price of $26.74, if the conditions for conversion are
satisfied. Holders may alsc surrender Senior Convertible Notes for conversion during any
period in which the credit rating assigned to the Senior Convertible Notes is Ba2 or lower by
Moody's or BB+ or lower by S&P, the Senior Convertible Notes are no longer rated by either
Moody's or S&P, or the credit rating assigned tc the Senior Convertible Notes has been
suspended or withdrawn by either Moody's or S&P. The Senior Convertible Notes will cease
to be convertible pursuant to this credit rating criteria during any pericd or periods in which all
of the credit ratings are increased above such levels. The Senior Convertible Notes are
redeemable by HMEC in whole or in part, at any time on or after May 14, 2007, at redemption
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prices equal to the sum of the issue price plus accrued original issue discount and accrued
cash interest, if any, on the applicable redemption date. The hoiders of the Senior Convertible
Notes may require HMEC to purchase all or a portion of their Senior Convertible Notes on
either May 14, 2007, 2012, 2017, 2022, or 2027 at stated prices plus accrued cash interest, if
any, to the purchase date. HMEC may pay the purchase price in cash or shares of HMEC
common stock or in a combination of cash and shares of HMEC common stock.

The Senior Convertible Notes have an investment grade rating from Standard & Poor's
Cerporation ("S&P") (BBB), Moody's Investors Service, Inc. ("Moody's”) (Bazg3), Fitch Ratings,
Ltd. ("Fitch”) (BBB=<), and A.M. Best Company, Inc. ("A.M. Best”) (bbb-). Alsc see “Financial
Ratings”. The Senior Convertible Notes are traded in the open market (HMN 1.425).

In January 1998, the Company issued $100.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6
5/8% Senicr Notes ("Senior Notes”) at a discount of 0.5% which will mature on January 15,
2006. In 2002, the Company repurchased $71.4 million aggregate principal amount of its
cutstanding Senior Notes utilizing a pertion of the proceeds from the issuance of the Senior
Convertible Notes, as described above. Interest on the Senior Notes is payable semi-annually.
The Senicr Notes are redeemable in whole or in part, at any time, at the Company’s option.
The Senior Notes have an investment grade rating from S&P (BBB), Moody's (Baa3), Fitch
(BBB+) and A.M. Best (bbb-). The Senicr Notes are traded on the New York Stock Exchange
(HMN 6 5/8).

On December 31, 2003, the Company borrowed $25.0 million under its Bank Credit
Agreement at an interest rate of Interbank Offering Rate plus 1.0%, or 2.2%. The Bank Credit
Agreement provides for unsecured borrowings of up to $25.0 million, with a provisicn that
allows the commitment amount to be increased to $35.0 million (the “Bank Credit Facility™).
The Bank Credit Facility expires on May 31, 2005. Interest accrues at varying spreads relative
to cerperate or eurodollar base rates and is payable monthly or quarterly depending on the
applicable base rate. The unused portion of the Bank Credit Facility is subject to a variable
commitment fee, which was 0.25% on an annual basis at December 31, 2003.

To provide additicnal capital management flexibility, the Company filed a “universal
shelf” registration on Form S-3 with the SEC in December 2003. The registration statement,
which registers the offer and sale by the Company from time tc time of up tc $300 million of
various securities, which may include debt securities, preferred stock, common stock and/or
depositary shares, was declared effective on December 30, 2003. No securities associated
with the registraticn statement have been issued as of the date of this Report on Form 10-K.

The Company's ratio of earnings to fixed charges for the year ended December 31, 2003
| was 4.0x, reflecting the impact of $56.4 million cf pretax adverse develcpment of prior years’
property and casualty reserves recorded in 2003, compared tc 1.9x for the prior year which

reflected $49.4 million of pretax realized investment losses recognized during 2002.

Total sharehclder dividends were $18.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2003.
In March 2004, the Board of Directors announced a regular quarterly dividend of $0.105 per
share.

Information regarding the reinsurance program for the Company's property and casualty
segment is located in “Business -- Property and Casualty Segment -- Property and Casualty
Reinsurance”.
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On December 31, 2003, the Company's primary life insurance subsidiary, Horace Mann
Life Insurance Company ("HMLIC"), entered into a reinsurance agreement with the United
States branch of Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada (“SLACC”) which replaced the 2002
agreement with Sun Life Reinsurance Company Limited ("SLRCL"), a member of the Sun Life
Financial Group. Under the terms of the December 31, 2003 agreement, which is expected to
be in place for a five year period, HMLIC ceded to SLACC, on a combination coinsurance and
modified coinsurance basis, a 75% quota share of HMLIC's in force interest-sensitive life block
of business issued prior to January 1, 2002. SLACC assumes its proportional share of all risks
attendant to the business reinsured such as mortality, persistency and investment risk,
reducing HMLIC's liabilities under statutory accounting principles to the extent of the ceded
commission. The initial ceded commission received by HMLIC was $50.0 million and resulted
in a $32.5 million after-tax increase in HMLIC's statutory surplus. Subseguent growth in
HMLIC's statutory surplus is expected to be reduced by approximately $6.5 million annually, as
the coinsurance reserve declines over the term of the agreement. Fees related to these
transactions, which are anticipated to reduce the Company's pretax GAAP income by
approximately $1 million in 2004, are also expected to decline over the term of the agreement.
These transactions improved the statutory operating ieverage and risk-based capita! ratio of
HMLIC in 2003 and 2002. The agreement contains a condition whereby HMLIC must maintain
an S&P financial strength rating of BBB- or higher. [f this condition is not maintained for a
period of more than 60 consecutive days, HMLIC may recapture the agreement without
penalty after giving 30 days written notice.

Financial Ratings

The Company's principal insurance subsidiaries are rated by Standard & Poor's
Corporation (“S&P"), Moody's Investors Service, Inc. ("Moody’s”), Fitch Ratings, Ltd. (“Fitch”)
and A.M. Best Company, Inc. ("A.M. Best®). These rating agencies have also assigned ratings
to the Company’s long-term debt securities.

Assigned ratings as of March 1, 2004 were as follows (the insurance financial strength
ratings for the Company’'s property and casualty insurance subsidiaries and the Company’s
principal life insurance subsidiary are the same, except where indicated):

Insurance

Financial
Strength Ratings Debt Ratings

{Outlook) (Outlook)
As of March 1, 2004
S&P (1) e e A (negative) BBB  (negative)
MOOAY'S (1) it P&C: A3  (negative) Baa3 (negative)

Life: A3  (stable)

FItCR . e A+ (negative) BBB+ (negative)
AM,. BESE ..o A- (stable) bbb-  (stable)

(1) This agency has not yet rated Horace Mann Lioyds.

In October 2003, Fitch lowered by one noich the insurance financial strength and senior
debt ratings of Horace Mann Educators Ccorporation. The financial strength ratings of the
Company's insurance subsidiaries were lowered tc "A+" from "AA-" and the senior debt ratings
were lowered to "BBB+" from "A-". At that time, the outlook for each of the ratings was Stable.
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Fitch indicated that the rating action reflected their belief that it will be difficult for Horace
Mann's property and casualty operations to return to the significantly belter than industry
average underwriting performance that had historically been achieved. Additionally, Fitch
believed that life and annuity earnings and surplus growth for 2003 would be below historical
levels due to spread compression on the fixed annuity products and lower levels of separate
account assets under management. Fitch also indicated that the ratings continue toc be
supported by the Company’s strong risk based capitalization, well defined market niche in the
educator market, strong reinsurance protection and a high quality, liquid investment portfolic.
Fitch noted that the Company continues to have an advantageous positiocn in the educator
marketplace and reasonable business strategies for profitable growth.

On October 27, 2003, the Company pre-announced the third quarter 2003 adverse
development and strengthening of property and casualty reserves and the related impact on
net income for the third quarter of 2003. Following this announcement, S&P placed the
Company's "BBB+" debt ratings and "A+" financial strength ratings on CreditWatch with
negative implications. Moody's also placed the Company's "Baa2" debt ratings and "A2"
insurance financial strength ratings on review for possible downgrade. Both rating agencies
noted that they would review and update their analyses of the Company's property and
casually reserve adequacy and deveiopment trends, as well as prospective earnings, interest
coverage, capitalization levels and spread compressicn on the Company’s annuity business.

[n November 2003, A.M. Best lowered by one notch the Company’s financial strength
and debt ratings. The financial strength rating was lowered tc “A-" from “A” and the debt
ratings were lowered to “bbb-" from “bbb+". A.M. Best indicated that the downgrades reflected
the decline in capitalization driven by unfavorable operating results in recent years in the
property and casualty operations. A.M. Best alsc noted that, although it had declined, the
property and casualty capital position continued to support the “A- (Excellent)” rating. A.M.
Best's announcement also noted positive factors regarding the Company’s operations, simiiar
to the Fitch anncuncement in October 2003. The cutleok for each of the ratings is Stable, as
confirmed in a subsequent press release which A.M. Best issued in December 2003.

In December 2003, Moody's lowered by one notch the Company’s financial strength and
debt ratings primarily as a result of the Company's ongoing struggles with adverse
development of prior years' property and casualty reserves and the impact that has had on
earnings and organic capital growth. The financial strength rating was lowered to “A3” from
‘A2" and its delbt rating was lowered to “Baa3” from “Baa2”. The outlook for the debt rating
and the financial strength rating for the property and casualty subsidiaries remained Negative,
reflecting the agency’'s continued concerns with the Company’s ability to improve earnings
over the near-term. The outlook for the financial strength rating of the principal life subsidiary
is Stable.

Also in December 2003, S&P lowered by cne notch the Company’s financial strength
and debt ratings, citing reasons similar to those of Mocdy’'s. The financial strength rating was
lowered to “A” from “A+” and the debt rating was lcwered tc “BBB” from “BBB+". Although the
announcement noted a number of positive operating factors, the outlook for each of the ratings
remained Negative.

In February 2004, Fitch revised the outlock on the Company’s “A+” financial strength
ratings and “BBB+" debt ratings to Negative. The change in outlook followed the Company’s
announcement of fourth quarter and full year 2003 earnings which included property and
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casualty results that were outside of Fitch’s previous expectations. Fitch reiterated that the
Company’s solid risk-based capitalization, sound catastrophe reinsurance program and high
quality, liquid investment portfolio continue to support the ratings as assigned.

Market Value Risk

Market value risk, the Company's primary market risk exposure, is the risk that the
Company's invested assets will decrease in value. This decrease in value may be due to a
change in (1) the vields realized on the Company's assets and prevailing market vields for
similar assets, (2) an unfavorable change in the liguidity of the investment, (3) an unfavorable
change in the financial prospects of the issuer of the investment, or (4) a downgrade in the
credit rating of the issuer of the investment. See also "Results of Operations for the Three
Years Ended December 31, 2003 -- Realized Investment Gains and Losses".

Significant changes in interest rates expose the Company to the risk of experiencing
losses or earning a reduced level of income based on the difference between the interest rates
earned on the Company's investments and the credited interest rates on the Company's
insurance liabilities.

The Company manages its market value risk by cocrdinating the projected cash inflows
of assets with the projected cash outflows of liabilities. For all its assets and liabilities, the
Company seeks to maintain reasonable durations, consistent with the maximization of income
without sacrificing investment quality, while providing for liquidity and diversification. The
investment risk associated with variable annuity deposits and the underlying mutual funds is
assumed by those contractholders, and not by the Company. Certain fees that the Company
earns from variable annuity deposits are based on the market value of the funds deposited.

Through active investment management, the Company invests available funds with the
objective of funding future cbligations ftc policyholders, subject to appropriate risk
considerations, and maximizing shareholder value. This objective is met through investments
that (1) have similar characteristics to the liabilities they support; (2) are diversified among
industries, issuers and geographic locations; and (3) are predominately investment-grade fixed
maturity securities classified as available for sale. No derivatives are used to manage the
exposure to interest rate risk in the invesiment portfolics. At December 31, 2003,
approximately 20% of the fixed investment portfolio represented investments supporting the
property and casualty operations and approximately 80% supported the life and annuity
business. For a discussion regarding the Company's investments see "Business --
Investments.”

The Company'’s life and annuity earnings are affected by the spreads between interest
yields on investments and rates credited or accruing on life and fixed annuity insurance
liabilities. Although substantially all credited rates on fixed annuities may be changed annually
(subject to minimum guaranteed rates), competitive pricing and other factors, including the
impact on the level of surrenders and withdrawals, may limit the Company’s ability to adjust or
to maintain crediting rates at levels necessary to avoid narrowing of spreads under certain
market conditions.

Using financial modeling and other techniques, the Company regularly evaluates the
appropriateness of investments relative to the characteristics of the liabilities that they support.
Simulations of cash flows generated from existing business under various interest rate
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scenarios measure the potential gain or loss in fair value of interest-rate sensitive assets and
liabilities. Such estimates are used to closely match the duration of assets to the duration of
liabilities. The overall duration of liabilities of the Company’s multiline insurance operations
combines the characteristics of its long duration interest-sensitive life and annuity liabilities with
its short duration non-interest-sensitive property and casualty liabilities. Overall, at December
31, 2003, the duration of both the investment portfolio and the Company’s insurance liabilities
was approximately 6.0 years.

The life and annuity operations participate in the cash flow testing procedures imposed
by statutory insurance regulations, the purpose of which is tc insure that such liabilities are
adequate to meet the Company’s obligations under a variety of interest rate scenarics. Based
on these procedures, the Company’s assets and the invesiment income expected to be
received on such assels are adequate to meet the insurance policy obligations and expenses
of the Company’s insurance activities in all but the most extreme circumstances.

The Company pericdically evaluates its sensitivity to interest rate risk. Based on
commonly used models, the Company projects the impact of interest rate changes, assuming
a wide range of factors, including duration and prepayment, on the fair value of assets and
liabilities. Fair value is estimated based on the net present value of cash flows or duration
estimates. At December 31, 2003, assuming an immediate decrease of 100 basis points in
interest rates, the net fair value of the Company’s assets and liabilities would increase by
approximately $6 millicn after tax, or 1% of shareholders’ equity. A 100 basis point increase
would decrease the fair value of assets and liabilities by approximately $20 million after tax, or
4% cof shareholders’ equity. At December 31, 2002, assuming an immediate decrease of 100
basis points in interest rates, the net fair value of the Company's assets and liabilities would
have decreased by approximately $21 million after tax, or 4% of shareholders’ equity. A 100
basis point increase would have decreased the fair value of assets and liabilities by $2 million
after tax, or less than 1% of sharehciders’ equity. In each case, these changes in interest
rates assume a parallel shift in the yield curve.

While the Company believes that these assumed market rate changes are reasonably
possible, actual results may differ, particularly as a result of any management actions that
would be taken to mitigate such hypothetical losses in fair value of shareholders’ equity.
Based on the Company’s overall exposure to interest rate risk, the Company believes that
these changes in interest rates would not materially affect its consclidated near-term financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.

Information Systems Risk

The Company administers its insurance business with information systems that are
dated and complex, and reguire extensive manual input, calculation and control procedures.
These systems are more prone tc error than more advanced technology systems. To address
these issues, over the past three years the Company has enhanced ils existing systems and
technology infrastructure and has begun installing new systems, including a new general
ledger and financial reporting system which was implemented in the second quarter of 2003
and a new property and casuaity claims administration system being implemented over the
twelve months ending June 30, 2004. In the meantime, enhanced checks and control
procedures have been established to review the output of existing information systems,
including pericdic internal and external third party reviews. Nevertheless, there are risks that
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inaccuracies in the processing of data may occur which might not be identified by those
procedures and checks on a timely basis.

Business Continuity Risk

Given the events of September 11, 2001, the continuing threat of terrorism and the
current geopolitical climate, the Company has underieken a reassessment of its business
continuity plans. While current contingency plans are felt to be adequate to restore some of the
more critical business processes and the Company is aggressively working to strengthen its
continuity plans, in the current environment there is believed to exist a higher than acceptable
level of risk that the Company's ability to recover and resume most or all of its key business
operations on a timely basis would be compromised.

Recent Accounting Changes
SOP 03-1

in July 2003, the American [nstitute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA”) issued
Statement of Position (“SOP”) 03-1, “Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises for
Certain Nontraditional Long-Duration Contracts for Separate Accounts.” This SOP is effective
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2003. The new rules change accounting for
separate accounts and sales inducements and change the liability model by expanding the
definition of “account balance” and addressing annuitization guarantees and minimum
guaranteed death benefits. The adoption of this SOP is currently not expected to have a
material impact on the Company’s operating results or financial position.

Effects of Inflation and Changes In Interest Rates

The Company's operating results are affected significantly in at least three ways by
changes in interest rates and inflation. First, inflation directly affects property and casualty
claims costs. Second, the investment income earned on the Company's investment portfolic
and the fair value of the investment portfolio are related fo the yields available in the
fixed-income markets. An increase in interest rates will decrease the fair value of the
investment portfolio, but will increase investment income as investments mature and proceeds
are reinvested at higher rates. Third, as interest rates increase, competitors will typically
increase crediting rates on annuity and interest-sensitive life products, and may lower premium
rates on property and casualty lines to reflect the higher yields available in the market. The
risk of interest rate fluctuation is managed through asset/liability management technigues,
including cash flow analysis.




REPORT OF MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Horace Mann Educators Corporation

The consolidated balance sheeis of Horace Mann Educaters Corporation and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years ended December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001 have been prepared by management, which is responsible for their
integrity and reliability. The statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America and include some amounts that
are based upon management’s best estimates and judgements. Management has discussed
with the Audit Commitiee the quality, not just the acceptability, of the Company's accounting
principles as applied in its financial reporting. The discussions generally included such matters
as the consistency of the Company's accounting policies and their application, and the clarity
and completeness of the Company's financial statements, which include related disclosures.
The financial information contained elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K is consistent
with that contained in the financiai statements.

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining a system of internal control
designed fo provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of financial
reporting. The concept of reasonable assurance is based on the recognition that there are
inherent limitaticns in all systems of internal conirol, and that the cost of such systems should
not exceed the benefits derived therefrom. A professicnal staff of internal auditors reviews on
an ongoing basis the related internal control system design, the accounting policies and
procedures supperting this system and compliance therewith. Management believes this
system of internal control effectively meets its objective of reliable financial reporting.

In connection with their annual audits, independent certified public accountants perform
an examination, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America, which includes the consideration of the system of internal control to the extent
necessary to form an independent opinion on the fairness of presentation of the financial
statements prepared by management and not to provide assurance on the sysiem of internal
confrols.

The Board of Directors, through its Audit Commitiee composed solely of independent
directors, is responsible for overseeing the integrity and reliability of the Company's accounting
and financial reporting practices and the effectiveness of its system of internal controls. The
independent certified public accountants and internal auditcrs meet regularly with this
commitiee, and have access to this commitiee with and without management present, to
discuss the resuits of their audit work.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS® REPORT

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Horace Mann Educators Corperation:

We have audited the accompanying consclidated balance sheets of Horace Mann
Educators Corporation and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2003 and 2002,
and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders' eguity, and
cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2003. In
connecticn with our audits of the consoclidated financial statements, we also have audited the
financial statement schedules, as listed in the accompanying index. These consolidated
financial statements and financial statement schedules are the responsibility of the Company's
management. Our respensibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements and financial statement schedules based on our audits.

We conducted cur audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepied in
the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reascnable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit alsc includes assessing the accounting
principies used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in
all material respects, the financial position of Horace Mann Educators Corperation and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the results of their operations and their
cash flows for each of the years in the three-year pericd ended December 31, 2003, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedules, when considered in relation to
the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly, in all material
respects, the information set forth therein.

As discussed in note 1 to the consoclidated financial statements, in 2002 the Company

adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assels”.

KPrie LP

KPMG LLP

Chicago, lliinois
February 17, 2004
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HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of December 31, 2003 and 2002

(Dollars in thousands)

2003 2002
ASSETS
investments
Fixed maturities, available for sale, at fair value
(amortized cost 2003, $3,124,861; 2002, $2,859,007) .......ccoecvnn.. $3,258,674 $2,991,195
Short-term and other iINVestMEntS ......coooiv i 104,904 135,431
Short-term investments, loaned securities collateral .........ccocooevene 22,147 3,037
Total INVESIMENTS ... 3,385,725 3,130,563
07 1= o T SO 19,773 60,162
Accrued investment income and premiums receivable ...........ccceeee 99,370 89,954
Deferred policy acquisition COStS .........ccoeeviiiiiiiee e 193,703 174,555
GOOAWIIT 1. 47,396 47,396
Value of acquired insurance in forCe.......cc.cooovviiviiiie e, 27,259 31,945
O T BSOS 1 et iiii e e 80,531 143,244
Variable annuity @SSels..........oooviiiiiiiiiiec e 1,119,231 854,470
TOtal @SSEES evviiiiiii e $4,972,988 $4,512,289
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS" EQUITY
Policy liabilities

Fixed annuity contract liabilities ............ccoviiic $1,526,174  $1,385,737

Interest-sensitive life contract iabilities .......coovvieveiee e 567,209 544 533

Unpaid claims and claim eXpenses.............ocoeeevvviiieeioinire i 350,501 326,575

Future policy DenefitS........uvveiiveii e 181,344 180,577

Unearned premiUms ......uuiviieiieiie e e 198,991 189,384

Total policy iabilities ......cccceevviveeiei e, 2,824,219 2,626,806
Other policyholder funds........cccceeeiiiiiiie e, 129,888 125,108
Liabiiity for securities lending agreements ..........cc.oevieviie e, 22,147 3,937
Other IabiltIES .. .cvvvi it 177,325 228,441
Short-termM GeDT ..ooiiiiii e 25,000 -
Long-term debt ... e 144,703 144,685
Variable annuity liabilities ........ccoccv i, 1,119,231 854,470

Total iabilities ....coooieiiei e, 4,442 513 3,983,447
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, authorized

1,000,000 shares; NONE iSSUET........ccccviiriiieeie e - -
Common stock, $0.001 par value, authorized

75,000,000 shares; issued, 2003, 60,225,311;

2002, 80,194,815, .. i 60 60
Additional paid-in capital........ccccov i 342,306 342,749
Retained €arMINGS ....vveii ittt 456,330 455,308
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes:

Net unrealized gains on fixed maturities and equity securities ........ 81,608 80,567
Minimum pension liability adjustment.....................ccoooii (17,252) (17,265)
Treasury stock, at cost, 2003 and 2002, 17,503,371

S B S, et (332,577) (332,577)

Total shareholders' equity ..o, 530,475 528,842

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity.............cocccovieiiiiiiinnen. $4,972,988 $4.512,289

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

F-36




HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CPERATIONS

(Dollars In thousands, except per share data)

Insurance premiums written and contract deposits .........

Revenues
Insurance premiums and contract charges earned ......
Net investment inCOMe ......oooe i,

Benefits, losses and expensss
Benefits, claims and settlement expenses ...................
Interest credited........cco v
Paolicy acquisition expenses amortized..........cccoeeveeneee.
Operating EXPeNSES.....cvcevvviiiee it
Amortization of intangible assets ......ccccccoviiiiiis
INterest eXPeNSE . ..cov i
Restructuring charges (adjustments) ........cccccccvvvvnnenn.
Debt retirement COSIS......cooiviieviiii e
Litigation charges .........cccccovveei e

Total benefils, losses and expenses ......................

Income before INCoOME taXeS ...
income tax expense (benefit).......ccocvvveeeiiiiiiin e,

N B IO ettt et e e e e everaseeesenrenses
B ST o it er et r e ee s

Weighted average number of shares
and equivalent shares
BaSIC. i

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2007
§ 056450 § 800320 § 875.566
$ 643536 § 625233 § 615,242
184,725 196,048 199,267
25,487 (49,407) (10,019)
853,748 771.874 804,490
518,978 450,866 475,583
102,970 98,380 96,502
64,345 61,297 58,048
137,318 131,339 123,679
5,027 5,734 5,774
6,339 8,517 9,250
(408) 4,223 7,312

- 2,272 -

- 1,581 -
834,569 764,209 776,148
19,179 7,665 28,342
204 (3.668) 2,755
$ 18975 § 11333 § 25587
$§ 044 § 028 § 063
$§ 044 3§ 028 § 063
42,712,822 40,941,182 40,616,843
42,904,167 41,199,033 40,877,120

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATICN
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001

Common stock
Beginning balance .........c.ccooiiiiiiiiii $ 60 $ 60 $ 80
Options exercised, 2002, 107,410 shares;
2001, 207,575 SNareS ..o - - -
Conversion of Director Stock Plan units, 2003, 30,696
shares; 2002, 10,284 shares; 2001, 10,293 shares .. - - -

Ending balanCe..........ooooiiiiiiiiic e 60 60 60
Additional paid-in capital

Beginning balance ... 342,749 341,052 338,243

Options exercised and conversion of Director

Stock Plan unitS .......cueiiiiiiiiiiii e, 645 2,183 3,759

Catastrophe-linked equity put option premium............. (1,088) (1,088) (950)

Issuance of treasury shares in 2002 .......................... - 602 -

ENding DalanCe.........cooovviiiiiiiiiecee e 342,306 342,749 341,052
Retained earnings

Beginning balance .........cccco i 455,308 461,138 452,624

NetinCoOMe ......oooiiii 18,975 11,333 25,587

Cash dividends, $0.42 per share ..........ccccccoviivveeinnn, (17.953) (17,164) (17,072)

Ending balance..........ccvii 456,330 455,308 461,139

Accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss), net of taxes:

Beginning balance ...........co.ovvevviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeiens 63,302 14,898 (4,975)
Change in net unrealized gains (losses) on fixed

maturities and equity securities........cccccceeiie i, 1,041 54,231 30,374
(Increase) decrease in minimum pension

liability adjustment.........cccoiiiiii 13 (5,827) (10,501)
Ending balanCe..........oviiiiiiii e 64,356 63,302 14.898

Treasury stock, at cost
Beginning balance, 2003, 17,503,371 shares;

2002 and 2001, 19,341,296 shares ...........ccccvvveeennns (332,577) (357,959) (357,959)
[ssuance of 1,837,925 shares in 2002 .............ccevveeen. - 25,382 -
Ending balance 2003 and 2002, 17,503,371 shares;

2001, 19,341,296 shares .......c.ccceovvivieeeiiiee e, (332,577) (332,577) (357,959)
Shareholders’ equity at end of period .............ccocveeeennenn. $ 530,475 $ 528,842 $ 459,190
Comprehensive income

NETINCOME ... $ 18,975 $ 11,333 $ 25,587

Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Change in net unrealized gains (losses)

on fixed maturities and equity securities................. 1,041 54,231 30,374
(Increase) decrease in minimum pension
liability adjustment.........ccocoveiiiviriiii e, 13 (5.827) (10,501)
Other comprehensive iNCome .......ccoevveereieeeeennnnn. 1,054 48,404 19,873
Total.ooeee § 20,029 § 50,737 $ 45,460

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION

CONSQLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Doliars in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities

Premiums collected ........ccooooiiiiiiiii
Policyholder benefits paid............ccccovviiiiiiin
Policy acquisition and other operating expenses paid..
Federal income taxes recovered (paid)..............ccconees
Investment income collected.............cooeeeiii e,
Interest expense paid .......cccccvvvvvie i
Contribution to defined benefit pension plan trust fund
OtNEN e .

Net cash provided by operating activities ...............

Cash flows used in investing activities
Fixed maturities
PUICNESES ...viiiiiee ettt e e e
SalES
MatUrities ..o
Net cash (used for) provided by
short-term and other investments ...............coccveens
Net cash used in investing activities.......................

Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities
Dividends paid to shareholders............coccccveeviiiinennnn,
Principal borrowings (repayments)

on Bank Credit Facility ..........occociiiii
Exercise of stock options ...,
Catastrophe-linked equity put option premium.............
Proceeds from issuance of Senior Convertible Notes ..
Repurchase of Senior Notes and

Senior Convertible NOteS .........evveiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeee,
Annuity contracts, variable and fixed

DEPOSIES vt

Maturities and withdrawals.................c.coenn,

Net transfer to variable annuity assets......................
Net decrease in life policy account balances ...............

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities .
Net increase (decrease) in Casn .........ooocevivviiiiiieeieeeeen,
Cash at beginning of period.........cco oo,

Cashatend of period ........ccvviiee i,

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
$ 684331 $ 663682 $ 642,596
(500,634) (465,811) (487,619)
(221,499) (206,457) (193,713)
(19,001) (2,055) 7,520
185,359 197,872 195,086
(5,454) (9,540) (9,091)
(8,780) (7,910) -
3,086 (4,314) (5,922)
117,408 165,467 148,857
(1,762,957)  (1,546,528)  (1,140,930)
922,699 1,117,268 732,076
560,915 274,134 283,153
35,437 (28,776) (2,107)
(243,906) (183,902) (127.808)
(17,953) (17,164) (17,072)
25,000 (53,000) 4,000
- 2,183 3,759
(1,088) (1,088) (950)

- 162,654 -

- (97,523) -
296,615 261,509 239,124
(92,791) (189,824) (178,364)
(113,074) (17,264) (53,550)
(10,600) (5.825) (5,198)
86,109 44,658 (8,251)
(40,389) 26,223 12,798
60,162 33,939 21,141
$ 19773 $ 60,162 33,939

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)
NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP") and
with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. The preparation of
financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Horace Mann Educators
Corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiaries ("HMEC"; and together with its subsidiaries, the
“Company” or "Horace Mann®). HMEC and its subsidiaries have common management, share
office facilities and are parties to several intercompany service agreements for management,
administrative, data processing, agent commissions, agency services, utilization of personnel
and investment advisory services. Under these agreements, costs have been allocated
among the ccmpanies in conformity with customary insurance accounting practices
consistently applied. In addition, certain of the subsidiaries have entered intoc intercompany
reinsurance agreements. HMEC and its subsidiaries file a consclidated federal income tax
return, and there are related tax sharing agreements. All significant intercompany balances
and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The subsidiaries of HMEC market and underwrite tax-qualified retirement annuities and
private passenger automaobile, homeowners, and life insurance products, primarily fo
educators and other employees of public scheols and their families. The Company’s principal
operating subsidiaries are Horace Mann Life Insurance Company, Horace Mann Insurance
Company, Teachers Insurance Compeny, Hcrace Mann Property & Casualty Insurance
Company and Horace Mann Lloyds.

Investments

The Company invests primarily in fixed maturity investments. These securities are
classified as available for sale and carried at fair value. The net adjustment for unrealized
gains and losses on securities available for sale, carried at fair value, is recorded as a
separate component of shareholders’ equity, net of applicable deferred tax asset or liability and
the related impact on deferred policy acquisiticn costs and value of acquired insurance in force
associated with interest-sensitive life and annuity contracts.
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NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies-(Continued)

Shori-term and other investments are comprised of policy loans, carried at unpaid
principal balances; short-term fixed interest securities, carried at cost which approximates fair
value; mortgage loans, carried at unpaid principal less a valuation aliowance for estimated
uncoilectible amounts; real estate acquired in the settliement of debt, carried at the lower of
cost or fair value; and equity securities, carried at fair vaiue.

Interest income is recognized as earned. investment income reflects amortization of
premiums and accrual of discounts on an effective-yield basis.

Reailized gains and losses arising from the sale or impairment of securities are
determined based upon specific identification of securities. The Company reviews the fair
value of all investments in its portfolio on a monthly basis to assess whether an other-than-
temporary decline in value has occurred. These reviews, in conjunction with the Company’'s
investment managers’ monthly credit reports and relevant factors such as (1) the financial
condition and near-term prospects of the issuer, (2) the Company’s intent and ability to retain
the investment long encugh to allow for the anticipated recovery in fair value, (3) the stock
price trend of the issuer, (4) the market leadership position of the issuer, (5) the debt ratings of
the issuer and (6) the cash flows of the issuer, are all considered in the impairment
assessment. A write-down of an investment is recorded when a decline in the fair vaiue of that
investment is deemed {o be other-than-temporary, with a realized investment loss charged to
income for the period.

The Company's methodology of assessing other-than-temporary impairments is based
on security-specific facts and circumstances as of the date cf the reporting period. Based on
these facts, if management believes it is probable that amounts due will not be coilected
according to the contractual terms of a debt security not impaired at acquisition, or if the
Company does not have the ability or intent to hold a security with an unrealized loss until it
matures or recovers in value, an other-than-temporary impairment shall be considered tc have
occurred. As a general rule, if the fair value of a debt security has fallen below 80% of book
value for more than six months, this security will be reviewed for an cther-than-temporary
impairment. Additionally, if events become known that call into question whether the security
issuer has the ability to honor its contractual commitments, whether or not such security has
been trading above an 80% fair vaiue fo book value relationship, such security holding will be
evaluated to determine whether or not such security has suffered an other-than-temporary
decline in value.




NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies-(Continued)

A decline in fair value below amortized cost is not assumed to be other-than-temporary
for fixed maturity investments with unrealized losses due to market conditions or industry-
related events where there exists a reasonable market recovery expectation and the Company
has the intent and ability to hold the investment until maturity or a market recovery is realized.
Management believes that its intent and ability tc hold a fixed maturity investment with a
continuous material unrealized loss due tc market conditions or incustry-related events for 2
period of time sufficient to allow a market recovery or to maturity is a decisive factor when
considering an impairment loss. In the event that the Company's intent or ability to hold a fixed
maturity investment with a continuous material unrealized loss for a period of time sufficient to
allow a market recovery or tc maturity were to change, an evaluation for other-than-temporary
impairment is performed. An other-than-temporary impairment loss will be recognized based
upen ali relevant facts and circumstances for each investment, as appropriate, in accordance
with Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulietin ("SAB") No. 89,
"Accounting for Non-Current Marketable Equity Securities”, and No. 104, “Revenue
Recognition”, Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards ("SFAS") Ne. 115, "Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and
Equity Securities”, and related guidance. ‘

Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs

Deferred policy acquisition costs net of accumulated amortization were $193,703 and
$174,555 as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Policy acquisition costs, consisting of commissions, policy issuance and other costs,
which vary with and are primarily related to the producticn of insurance business, are
capitalized and amortized on a basis censistent with the type of insurance coverage.
Capitalized acquisitiocn costs for interest-sensitive life contracts are amortized over 20 years in
propertion tc estimated gross profits. For other individual life coniracts, acquisition costs are
amortized in proportion to anticipated premiums over the terms of the insurance policies (10,
15 and 20 years). For investment (annuity) contracts, acquisition costs are amortized over 20
years in proporticn tc estimated gross profits. For property and casualty pciicies, acquisition
cosis are amortized over the terms of the insurance policies (six and twelve months). The
Company periodically reviews the assumpticns and estimates used in capitalizing policy
acquisition costs and also pericdically reviews its estimations of gross profits. The most
significant assumpticns that are involved in the estimation of annuity gross profits include
future financial market performance, interest rate spreads, business surrender/lapse rates and
the impact of realized investment gains and losses. In the event actual experience differs
significantly from assumptions or assumptions are significantly revised, the Company may be
required tc record a material charge or credit to amortization expense for the period in which
the adjustment is made.

Deferred policy acquisition costs for interest-sensitive life and investment contracts are
adjusted for the impact on estimated future gross profits as if net unrealized investment gains
and losses had been realized at the balance sheet date. The impact of this adjustment is
included in net unrealized gains and losses within sharehclders’ equity.
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NOTE 1 - Summary of Sﬁgmﬁﬁ@@m Accounting Policies-(Continued)

Deferred policy acquisition costs are reviewed for recoverability from future income,
including investment income, and costs which are deemed unrecoverable are expensed in the
pericd in which the determinaticn is made. No such costs have been deemed unrecoverable
during the periods reported.

Value of Acquired Insurance In Force and Goodwill

When the Company was acquired in 1989, intangible assets were recorded in the
application of purchase accounting to recognize the value of acquired insurance in force and
goodwill. in addition, goodwill was recorded in 1984 related to the purchase of Horace Mann
Property & Casualty Insurance Company. The value of acquired insurance in force is being
amortized over the following periods, utilizing the indicated methods for life and annuity,
respectively, as follows: 20 years, in proportion {o coverage provided; 20 years, in proportion
to estimated gross profits. Goodwill was amoriized over 40 years on a straighi-line basis
through December 31, 2001. Goodwill, net of amortization, was $47,396 at December 31,
2001.

Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets”. The Company's value of acquired insurance in force is an intangible asset
with a definite life and will continue to be amortized under the provisions of SFAS No. 142.
Goodwill will remain on the balance sheet and not be amortized. SFAS No. 142 establishes a

new method of testing goodwill for impairment. On an annual basis, and when there is reason
to suspect that its value may have been diminished or impaired, the goodwiil asset must be
tested for impairment. The amount of gocdwill determined to be impaired will be expensed to
current operations. During 2002 and 2003, the Company completed the required testing under
SFAS No. 142; no impairment charges were necessary as a result of such assessments.

The allocation of goodwill by segment was as follows:

Balance as of
January 1, 2002,
December 31, 2002
and December 31, 2003

$28,025
9,911
9,480
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NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies-(Continued)

Net income and net income per share exclusive of goodwill amortization expense for the
years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Reported NEtINCOME ......c.voiiiiiieerir e e $18,975 $11,333 $25,587
Add back: Goodwill amortization ........c..ccccvvinnininnr - - 1.618
Adjusted Net iNCOME ... $18,975 $14.333 $27 205
Reported net income per share-basic.........ccoocvvovnveneerioienenian, $ 044 $ 0.28 $ 063
Add back: Goodwill amortization ..........c.cccecvcinininiicnneen, - - 0.04
Adjusted net income per share-basiC.........ccooccvvivinciinnnnn, $ 044 $ 028 $ 067
Reported net income per share-diluted ............ccooeieiiieiniiins $ 044 $ 0.28 $ 083
Add back: Goodwill amortization ...........ccccoeviiciiiinicce - - 0.04
Adjusted net income per share-diluted ........ccccoocvvvinniiinienne $ 044 $ 028 $_ 067

For the amortization of the value of acguired insurance in focrce, the Company
periodically reviews its estimates of gross profits. The most significant assumptions that are
involved in the estimation of gross profits include future financial market performance, interest
rate spreads, business surrender/iapse rates and the impact of realized investment gains and
losses. In the event actual experience differs significantly from assumptions or assumptions
are significantly revised, the Company may be required to record a material charge or credit to
amortization expense for the period in which the adjustment is made.

The value of acquired insurance in force for investment contracts (those issued prior o
August 29, 1989) is adjusted for the impact on estimated future gross profits as if net
unrealized investment gains and losses had been realized at the balance sheet date. The
impact of this adjustment is included in net unrealized gains and losses within sharehoiders’
equity.

The balances of value of acquired insurance in force by segment at December 31, 2003
and 2002 were as follows:

December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
Accumulated Net Accumulated Net
Cost Amortization Cost Amortization _Balance
LIt i $ 48,746 $ 41,502 $ 7,244 $ 48,746 $ 39,877 $ 8,869
ANNUIY .. oo e e rescen e 87.553 66.657 20,896 87.553 63,255 24,298
Subtotal......ceeiiiiiii $136,299 $108,159 28.140 $136,299 $i03.132 33,167
Impact of unrealized investment
gains and l0SSeS .....ivvverieiniineninnn, (881) (1,222)
Total e, $27,259 $31,945

Scheduled amortization cf the December 31, 2003 balances of value of acquired
insurance in force by segment over the next five years is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2008 2007 2008

Scheduled amortization of
value of acquired insurance in force

LI s eeeeeeesesems e eeeeerere e $1537 . $1460  $1,394  $1,338  $1,292
AAIUIGY oo sese s eeeereeeseeeneenenen 3544 3893 4270 _4572 _4617
Tl resee e rereroee e seereeeerenere $5081 §5.353 $5.664 $5910  $5.909




NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies-(Continued)

The amount of interest accrued on the unamortized balance of value of acquired
insurance in force and the interest accrual rates were as follows:

Ygar Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
interest accrued on the unamortized balance
of value of acquired insurance in force
L e airiei ettt ettt et e e et e e s e nee s $ 645 $ 779 $ 921
ATITUIEY oot ettt st 1,185 1,280 1,639
TORAL .ottt b v e e $1.830 $2.059 $2.560
Interest accrual rate
L e cere ettt et s e a e st ae e et e e e e e s et e s st e errraeestraenenne 8.0% 8.0% 8.0%
ANNUIY . ...ttt eeeae st een e st sta s e s e v e s e nas e 5.3% 5.4% 5.7%

The accumulated amortization of intangibles as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 was
$157,136 and $152,108, respectively.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and are
included in Other Assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Depreciation and amortization
are calculated on the straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives of the assets.
The estimated useful lives of property and equipment by asset type are generally as follows:
real estate, identified by specific property, 20-45 years; furniture, 10 years; general office
machines, 6 vears; telephones, 5 years; vehicles, 3 years; and data processing hardware and
software and personal computers, 3 years.

December 31,
2003 2002
Property and equipment .........cccccuirenecncnnnnnnees $73,506 $73,855
Less: accumulated depreciation.... 47,959 43,921

TOLAL ettt e e $25.547 $29,934




NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies-(Continued)
Variable Annuity Assets and Liabilities

Variable annuity assets, carried at market value, and iiabilities represent tax-qualified
variable annuity funds invested in various mutual funds, including the seven proprietary Horace
Mann mutual funds. Variable annuity assets were invested in the offered mutual funds as
follows:

December 31,
2003 2002

Horace Mann Equity FUNG ... $ 325,880 $ 274,025

Horace Mann Balanced FUNd..........oiriie e i s s seenavarnnemrnennen 270,287 240,697

Horace Mann Socially Responsible Fund.............ccccoiiininn 73,947 58,909

Horace Mann Small Cap Growth Fund............oooi e 57,210 34,682

Horace Mann International Equity Fund ..........ccccoiivciiniii 35,754 26,248

Wilshire Large Company Growth Portfolio -

Institutional Class and Investor Class ..o, 28,349 19,421
Ariel Appreciation FUNd ... 27,831 14,179
Fidelity VIP 500 Index Portfolio SC2.......cccoviiiiniriimieee e 26,397 14,949
Fidelity VIP Growth Portfolio SC2........cooiivviiiiiie e 25,960 15,040
Wilshire 5000 Index Portfolio -

Institutional Class and INVestor Class ..u.vvciviiiion v vveivcvnaneennnn, 24,641 16,784
Fidelity VIP Mid Cap Portfolio SC2......ccoceeiicere e 21,719 12,836
Horace Mann Income FUNnd ..o e 20,843 19,313
D g T=Y I VT3 Ve [ USSP 18,665 9,689
T. Rowe Price Small Cap Value Fund - Advisor Class .........ccccocveeveieenn, 15,843 9,255
Alliance Bernstein Premier Growth Portfolio.............cccoccccoivii 14,744 9,298
Fidelity VIP Investment Grade Bond Portfolio SC2...............ooiiiieens 13,925 9,861
Wilshire Large Company Value Portfolio ..........ccccconnieiii i, 13,220 8,037
Neuberger Berman Genesis Fund Advisor Class.......c..ccccceivniinneinennn. 12,755 7,494
T. Rowe Price Small Cap Stock Fund - Advisor Class ............ccoceeveneenn, 11,984 7,266
JPMorgan U.S. Large Cap Core Equity Portfolio......cccccvovecevnniininincninnn, 11,535 6,973
Strong Opportunity FUNA 1l ..o 8,923 5,353
Fidelity VIP Overseas Portfolio SC2.........ccccoviiiiiiiieieeeen e 7,948 3,917
Rainier Small/Mid Cap Equity POrfolio........cccooverniiiiiiiniieniinn e 7,453 4,051
Fidelity VIP Growth and Income Portfolio SC2......cccccooceeeiniiivicnneeen 7,325 4,009
Davis Value Porfolio .....oooeeeeiie et 6,781 3,743
Strong Mid Cap Growth Fund Il........cocoi i, 6,557 4,086
Putnam VT Vista Fund (IB Shares) ........ccovveirciniinieiercreenine e 5,490 3,544
Horace Mann Short-Term Investment Fund .........coooeiviioieiiiiicciiiiiineevenes 4,843 4,186
Credit Suisse Small Cap Growth Portfolio.............ocoiiiivivevnciiiee e 4,036 2,407
Wilshire Small Company Value Portfolio ........c.oeccviviiniiiieciinine e, 2,374 1,660
Wilshire Small Company Growth Portfolio..........cccccovvicirivicniiniineeeeen, 1,626 847
Fidelity VIP High Income Portfolio SC2........ccooviiviimiiiieiienie e 1,604 652
BlackRock Index Equity Portfolio.......cccocvevviiiiiiiiiiee e, 1,186 386
Putnam VT George Putnam Fund of Boston (Class 1B shares) ................ 414 167
BlackRock TemMp FUNG ..o e e 371 180
Putnam VT Internaticnal Growth Fund (Class I1B shares) ...........cccccooeve.. 263 85
BlackRock Low Duration Bond Fund ........cc.ccoevcveiviiincic e, 218 118
BlackRock Core Bond Total Return Fund.........cccovveeieiieiineicn e, 209 85
T. Rowe Price Science & Technology Fund ......c.cc.ooe e, 111 -
Templeton Foreign Smaller Companies Fund (Class A} .....ccccoovviceeennen, 10 2
Berger Information Technology Fund ........ccocooeviiiiinniii - 36

Total variable annuity assets .........ccovveeivii i $1,119.231 $854.470

The investment income, gains and losses cf these accounts accrue directly to the
policyholders and are not included in the operations of the Company.
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NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies-(Continued)

Future Policy Benefits, Inlerest-sensitive Life Contract Liabilities and Annuity Contract
Liabilities

Liabilities for future benefits on life and annuity policies are established in amounts
adequate to meet the estimated future obligations on policies in force. Liabilities for future
policy benefits on certain life insurance policies are computed using the net level premium
method and are based on assumptions as to future investment vyield, mortality and
withdrawais. As a result of the application of purchase accounting, future policy benefits for
direct indivicual life insurance policies issued through August 29, 1989 were revalued using
interest rates of 9% graded to 8% over 10 years. For policies issued from August 30, 1989
through December 31, 1992, future policy benefits are computed using an interest rate of
6.5%. An interest rate of 5.5% is used to compute future policy benefits for policies issued
after December 31, 1892. Mortality and withdrawal assumptions for all policies have been
based con actuarial tables which are consistent with the Company's own experience. Liabilities
for future benefits on annuity contracts and certain long-duration life insurance contracts are
carried at accumulated policyholder values without reduction for potential surrender or
withdrawal charges. The liability also includes provisions for the unearned portion of certain
policy charges.

The Company has established a guaranteed minimum death benefit (*“GMDB") reserve
on variable annuity contracts and regularly monitors this reserve censidering fiuctuations in the
financial markets. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, under GAAP, the GMDB reserve was
$109 and $835, respectively. The comparable reserve under statutory accounting principles
was $155 and $1,557 at the respective dates. The Company has a relatively low exposure to
GMDB because approximately 25% of contract values have no guarantee; approximately 70%
have only a return of premium guaraniee; and approximately 5% have a guarantee of premium
roll-up at an annual interest rate of 3% or 5%. The aggregate in-the-money death benefits
under the GMDB provision totaled $35,415 and $115,319 at December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

Unpaid Claims and Claim Expenses

Liabilities for property and casualty unpaid claims and claim expenses include provisions
for payments tc be made on reperted claims, claims incurred but not reported and associated
settlement expenses. At December 31, 2003, all of the Company's net reserves for property
and casually unpaid claims and claim expenses were carried at the full value of estimated
liabilities and were not discounted for interest expected to be earned on reserves. Estimated
amounts of salvage and subrogation on unpaid property and casuaity claims are deducted
from the liability for unpaid claims. Due to the nature of the Company's personal lines
business, the Company has no exposure {o claims for toxic waste cleanup, other
environmental remediation or asbestos-related iiinesses other than claims under homeowners
insurance policies for environmentally related items such as toxic mold.




NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies-(Continued)
Insurance Premiums and Contract Charges Earned

Property and casualty insurance premiums are recognized as revenue ratably over the
related contract periods in proporticn to the risks insured. The unexpired portions of these
property and casualty premiums are recorded as unearned premiums, using the monthly pro
rata method.

Premiums and contract charges for interest-sensitive life and annuity contracts consist of
charges for the cost of insurance, policy administration and withdrawals. Premiums for long-
term traditicnal life policies are recognized as revenues when due over the premium-paying
period. Annuity and interest-sensitive life contract deposits represent funds deposited by
policyholders and are not included in the Company's premiums or contract charges earned.

Stock Based Compensation

The Company grants stock options to executive cfficers, other employees and directors.
The exercise price of the option is equal to the fair market value of the Company’s common
stock on the date of grant. Additional information regarding the Company's stock-based
compensaticn plans is contained in Note 6 - Shareholders’ Equity and Stock Opticns. The
Company accounis for stock option grants using the intrinsic value based method in
accordance with Accounting Principles Board ("APB") Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock
[ssued to Employees,” and accordingly, recognizes nc compensation expense for the stock
opticn grants.

Alternatively, SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Cecmpensation®, allows
companies to recognize compensation cost for stock-based compensation plans, determined
based on the fair value at the grant dates. I[f the Company had applied this alternative
accounting methed, net income and net income per share would have been reduced to the pro
forma amounts indicated below:

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Net income
AS TEPOMEA ..ottt er ettt an $18,975 $11,333 $25,587
Add: Stock-based compensation expense,
after tax, included in reported net income........ccoocevecvinnennnen. - - -
Deduct: Stock-based compensation expense,
after tax, determined under the fair value
based method for all awards (1) ...oeeeveiiiiiciiiiicne e, 5,368 4,437 4418
PTO FOMMIB...ieviriieissteeeies sttt ettt etae st st nsnsssssaranns $13.607 $ 6,896 $21.169
Net income per share — basic
AS 1EPOMEA ...ttt et $ 044 $ 028 $ 063
PrO fOMME..coeiiieice ettt st e reeneas $ 032 $ 0.17 $ 0.52
Net income per share - diluted
AS TEPOMEA ...ttt e st e eas et nea e b ete et et e ste e etesraeees $ 044 $ 028 $ 0863
PrO FOMME....oecvcieiee ettt ettt ea e et bene s $ 032 $ 0.7 $ 052

(1) The fair value of each option grant was estimated on the date of grant using the Modified Roll-Geske option-pricing model
with the following weighted average assumptions for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively: risk-free interest rates of 3.8%,
5.2% and 5.1%; dividend yield of 3.0%, 2.0% and 2.3%; expected lives of 10 years; and volatility of 28.3%, 39.2% and
46.0%.
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NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies-(Continued)

Income Taxes

The Company uses the liability method for calculating deferred federal income taxes.
Income tax provisions are generally based on income reported for financial statement
purposes. The provisions for federal income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001 include amounis currently payable and deferred income taxes resulting from
the cumulative differences in the Company's asseis and liabilities, determined on a tax return
versus financial statement basis.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities include provisions for unrealized investment gains and
losses as well as the minimum pension liability adjustment with the changes for each pericd
included in the respective components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in
shareholders’ equity.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed based on the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per share is computed based on the weighted
average number of common shares and common stock equivaients outstanding, to the exient
dilutive. The common stock equivalents relate to outstanding common stock options, Director
Steck Plan units and Employee Stock Plan units. The Company's Senior Convertible Notes,
while potentially dilutive, are not common stock equivalents.

The computations of net income per share on both basic and diluted bases, including
reconciliations of the numerators and denominators, were as follows:

Year Ended December 39,

2003 2002 2001
Basic - assumes no dilution:
Net income for the period ... $18,975 $11.333 $25.587
Weighted average number of common
shares outstanding during the period (in thousands)................ 42,713 40,941 40,617
Netincome per share - DasiC.......cococvvve e e $ 044 $ 028 $ 0.63
Diluted - assumes full dilution:
Net income for the period .......c.ccvvv e $18,975 $11,333 $25,587
Weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the period (in thousands) .......cc.ccccvvenernneen. 42,713 40,941 40,647
Weighted average number of common equivalent
shares to reflect the dilutive effect of common
stock equivalent securities (in thousands):
STOCK OPHONS c..veeiicrii et e 16 87 125
Common stock units related to Deferred
Equity Compensation Plan for Directors.......cocovvevveerennnnnns 148 140 1219
Common stock units related to Deferred
Compensation Plan for Employees......cccccovveevinivevcvinniennnns 27 31 14
Total common and common equivalent shares adjusted
to calculate diluted eamnings per share (in thousands) ............ 42,904 41,199 40877
Net income per share - diluted..........ccovvveriiiiiineenee e $§ 044 $§ 028 $ 063
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NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies-(Continued)

Options to purchase 4,105,920 shares of common stock at $14.78 to $33.87 per share
were granted in 1997 through 2003 but were not included in the computation of 2003 diluted
earnings per share because the opticns’ exercise price was greater than the average market
price of the common shares during 2003. The options, which expire in 2007 through 2013,
were still outstanding at December 31, 2003.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income represents the change in shareholders’ equity during a reporting
period from transactiocns and other events and circumstances from non-shareholder sources.
For the Company, comprehensive income is equal to net income plus the change in net
unrealized gains and losses on fixed maturities and equity securities and the change in the
minimum pensicon liability adjustment for the period as shown in the Statement of Changes in
Shareholders’ Equity.

The components of comprehensive income were as follows:

Year Ended December 39,

2003 2002 2001
NELINCOME ..ottt e rtae e e e e neenneans $18.975 11,333 25,587
Other comprehensive income {loss}:
Change in net unrealized gains (losses) on fixed
maturities and equity securities
Unrealized holding gains on fixed maturities
and equity securities arising during period.............ccovverenen. 27,027 34,441 32,337
Less: reclassification adjustment for gains
(losses) included in Net INCOME .....covvvieeveeeie e, 25,425 (48,991) (14.392)
Total, DEfOre taX.....cvvie ittt ee s 1,602 83,432 46,729
INCOME taX EXPENSE....ctviiviiiereiiiireeieee e streere e e e 561 29,201 16,355
Total, Net 0f 18X v 1,041 54,231 30,374
(Increase) decrease in minimum
pension liability adjustment
Before taX . ..ottt e 22 (8,965) (16,156)
Income tax expense (Denafit) .....c...oecevrenevieneninreninrecenennns 9 (3,138) _(5,655)
Total, NEt OF tA@X .....oii e et ee s i3 (5,827) (10,501}
Total comprehensive INCOME.........ccceriiiinneniiieinne $20.029 $59.737 $45.,460

Statements of Cash Flows

For purposes of the Statements of Cash Flows, cash constitutes cash on deposit at
banks.

Reclassification

The Company has reclassified the presentation of certain prior period informaticn to
conform with the 2003 presentation.




NOTE 2 - Restructuring Charges

Restructuring charges, as described below, were incurred and separately identified in the
Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000.

The Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2003 and 2002 did not
reflect any accrued amounts due to the restructuring of its Massachusetts automobile business
recorded in 2001. The following table provides information about the components of the other
charges taken in 2002, 2001 and 2000, the balance of accrued amounts at December 31,
2003 and 2002, and payment activity during the year ended December 31, 2003. The
adjustments recorded in 2003 reflect final resolution of the printing services, group insurance
and credit union marketing operations restructures as well as additional data regarding the
restructure of the property and casualty claims operations.

Qriginal Reserve at Reserve at
Pretax December 31, December 31,
Charge 2002 Payments Adjustments 2003
Charges to earnings:
Property and Casualty
Claims Operations
Employee termination costs ........ $2,542 $1,929 $1,759 $ 56 $226
Additional defined benefit
pension plan costs.......cooveeueenn. 1,179 1,179 956 (98) 125
Termination of lease
agreements.......ccc.oecveeenrveeaenn. 502 425 209 (177) 39
Subtotal........ccceeevviniiieennnen, 4,223 3533 2,924 (219) _390
Printing Services Operations
Employee termination costs........... 409 38 40 2 -
Write-off of equipment.................... 41 - - - -
Subtotal....cccccvviiei e, 450 38 40 2 -
Group Insurance and Credit
Union Marketing Operations
Employee termination costs......... 1,827 291 100 (191) -
Termination of lease
agreements .......ooeeecininnnencnenn, 285 - - - -
Write-off of capitalized
SOfWArE.......ceevei e, 106 - - - -
O (LT SO i8 - - - -
Subtotal.....ccccviii 2,236 291 100 {191) - -
Total .o $6,909 $3.862 $3,064 $(408) $390

Restructure of Property and Casualfy Claims Operations

In July 2002, the Company recorded restructuring charges of $4,223 pretay, reflecting
the decision to restructure its property and casualty claims operations. The principal
restructuring activities included consolidating claims offices, implementing a new claims
administration system, and performing certain claims reporting and adjusting functions
internally versus utilizing external service providers.
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NOTE 2 - Restructuring Charges-(Continued)

Approximately 135 employees with management, professiocnal and clerical
responsibilities were impacted by the office consolidations. Charges for employee termination
costs represent severance, vacaticn buy-out and related payroll taxes. The impact of
accelerated retirements on the Company's defined benefit pension plan has been included in
the restructuring charge. Termination cf lease agreements represented office space for each
of the previous claims cffice locations.

Massachusetts Automobile Business

In October 2001, the Company recorded restructuring charges of $7,290 pretax
reflecting a change in the Company's strategic direction in the Massachusetts autocmobile
market. On October 18, 2001, Horace Mann announced that it had formed a marketing
alliance with an unaffiliated company, The Commerce Group, Inc. ("Commerce”), for the sale
of automebile insurance in the state of Massachusetts. Through this alliance, and by January
1, 2002, Horace Mann's agents are authorized to offer Massachusetts custcmers automobile
insurance policies written by Commerce. Horace Mann agents continue fo write the
Company's cother preducts in Massachusetts, including retirement annuities and property and
life insurance.

Horace Mann ceased writing automobile insurance policies in Massachusetts by
December 31, 2001, and on Cctober 18, 2001 paid $8,438 to the Commonwealth Automcbile
Reinsurers ("C.A.R.") as full payment of its proportionate liability to C.A.R. for pclicy years
2002 and beyond. The Company aiso paid legal and other related consulting costs totaling
$508 pretax. The remaining $346 was attributable primarily to the write-off of software used
only to process Massachusells autcmobile business. All of the costs related to this
restructuring were paid as of December 31, 2001, and consequently the Company's
Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2001 did not reflect any accrued amounts due to
the restructure cf its Massachusetts autcmobile business.

Printing Services, Group Insurance and Credit Union Marketing Operations

in November 2001, the Company recorded restructuring charges of $450 pretax
reflecting the decisicn to close its on site printing services operations based on a cost benefit
analysis. Employee termination costs, for termination of 13 individuals by December 31, 2001,
which represented severance, vacation buy-out and related payroll taxes, comprised $409 of
the total charge. The eliminated positions encompassed management, technical and clerical
| responsibilities. The remaining $41 of charges was atiributable primarily to the write-off of
equipment related to this function.

In December 2000, the Company recorded restructuring charges of $2,236 pretax
reflecting twe changes in the Company's operations. Specifically, the Company restructured
the operations of its group insurance business, thereby eliminating 39 jobs, and ils credit union
marketing group, eliminating 20 additional positions. Employee terminatiocn costs, for
termination of approximately 50 individuals, represented severance, vacation buy-out and
related payroll taxes. The eliminated positions encempassed management, professional and
clerical responsibilities. Termination of lease agreements represented cffice space used by
the credit union marketing group. The remaining charge was attributable primarily to the
write-off of software related to these two areas.
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NOTE 3 - Investments
Net investment Income

The components of net investment income for the following periods were:

Year Ended Decomber 31,

2003 2002 2001
Fixed MBLUMHES .ovoivvicerre e e s esae e ses e senesn s enavn e $181,716 $192,077 $192,547
Short-term and other iINVesIMEents .........ococevicenienceiceciee e, 7,059 7,650 10,348
Total iInvestment iINCOME........ooiviirn e s 188,775 199,727 202,893
Less investment @XDENSES .......cceevceireereecre e ernereeseesre e esen s 4,050 3,679 3626
Net investment INCOME ... §184.725 $196,048 $199 267

Realized investment Gains (Losses)

Reazlized investment gains (losses) for the following periods were:

Year Ended December 31

2003 2002 2001
FiX@O MAaLUMtIES ...veovvveevierereiririrerrtere s saeeereneseesesseseetsressearerenss $ 21,753 $ (48,925) $(14,371)
Short-term and other INVestMents ..........cccvcrvreerienceneene e 3,734 (482) 4,352
Realized investment gains (108888) ..o § 25487 $(49.407) $(10.019)

Fixed Maturity Securities

At December 31, 2003, the fair value and gross unrealized losses of investments in debt
securities segregated between securities having an unrealized loss for less than 12 months
and securities having an unrealized loss for 12 months or longer were as follows:

Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized

Falr Value Losges Fair Yalue Losses Fair Value Loggeg
As of December 31, 2003
U.S. government and

agency obligations

Mortgage-backed securities............. $ 63,308 $1,672 $ - $ - $ 63,308 $ 1,672

(0 {1 IO 75,160 1,280 - - 75,160 1,280
Municipal BONAS.........ccvvveercreeierereriennnns 94,418 2,133 - - 94,418 2,133
Foreign government bonds.......cooevvvin 3,715 329 - - 3,715 328
Corporate DONGS ......c.oecvvvrerveesrernerineinees 188,105 3,741 18,581 740 206,686 4,481
Other mortgage-backed securities.......... 24,528 550 4,683 371 29,211 921
TOAIS ...t $449 235 $9.705 $23.264 $4.149 $472499  $£10816
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NOTE 3 - investments-{Continued)

At December 31, 2003, the gross unrealized loss position in the investment porifolic was
$10,816 (113 positions and less than 0.5% of the investment portfolic). There were nc
securities trading below 80% of amortized cost. Securities with an investment grade rating
represented 88% of the unrealized loss. The largest single unrealized loss was $809 cn a
iong-term U.S. treasury bond purchased in June 2003 when interest rates hit 40 year lows.
The maejority of the unrealized losses were due fo changes in interest rates. The porifolio
included 11 securities that have been in an unrealized loss position for greater than 12 months,
totaling $1,111. Securities issued by Royal Caribbean, Green Tree Financial, Scuthern
Natural Gas, Sutton Bridge and CSAM Funding CDO represented $1,088 of the total. The
Company views the decrease in value of all of the securities with unrealized Icsses at
December 31, 2003 as temporary, expects recovery in fair value, anticipates continued
payments under the terms of the securities, and has the intent and ability ¢ hold these
securities until maturity or a recovery in fair value occurs. Therefore, no impairment of these
securities was recorded at December 31, 2003.

The amortized cost, unrealized investment gains and losses, and fair values of
investments in debt securities as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 were as follows:

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Cains Losses Value
As of December 31, 2003

U.S. government and agency obligations
Mortgage-backed securities ........cccooovveereerrenrene, $ 647,746 $ 14,076 $ 1,672 $ 660,150
L@ (L= T OUPUTURUPUOON 295,629 6,563 1,280 300,912
MUNICIPal bONGS ... e 488,081 16,964 2,133 502,912
Foreign government bonds.........ccccvvevvririeniicinnneeenns 33,134 3,389 329 36,194
Corporate bonds..........ccceeeecereenrieninne e 1,553,959 98,878 4,481 1,648,356
Other mortgage-backed securities.........c.ccoveviinieenns 106,312 4,759 921 110,150
TOtAIS ..ot $3,124,861 $144.629 $10.816 $3,258,674

As of December 31, 2002

U.S. government and agency obligations
Mortgage-backed securities.............ccocerveerveaiinrnennn, $ 645787 $ 28,253 $ - $ 674,040
L0 {3 Y- U USSP 129,584 7.219 - 137,503
MUnicipal bONAS....c.oovviiiii e 358,636 19,283 455 377,464
Foreign government bonds.........c.ccocvvvererevncvenee e 13,131 2,845 - 15,976
Corporate DONAS......c.ovceviviin et 1,498,481 94,192 23,266 1,568,407
Other mortgage-backed securities.........ccccceevrirveeen, 213,388 6.569 3,182 216,805
TOMAIS et e $2.859,007 $155.061 $26.873 $2,991,185

The Company's investment portfolic includes no derivative financial instruments (futures,
forwards, swaps, option contracts or other financial instruments with similar characteristics).
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NOTE 3 - Investments-(Continued)
Maturities/Sales Of Investments

The amortized cost and fair value of fixed maturity securities at December 31, 2003, by
estimated expected maturity, are shown below. Estimated expected maturities differ from
contractual maturities reflecting assumptions regarding borrowers' utilization of the right tc call
or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.

Percent of
Amortized Fair Total Fair
Cost Yalue Value
DUE IN T YEA OF 18SS....ciiviicieie et ctccte ettt e $ 231,759 § 241,683 7.4%
Due after 1 year through 5 years..........c.ccoovvvcenrnrnnecccciecincnne, 682,752 711,989 21.9
Due after 5 years through 10 years .........ccccevceevvecnniriicncenennn, 1,291,604 1,346,914 41.3
Due after 10 years through 20 years ........cccoecevvvvvvereecicrenrennn, 279,656 291,831 8.9
Due after 20 years..........oceiiciicciin e 639,090 666,457 20.5
TOtaL e e e s 83,124,861  $3,258.674 100.0%

Proceeds from sales/maturities of fixed maturities and gross gains and gross losses
realized for each year were:

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
ProCEEAS ...t $1,483,614 $1,391,402 $1,015,229
Gross gains realized............coovovveiiiii e 50,907 40,402 16,945
Gross 108585 realized .........ocvvvieiiirrecie e (12,903) (35,551) (31,316)

Unrealized Gains (Losses) on Fixed Maturifies

Net unrealized gains (iosses) are compuied as the difference between fair value and
amortized cost for fixed maturities. A summary of the net increase (decrease) in unrealized
investment gains (losses) on fixed maturities, less applicable income taxes, is as foilows:

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 20019

Unrealized gains (losses) on fixed maturities

Beginning of period.........cccco e $ 132,188 $ 43,036 $(7,418)

ENd OF PEHOT ....ocieeceiireeceeete et er e et eee s bn e 133,813 132,188 43,036

Increase for the period.........cccoveei e 1,625 89,152 50,454

INCOME FAXES .eivveieiiriierreeeieereiecsrer e stbe s st e e st e earesbeessbesaaessaee e 569 31,203 17,659
Increase in net unrealized gains {losses)

on fixed maturities before the valuation impact

on deferred policy acquisition costs and value

of acquired insurance iN force.........cceovnviniieniininnien $ 1,056 $ 57,949 $32,795
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NOTE 3 - Investments-(Continued)
Securities Lending

The Company loans fixed income securities to third parties, primarily major brokerage
firms. As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, fixed maturities with a fair value of $22,147 and
$3,937, respectively, were on loan. Loans of securities are required at all times to be secured
by collateral from borrowers at least equal to 100% of the market value of the securities
loaned. The Company maintains effective control over the loaned securities and therefore
reports them as Fixed Maturity Securities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. SFAS No. 125,
“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishment of Liabilities”,
as amended by SFAS No. 140, "Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets
and Extinguishment of Liabilities”, requires the securities lending collateral to be classified as
investments with a corresponding liability in the Company’s Consclidated Balance Sheets.

Investment in Entities Exceeding 10% of Shareholders’ Equily
Al December 31, 2003 and 2002, there were no investments which exceeded 10% of
total shareholders' equity in entities cther than obligations of the U.S. Government and
gevernment agencies and authorities.
Deposits
Af December 31, 2003, securities with a carrying value of $17,173 were on deposit with

governmental agencies as required by law in various states in which the insurance subsidiaries
of HMEC conduct business.
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NOTE 4 - Property and Casually Unpaid Claims and Claim Expenses

The following table sets forth an analysis of property and casualty unpaid claims and
claim expenses and provides a reconciliation of beginning and ending reserves for the periods
indicated.

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Gross reserves, beginning of Year..........cc.ccoeevveeiv e eiis e $317,321 $306,141 $298,896
Less reinsurance recoverables.........cocvovcvereiiiiieiiiic e 44 701 34,104 49,056
Net reserves, beginning of year...........c.ocoveeeiveeccee e, 272,620 272,037 249840

Incurred claims and claim expenses:
Claims occurring in the current year ..o 416,473 387,747 416,770
Increase (decrease) in estimated reserves for
claims occurring in prior years (1):

Policies written by the Company (2) ........cccoovviveeririnecrnn. 58,270 22,295 14,574
Business assumed from state
reinsurance facilities ...........occccvviccnii e (1,900) 1,700 2,000
Total INCIEASE ..t 56,370 23,995 16,574
Total claims and claim expenses incurred (2)(3) ................. 472,843 411,742 433,344

Claims and claim expense payments
for claims occurring during:

CUITENE YA ... e oiiee ettt 239,950 244 386 255,939
PLOM YBATS ..eiiviiiitie ettt stas e e stee e e rre e 184,632 166,763 155,208
Total claims and claim expense paymemts........c.cceeeeeiirnen. 424,582 411,159 411,147

Net reserves, end of period ........c.cccevviinrie e 320,881 272,620 272,037
Plus reinsurance recoverables.......cooiviveeeniieennn e 20615 44,701 34,104
Gross reserves, end of period (4) ..o, $341,496 $317,321 $306.141

(1) Shows the amounts by which the Company increased or decreased its reserves in each of the periods indicated for claims
occurring in previous periods to reflect subsequent information on such claims and changes in their projected final
settlement costs. Also refer to the paragraphs below for additional information regarding the increases in reserves
recorded in 2003, 2002 and 2001.

{(2) For the year ended December 31, 2002, these amounts included a $1,581 statutory accounting charge for class action
litigation which was separately reported as Litigation Charges in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations.

(3) Benefits, claims and settlement expenses as reported in the Consolidated Statements of Operations also include life,
annuity, group accident and health and corporate amounts of $46,135, $40,705 and $42,239 for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, in addition to the property and casualty amounts.

(4) Unpaid claims and claim expenses as reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets also include life, annuity, and group
accident and health reserves of $9,005, $9,254 and $8,154 at December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, in
addition to property and casualty reserves.

Underwriting results of the property and casualty segment are significantly influenced by
estimates of the Company's ultimate liability for insured events. There is a high degree of
uncertainty inherent in the estimates of ultimate losses underlying the liability for unpaid claims
and claim expenses. This inherent uncertainty is particulariy significant for liability-related
exposures due to the extended period, often many years, that transpires between a loss event,
receipt of related claims data from policyholders and ultimate settlement of the claim.
Reserves for property and casualty claims include provisions for payments tc be made on
reported claims, claims incurred but not vet reported and associated settlement expenses.
The process by which these reserves are established requires reliance upon estimates based
on known facts and on interpretations of circumstances, including the Company's experience
with similar cases and historical trends involving claim payment patterns, claim payments,
pending levels of unpaid claims and product mix, as well as other factors including court
decisions, economic conditions and public attitudes. The Company continually updates loss
estimates using both quantitative information from ils reserving actuaries and gqualitative
information derived from other scurces. Adjustments may be required as information develops
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NOTE 4 - Property and Casualty Unpaid Claims and Claim Expenses-(Continued)

which varies from experience, or, in some cases, augments data which previously were not
considered sufficient for use in determining liabilities. The effects of these adjustments may be
significant and are charged or credited to income for the period in which the adjustments are
made.

Excluding involuntary business, net adverse deveiopment of reserves for property and
casualty claims occurring in prior years was $58,270 for the full year 2003, primarily related to
automobile liability loss reserves from the 2001 and 2002 accident years, compared to adverse
reserve development of $22,295 in 2002 which was primarily related to (1) automobile loss
reserves from accident years 2001 and years prior to 1897 and (2) loss adjustment expense
reserves from the 2001 and 2000 accident years for both automobile and homeowners.
Adverse development recorded in 2002 alsc included $1,581 due tc a provisicn for the costs of
resolving class action lawsuits related to diminished value brought against the Company. Net
adverse development of total reserves for property and casualty claims occurring in prior
years, including involuntary business, was $56,370 in 2003, $23,995 in 2002 and $16,574 in
2001. The Company's property and casualty reserves were $320,881 and $272,620 at
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, net of anticipated reinsurance recoverables.

The Company completes a detailed study of property and casualty reserves based on
information available at the end of each quarter and year. Trends of reported losses (paid
amounts and case reserves on claims reported to the Company) for each accident year are
reviewed and ultimate loss costs for those accident years are estimated. The Company
engages an independent property and casualty actuarial consulting firm to prepare an
independent study of the Company's property and casuaity reserves twice a year - at June 30
and December 31.

During 2002 and 2003, the Company made changes in its property and casuaity claims
function including hiring of new management and claim adjusters (new hires represented over
half of the Company’s 300 claims employees at December 31, 2003), implementing improved
processes, and consclidating the previcus 17 branch offices into 6 regional claims offices,
which began in late-November 2002 and was completed in the first quarter of 2003.
Installation and implementation of the new claims administration system, including related
process changes, occurred in the third and fourth quarters of 2003 in the first two claims
offices with the remaining four offices planned for the first half of 2004.

As part of the claims operation redesign effort, open claim files -- particularly for
automobile liabiiity claims -- were reviewed by the new team. [n the first half of 2003, these
reassessments resulted in a higher projected ultimate liability for automobile liability claims
from accident years 2001, 2000 and 1999 and prior. The high evel of property and casualty
paid and case reserve activity on older bedily injury claims that was cbserved in the second
quarter of 2003 continued in the third quarter as the Company's new claims organization
intensified their efforts to bring older claims files up to date. Furthermore, the acceleration of
claim dispesition rates extended into the third quarter, as the new organization aiso moved to
recuce the backiog of older claims and handle current claims on a timely basis. As a result,
the estimation of claims costs, settlement rates and severity has been complicated in recent
quarters due to the degree of change involved.
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NOTE 4 - Property and Casualty Unpald Claims and Claim Expenses-(Continued)

As a result of the factors above, and in light of the pattern of adverse prior years' reserve
development observed over the five quarters ended September 30, 2003, at the end of the
third quarter, the Company's management retained an independent property and casualty
actuarial and claims consulting firm to conduct a detailed review of the Company’s claims
handling practices and their integration with the Company's reserving practices. The
consultant's claims and actuarial specialists reviewed claim files as well as past and current
claims handling processes and procedures, inciuding case reserving practices, in each of the
Company's six claims offices. They also performed an assessment of the Company’s actuarial
processes for establishing IBNR and supplemental reserves.

The Company's December 31, 2003 actuarial analysis and reserve estimates
incorporated the observations of the consuitant's claims and reserving practices review. The
low and high end of a reasonable range of reserve estimates for all of the Company’s
coverages indicated net claim reserve levels of $286,000 and $338,000, respectively. In
recording the December 31, 2003 net reserves of $320,881, the Company assessed the
relative weight given to emerging claim trends resulting from recent business process
changes, pricing and claims handling. Based upon this analysis, the Company selected a
higher point in the range for reserves related to the automobiie liabiiity coverages.




NOTE 4 - Property and Casualty Unpaid Claims and Claim Expenses-{Continued)

During 2000, the Company noted increases in paid severities in excess of the original
expectations in its direct voluntary automobile line of business. As a result, the Company
continued to monitor such severity trends until such time as the Company believed that they
were sufficiently credible to reguire adjustment to the Company's claim and claim expense
reserve projections. Accordingly, the Company revised its projections in the fourth quarter of
2000 to give greater weight to the increasing trend of claim severities.

In 2001, the Company refined its claim reserving methodologies and trend analyses
including more detailed analyses of subrogation recovery activity on business ceded to the
state automobile insurance facility in Massachusetts. The nature of the adverse trends in the
second and fourth quarters of 2001 that caused the Company to increase reserves consisted
primarily of the following: (1) an increase in the frequency and severily of educators excess
professional liability claims; (2) the utilization of selected ultimate subrogation recoverables
that were not trending with actual recoveries; and (3) the utilization of selected ultimate loss
ratios in establishing reserves for ceded voluntary automobile excess liability claims and ceded
Massachusetis involuntary automobile reserves that were not trending with actual results.

In the third quarter of 2002, the Company increased its reserves for prior accident years
erimarily related to allocated claim adjustment expenses for the voluntary autcmobile and
homeowners lines and claims for the educator excess prcofessional liability product. The
Company had noted increases in paid claims and claim expenses for prior accident years in
these lines during the first and second quarters of 2002 and continued to monitor such adverse
trends until such time as the Company believed that they were sufficiently credible to require
adjustment of the reserves. As a result, the Company revised its loss projections in the third
guarter of 2002, incorporating the higher paid claims and claim expense trends.
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NOTE 4 - Property and Casualty Unpaid Claims and Claim Expenses-(Continued)

In the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company increased its reserves for prior accident years
related primarity to (1) automobile claim reserves from accident years 2001, 2000 and years
prior to 1997 and (2) allocated and unallocated claim expense reserves from the 2001 accident
year for both automobile and homeowners. During the third and fourth quarters of 2002, the
Company continued to closely monitor emerging trends in (1) the severity of payments on
previously reported losses for voluntary automobile and (2) paid claims adjustment expenses
for these prior accident years until such time as the Company believed that the trends were
sufficiently credible to require adjustment of the reserves. As a result, the Company revised its
projections in the fourth quarter of 2002, incorperating the higher paid claims and claim
expense frends.

As the Company's claims operation redesign efforts progressed during 2003, the
elevated level of claim payments and case reserve activity related to prior accident years
continued. Consequently, the Company revised its loss projections throughout 2003, most
notably in the third quarter, as greater relative weight was given to the emerging claim trends.

At the time each of the reserve analyses were performed, the Company believed that
each estimate was based upon sound and correct methodology and such methodology was
appropriately applied and that there were no trends which indicated the likelihood of future
adverse develcpment. The financial impact of the net reserve strengthening was therefore
accounted for in the period that the change was determined.

No other unusual adjustments were made in the determination of the liabilities during the
periods covered by these financial statements. Management believes that, based on data
currently available, it has reasonably estimated the Company's ultimate losses.

NOTE 5 - Debt

indebtedness and scheduled maturities at December 31, 2003 and 2002 consisted of the
following:

Effective
interest Final December 31,
Rates iMaturity 2003 2002
Short-term debt:
Bank Credit Facility........ccoeevvuevveenrieriicieeeeereseiesene e Variable 2005 $ 25,000 $ -
Long-term debt:
1.425% Senior Convertible Notes, Face amount
less unaccrued discount of $128,362 .........cccceveuene. 3.0% 2032 116,138 116,138
6 5/8% Senior Notes, Face amount less unaccrued
discount of $35 and $53, respectively.........c.cccvnnne. 6.7% 2008 28,565 28 547

TOtal et s $169.703 $144 685




NOTE 5 - Debt-(Continued)
Credit Agreement with Financial Institutions ("Bank Credit Facility”)

On May 29, 2002, the Company entered into a new Bank Credit Agreement which
provides for unsecured borrowings of up to $25,000, with a provisicn that allows the
commitment amount to be increased to $35,000 (the "Current Bank Credit Facility”). The
Current Bank Credit Facility expires on May 31, 2005. Interest accrues at varying spreads
relative to corporate or eurodollar base rates and is payable monthly or quarterly depending on
the applicable base rate (Interbank Cffering Rate plus 1.0%, or 2.2%, at December 31, 2003).
The unused portion of the Current Bank Credit Facility is subject tc a variable commitment fee,
which was 0.25% and 0.20% on an annual basis at December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

1.425% Senior Convertible Notes ("Senior Convertible Notes")

On May 14, 2002, the Company issued $353,500 aggregate principal amount of 1.425%
senior convertible notes due in 2032 at a discount of 52.5% resulting in an effective yield of
3.0%. In 2002, the Company repurchased $53,000 aggregate principal amount, $25,175
carrying value, of the outstanding Senior Convertible Notes at an aggregate cost of $22,770.
In addition to these cash transactions, in December 2002 the Company repurchased an
additional $56,000 aggregate principal amount, $26,600 carrying value, of the outstanding
Senior Convertible Notes at an aggregate cost of $25,884 in a non-cash transaction. As
consideration for this repurchase, 1,837,925 shares of HMEC's common stock were issued.

Interest on the Senior Convertible Notes is payable semi-annually at a rate of 1.425%
beginning November 14, 2002 until May 14, 2007. After that date, cash interest will not be
paid on the Senior Convertible Notes prior to maturity unless contingent cash interest becomes
payable. From May 15, 2007 through maturity of the Senior Convertibie Notes, interest will be
recognized &t the effective rate of 3.0% and will represent the accrual of discount, excluding
any contingent cash interest that may become payable. Cocntingent cash interest becomes
payable if the average market price of a Senior Convertible Note for a five trading day
measurement period preceding the applicable six-month pericd equals 120% or more of the
sum of the Senior Convertible Note's issue price, accrued original issue discount and accrued
cash interest, if any, for such Senicr Convertible Note. The contingent cash interest payabie
per Senior Convertibie Note with respect to any quarterly period within any six-month period
will equal the then applicable conversion rate multiplied by the greater of (i) $0.105 or (ii) any
regular cash dividends paid by the Company per share on HMEC's common steck curing that
quarterly pericd.
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NOTE § - Debt-(Continued)

The Senior Convertibie Notes will be convertible at the option of the holders into shares
of HMEC's common stock at a conversion price of $26.74 if the conditions for conversion are
satisfied. Holders may also surrender Senior Convertible Notes for conversion during any
period in which the credit rating assigned to the Senior Convertible Notes is Ba2 or lower by
Mocdy's or BB+ or lower by S&P, the Senior Convertibie Notes are no longer rated by either
Moody's or S&P, or the credit rating assigned to the Senior Convertible Notes has been
suspended or withdrawn by either Moody's or S&P. The Senicr Convertible Notes wili cease
tc be convertible pursuant to this credit rating criteria during any period or periods in which all
of the credit ratings are increased above such levels. The Senior Convertible Noies are
redeemable by HMEC in whole or in part, at any time on or after May 14, 2007, at redemption
prices equal to the sum of the issue price plus accrued original issue discount and accrued
cash interest, if any, on the applicable redemption date. The hciders of the Senior Convertible
Notes may require HMEC to purchase ail or a porticn of their Senior Convertible Notes on
either May 14, 2007, 2012, 2017, 2022, or 2027 at stated prices plus accrued cash interest, if
any, to the purchase date. HMEC may pay the purchase price in cash or shares of HMEC
common stock or in 2 combination of cash and shares of HMEC common stock.

6 5/8% Senior Notes ("Senior Notes™)

Cn January 17, 1998, the Company issued $100,000 face amount of Senior Notes at an
effective yield of 6.7%, which will mature on January 15, 2006. Interest on the Senior Notes is
payable semi-annually at a rate of 6 5/8%. The Senior Notes are redeemable in whole or in
part, at any time, at the Company’s option, at a redemption price equal to the greater of (1)
100% of their principal amount and (2) the sum of the present velues of the remaining
scheduled payments of principal and interest thereon discounted, on a semi-annual basis, at
the Treasury vield (as defined in the indenture) plus 15 basis points, together with accrued
interest to the date of redemption.

in 2002, the Company repurchased $71,400 aggregate principal amount of its
cutstanding Senior Notes utilizing a pertion of the proceeds frem the issuance of the Senior
Convertible Notes, as described above. The aggregate cost of the repurchases was $74,650.

Universal Shelf Registration

To provide additional capital management flexibility, the Company filed a “universal
sheif’ registration on Form S-3 with the SEC in December 20C3. The registration statement,
which registers the offer and sale by the Company from time to time of up to $300,000 of
various securities, which may include debt securities, preferred stock, common stock and/or
depositary shares, was declared effective on December 30, 2003. No securities associated
with the registration statement have been issued as of the date of this Report on Form 10-K,

Debt Retirement Charges

The repurchases of the Senior Convertible Notes and Senior Notes resuited in a pretax
charge fo income for the year ended December 31, 2002 of $2,272.




NOTE 5 - Debt<{Continued)
Covenants

The Company is in compliance with all of the covenants contained in the Senior
Convertible Notes indenture, the Senior Notes indenture and the Bank Credit Facility
Agreement, consisting primarily of relationships of (1) debt to capital and (2) insurance
subsidiaries’ earnings to future interest charges.

NOTE 6 - Shareholders’ Eguity and Stock Options
Share Repurchase Program and Treasury Shares Held

At December 31, 2001, the Company held 19,341,296 shares in treasury. In December
2002, the Company issued 1,837,925 of the treasury shares as consideration for the
repurchase of a portion of its outstanding Senior Convertible Notes. At December 31, 2003,
the Company held 17,503,371 shares in treasury. As of December 31, 2003, $96,343
remained authorized for future share repurchases.

Authorization of Preferred Stock

in 1996, the shareholders of HMEC approved authorization of 1,000,000 shares of
$0.001 par value preferred stock. The Board of Directors is authorized to (1) direct the
issuance of the preferred stock in one or more series, (2) fix the dividend rate, conversion or
exchange rights, redemption price and liquidation preference, of any series of the preferred
stock, (3) fix the number of shares for any series and (4) increase or decrease the number of
shares of any series. No shares of preferred stock were outstanding at December 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001.

The Company's catastrophe reinsurance program is augmented by a $75,000 equity put
and reinsurance agreement. The equity put provides an option to sell shares of the
Company's convertible preferred stock with a floating rate dividend at a pre-negotiated price in
the event losses from catastrophes exceed the catastrophe reinsurance program coverage
limit. Before tax benefits, the equity put provides a source of capital for up to $115,000 of
catastrophe losses above the reinsurance coverage limit. The agreement contains certain
conditions fo Horace Mann's exercise of the equity put option as disclosed in Note 19 -
Reinsurance. Fees related to this equity put option totaled $1,088 for the year ended
December 31, 2003 and were charged directly {o additional paid-in capital.
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NOTE ¢ - Sharcholders’ Equity and Stock Options-(Continued)

in connection with the equity put described in the preceding paragraph, the Board of
Directors has designated a series of preferred stock to be available for use in the put. The
Series so designated is Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock (the "Series A
Stock”) and 100,000 shares have been assigned to this series. None of these shares are
currently issued or outstanding. The Series A Stock is dividend paying, at a floating rate which
varies with movements in the London Interbank Cffered Rate and with changes in the risk
rating of the Series A Stock as determined by Standard & Poor's Corporation. The Series A
Stock does not require any sinking fund or similar mechanism regarding payment of such
dividends. Beginning on the fourth anniversary of the issuance of Series A Stock, the holders
thereof have the right to demand conversion of the Series A Stock into common stock of the
Company at a conversion rate based on then prevailing market prices for the common stock;
however, upon receipt of a conversion demand, the Company has the right to redeem the
Series A Stock prior to such conversion. The Series A Stock has liquidation rights which place
the Series A Stock ahead of the common stock in pricrity. The Series A Stock has no voting
rights other than the requirement that the Series A Stock approve any changes in the Series A
Stock, the creation of any cther class of stock on a par with or superior to the Series A Stock
and certain extraordinary transactions such as certain mergers involving the Company.

Director Stock Plan

In 1996, the shareholders of HMEC approved the Deferred Equity Compensation Plan
("Director Steck Plan™) for directors of the Company and reserved 600,000 shares for issuance
pursuant to the Director Stock Plan. Shares of the Company's common stock issued under the
Birector Stock Plan may be either authorized and unissued shares or shares that have been
reacquired by the Company. As of December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, 147,529, 139,867 and
121,322 units, respectively, were outstanding under this plan representing an equal number of
common shares to be issued in the future.

Employee Stock Plan

In 1887, the Board of Directors of HMEC approved the Deferred Compensation Pian for
Employees ("Employee Stock Plan™). Shares of the Company’'s commen stock issued under
the Employee Stock Plan may be either authorized and unissued shares or shares that have
been reacquired by the Company. As of December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, 27,231, 30,585
and 14,303 units, respectively, were cutstanding under this plan representing an equal number
of common shares to be issued in the future.

Stock Options

The shareholders of HMEC approved the 1981 Stock Incentive Plan (the "1891 Plan”),
the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2001 Plan™) and the 2002 incentive Compensation Plan
(the "2002 Plan") and reserved a total of 9,000,000 shares of common stock for issuance
under these plans. Under the 1881 Plan, the 2001 Plan and the 2002 Plan, opticns fo
purchase shares of HMEC common stock may be granted to executive officers, other
employees and directors. The options are exercisable in installments generally beginning in
the first year from the date of grant and generally expiring 10 years from the date of grant.




NOTE 6 - Shareholders’ Equity and Stock Options-{Continued)

Changes in outstanding options and shares available for grant under the 1991 Plan, the
2001 Plan and the 2002 Plan were as follows:

Weighted Average Range of Options

Option Price Option Prices Vested and Available

per Share per Share Cutstanding Exercisable for Grant

At December 31, 2000.......... $18.98 $ 9.00-$33.87 2,736,725 903,802 1,307.412
Granted ........ccocoeviriainnann. $18.22 $16.83-321.77 1,020,050 271,775 (1,020,050)
Vested.....oocooeeeeiivicnnnns $19.72 $13.84-$33.87 - 519,860 -
Exercised.........ccceeveerinnn. $10.18 $ 9.00-$17.56 (207,575) (207,575) -
Canceled .............cccoeevenn. $20.52 $15.32-$33.87 (136,950) (136,950} 136,950
At December 31, 2001.......... $19.23 $11.12-$33.87 3,412,250 1,350,912 424,312

Increase in options

available for grant............ - - 3,000,000
Granted .......ccceeevviveiie $20.72 $15.92-$21.64 1,375,950 116,944 (1,375,950)
Vested ..o $18.20 $13.84-$33.87 - 724,488 -
Exercised.......ccccecvirneennnnn $16.57 $11.13-$22.42 (107,410) (107,410) -
Canceled .....cc.coovvvvveenenne, $22.01 $15.15-$33.87 (131,370) (131,370) 131,370
At December 31, 2002.......... $19.66 $11.12-$33.87 4,549,420 1,953,564 2,179,732
Granted ......cccooeeveieieeennen, $13.95 $13.88-$15.33 593,700 153,841 (593,700)
Vested ... $18.80 $14.78-$33.87 - 852,582 -
Canceled........cooee v, $19.42 $13.88-$33.87 (473.150) (473,150) 473,150
At December 31, 2003.......... $18.96 $11.12-$33.87 4,669.970 2,486,837 2,059,182

The weighted average grant date fair values were $3.98, $8.99 and $8.55 for options
granted in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The weighted average prices of vested and
exercisable options as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 were $20.22 and $19.23, respectively.
For options outstanding at December 31, 2003, information segregated by ranges cf exercise
prices was as follows:

Vested and Exercisable Options

Weighted Weighted

Average Range of Total Average Weighted
Option Price  Option Prices Options Option Price Average

per Share per Share Qutstanding Options per share Life

At December 31, 2003

$14.35 $11.12-$16.38 749,275 265,316 $14.67 7.8 years
$19.24 $16.83-$23.31 3,750,395 2,051,221 $18.99 6.8 years
$33.05 $25.63-$33.87 170,300 170,300 $33.05 4.4 years
Total .o, $18.96 $11.12-833.87 4,669,970 2,486,837 $19.49 6.8 years
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NOTE 7 - Income Taxes

The federal income tax liabilities included in Cther Liabilities in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 were as foilows:

December 31,

2003 2002
CUITENE HADIIY ......eveve ettt vt $ 2803 $ 14,698
Deferred iability ..o e 8,426 14,761

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for all future tax consequences
attributable to "temporary differences” between the financial statement carrying amounts of
existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. There are no deferred tax
liabiiities that have not been recognized. The "temporary differences” that give rise to the
deferred tax balances at December 31, 2003 and 2002 were as foliows:

December 31,

2003 2002
Deferred tax assets

Discounting of unpaid claims and
claim expenses tax TESEIVES ........ccoecriiricerere et $ 8,862 $ 7103
Life insurance future policy benefit reserve revaluation...........c.c..covuvrnes 29,296 26,599
Unearned premium reserve reduclion .........covvvvennrerieinnvcenneccnniennnonnnnee 13,314 12,664
Postretirement benefits other than pension ... e 10,585 10,890
Unutilized net operating loss carryforward..........occoovvvvveniiiecnnnceecvcenen 17,586 1,060
Unutilized capital loss carryforward ...........ccovviieiiiieceiee e 9,342 4,638
IMPaIred SECUNIES . ..cuvii et 3,544 17,512
Compensation acCruals ........ccccce e 6,619 5,609
North Caroling Premium ESCIOW .........vecieevierieeiiienniensen s eeeenineenvnenenns 1,715 646
L0 11T S T O O VU S UPOR 4,262 5,287
Total gross deferred tax @ssets .......cccocvvivreveviiei e 105,125 92,008

Deferred tax liabilities

Unrealized gains 0N SECUMTIES ......coovveeiieii e e 43,943 43,382
INANGIDIE ASSEIS...viii i e s 9,849 11,181
Deferred policy acquisition COSES ..........ovcvviirciiiiieniieccniiieecen e 59,759 52,206
Total gross deferred tax liabilities ........ccceeviviiee e 113,551 106,769
Net deferred tax iability .........ccocovovirenreeieerine e $ 8426 $ 14,761

Based on the Company's historical earnings, future expectations of adjusted taxable
income, as well as reversing gross deferred tax liabilities, the Company believes it is more
likely than not that gross deferred tax assets will be fully realized and that a valuation
allowance with respect to the realization of the total gross deferred {ax asseis is not necessary.

At December 31, 2003, the Company had available $50,245 (pretax) of net tax operating
loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes. These carryforwards will expire beginning
in 2016 thru 2018. In addition, the Company had available $26,694 (pretax) of capital loss
carryforwards which will expire beginning in 2006 thru 2008.

The components of federal income tax expense (benefit) were as follows:

Year Ended Becember 31

2003 2002 2001
CUITBNE (.ot e e e stne et saeeabe s sar s eaneeene $7,108 $ 29,423 $ (8,536)
Deferrad ... e (6,902) (33.091) 11,291
Total tax expense (benefit) .......c.cccvvniiininin, $ 204 $ (3.668) $ 2755




NOTE 7 - Income Taxes-{Continued)

Income tax expense for the following periods differed from the expected tax computed by
applying the federal corporate tax rate of 35% to income before income taxes as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Expected federal tax on income ..........c.cccovoveieeecin e $6,713 $ 2,683 $9,920
Add (deduct) tax effects of:

Tax-exemptinterest........ccooiici e (5,027) (3,928) (3,826)

Tax reServe release ... - - (3,034)

GOOAWIN ...ttt et - - 566

Dividend received deduction...........cooccveeniiierniiicnen e (1,918) (2,608) (904)

OHNET, NEL....ocie e e 436 185 1,302
Income tax expense (benefit) provided on income before

adjustment to the provision for prior years' taxes...........c.cc....... 204 (3,668) 4,024
Adjustment to the provision for prior years' taxes ..........ccceeve.. - - (1,269)
Income tax expense (benefit) provided on income...................... $ 204 $(3,668) $2755

As previously reported, the Company had been contesting propesed additional federal
income taxes relating to a settlement agreement with the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") for
prior years' taxes. In the third quarter of 1998, the Company recorded an additional federal
income tax provisicn of $20,000 representing the maximum exposure of the Company to the
IRS with regard tc the issue for all of the past tax years in question (1994 through 1997). In
2000, the Company reached a final resolution with the IRS for the tax years 1994, 1985 and
1996 in an amount that was $8,682 less than was previously accrued. That amount was
included in net income for the year ended December 31, 2000. In 2001, the Company's
liability for the 1997 tax year was resclved, resulting in a release of $1,269 that had previously
been accrued for that tax year. That amount was included in net income for the year ended
December 31, 2001.

NOTE 8 - Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company is required under GAAP tc disclose estimated fair values for certain
financial instruments. Fair values cf the Company's insurance contracts other than annuity
contracts are not reguired to be disclosed. However, the fair values of liabilities under all
insurance contracts are taken into consideration in the Company's overall management of
interest rate risk through the matching of investment maturities with amounts due under
insurance contracts. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
value of financial instruments.

Investments - For fixed maturities and short-term and other investments, fair value
equals quoted market price, if available. If a quoted market price is not available, fair value is
estimated using quoted market prices for similar securities, adjusted for differences between
the quoted securities and the securities being valued. The fair value of policy loans is based
on estimates using discounted cash flow analysis and current interest rates being offered for
new loans. The fair value of mortgage loans is estimated by discounting the future cash flows
using the current rates at which similar lcans would be made o borrowers with similar credit
ratings and the same remaining maturities. The carrying value of real estate is an estimate of
fair value based on discounted cash flows from operations.

F-68




NOTE 8 - Fair Value of Financial Instruments-(Continued)

Annuity Contract Liabilities and Policyholder Account Balances on Interest-sensitive Life
Contracts - The fair vaiues of annuity contract ligbilities and policyholder account balances on
interest-sensitive life contracts are equal to the discounted estimated future cash flows (using
the Company's current interest rates for similar products including consideration of minimum
guaranteed interest rates) including an adjustment for risk that the timing or amount of cash
flows will vary from management's estimate.

Cther Policyholder Funds - Other policyholder funds are liabilities related to
suppiementary contracts without life contingencies and dividend accumulations which
represent deposits that do not have defined maturities. The carrying value of these funds is
used as a reasonable estimate of fair value.

Long-term Debt - The fair value of long-term debt is estimated based on guoted market
prices of publicly traded issues.

The carrying amounts and fair values of financial instruments at December 31, 2003 and
2002 consisted of the following:

December 31,

2003 2002
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount _Value Amount Value
Financial Assets
Investments
Fixed maturities ......coovvviiiieiiicninee e $3,258,674 $3,258,674 $2,991,195 $2,991,195
Short-term and other investments........ccccceeeennn. 104,904 109,877 135,431 138,734
Short-term investments,
loaned securities collateral ............cccccovevveviennns 22,147 22,147 3.937 3.937
Total INVesStMENtS......cvveeiieiirii s 3,385,725 3,390,698 3,130,563 3,133,866
(O 11 J TSP 19,773 19,773 60,162 60,162
Financial Liabilities
Policyholder account balances on
interest-sensitive life contracts...........ccccoevevivveinns 87,249 85,302 93,435 91,359
Annuity contract liabilities .........cccccveireveininriaennnne 1,526,174 1,361,788 1,385,737 1,236,478
Other policyholder funds.........ccccieeiivniniienenneeenn 129,888 129,888 125,108 125,108
Short-term debt.....oii 25,000 25,000 - -
Long-term debt .....ccoeveviviiiiiee e 144,703 142,916 144,685 137,692

Fair value assumptions are based upon subjective estimates of market conditicns and
perceived risks of financial instruments at a certain point in time. The disclosed fair values do
not reflect any premium or discount that could result from offering for sale at one time an entire
holding of a particular financial instrument. |n addition, pctential taxes and other expenses that
would be incurred in an actual sale or settlement are not reflected in amounts disclosed.
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NOTE 9 - Statutory Surplus and Subsidiary Dividend Restrictions

The insurance departments of various states in which the insurance subsidiaries of
HMEC are domiciled recognize as net income and surplus those amounts determined in
conformity with statutory accounting principles prescribed or permitted by the insurance
departments, which differ in certain respects from GAAP.

Reconciliations of statutory capital and surplus and net income, as determined using
statutory accounting principles, to the amounts inciuded in the accompanying financial
statements are as follows:

December 31,

2003 2002
Statutory capital and surplus of insurance subsidiaries............... $ 438,856 $ 427,737
Increase (decrease) due to:
Deferred policy acquisition COStS .........cccciiivriirinniniiciennenn 193,703 174,555
Difference in policyholder resernves............c.c.ocvvvivvvvecreenverenenn. (40,600) (39,784)
GOOUAWIIE. ...ttt aeetae s 47,396 47,396
Value of acquired insurance in force...........ccooovvivivveeniveniinennnn, 27,259 31,945
Liability for postretirement benefits, other than pensions.......... (29,871} (30,253)
Investment fair value
adjustments on fixed maturities .......................covveinieeenen. 133,813 132,188
Difference in investment resernves..........cccvcvvvveeinec e 30,866 19,448
Federal income tax liability .........cccccoooeeeiiii, (43,493) (38,962)
Minimum pension liability adjustment ..............ocooorieinns (26,541) (26,563)
Non-admitted assets and other, net.........cccocoveieieiieinie, 1,733 5216
Shareholders' equity of parent company and
non-insurance subSIAHANES .......ccvcvivvvveieiii e (32,943) (29,396)
Parent company short-term and long-term debt .............c.c....... {169,703) (144,685)
Shareholders’ equity as reported herein ..o, $ 530,475 $528.842
Year Ended December 31
2003 2002 2001
Statutory net income (loss) of insurance subsidiaries.................. $ 12,616 $ (28,741) $ 15,146
Net loss of non-insurance coMPaNIes.........cccoceeeeeveeicvecineveveeenn, (4,337) (3,831) (3,313)
INtErest EXPENSE .....uviii it e (6,339) (8,517) (9,250)
Tax benefit of interest expense and other
parent company current tax adjustments...............ccccceeeviininn, (2,087) 5731 10,954
Combined net income (I0S8) ...cccvveviiiviieeiice e (147) (35,358) 13,537
Increase (decrease) due to:
Deferred policy acquisition COStS .....ovvecieviciiecii e ereeie e, 19,836 21,821 19,565
Policyholder benefits...........cccovcvviiiieie e, 126,999 (42,708) 9,513
Reserve adjustment on life reinsurance ceded.........ccccocoveunne.. (118,813) 50,000 -
Federal income tax @Xpense...........oovveeeiiieiccece e 5,101 32,859 (13,850)
Provision for prior years' taXes.......ocoevvevvvvvesviinieeeee e - - 1,269
Amortization of intangible assets...........ococoeeiiii i (5,027) (5,734) (5,774)
INVESIMENT TESEIVES ...oooviiieieiiiiei et sne e 6,446 9,009 5,425
Other adjustments, Nt .......o.cviveiiiiiiiice et (15.420) (18.556) (4,098)
Net income as reported herein ..........cccccoovveevericvieeecii e, $ 18,975 $ 11,333 $ 25587
The Company has principal insurance subsidiaries domiciled in lllinois, California and
Texas. The statutory financial statements of these subsidiaries are prepared in accordance
with accounting principles prescribed or permitted by the lllinois Department of insurance, the
Celifernia Department of Insurance and the Texas Department of Insurance, as applicable.
Prescribed statutory accounting principies include a variety of publications of the National
Association of Insurance Commissicners ("NAIC"), as well as state laws, regulations and
general administrative rules.
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NOTE 9 - Statutory Surplus and Subsidiary Dividend Restrictions-(Continued)

The Company’s insurance subsidiaries are subject to various regulatory restrictions
which limit the amount of annual dividends or other distributions, including loans or cash
advances, available to HMEC without prior approval of the insurance regulatory authorities.
The aggregate amount of dividends that may be paid by the insurance subsidiaries to HMEC
during 2004 without prior approval is approximately $43,000.

The NAIC has adopted risk-based capital guidelines to evaluate the adequacy of
statutory capital and surplus in relation to risks assumed in investments, reserving policies,
and volume and types of insurance business written. State insurance regulations prohibit
insurance companies from making any public statements or representations with regard to
their risk-based capital levels. Based on current guidelines, the risk-based capital statutory
requirements are not expected to have a negative regulatory impact on the Company's
insurance subsidiaries. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, statutory capital and surplus of each
of the Company’s insurance subsidiaries was above required levels.

On December 31, 2003, the Company's primary life insurance subsidiary, Horace Mann
Life Insurance Company ("HMLIC"), entered into a reinsurance agreement with the United
States branch of Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada (“SLACC") which replaced the 2002
agreement with Sun Life Reinsurance Company Limited ("SLRCL"), a member of the Sun Life
Financial Group. Under the terms of the December 31, 2003 agreement, which is expected to
be in place for a five year period, HMLIC ceded to SLACC, on a combination coinsurance and
modified coinsurance basis, a 75% quota share of HMLIC's in force interest-sensitive life block
of business issued prior to January 1, 2002. SLACC assumes its proportional share of all risks
attendant tc the business reinsured such as mortality, persistency and investment risk,
reducing HMLIC's liabilities under statutory accounting principles to the extent of the ceded
commission. The initial ceded commission received by HMLIC was $50,000 and resulted in a
$32,500 after-tax increase in HMLIC's statutory surplus. Subsequent growth in HMLIC's
statutory surplus is expected to be reduced by approximately $6,500 annuaily, as the
coinsurance reserve declines over the term of the agreement. Fees related to these
transactions, which are anticipated toc reduce the Company's pretax GAAP income by
approximately $1,000 in 2004, are also expected to decline over the term of the agreement.
These fransactions improved the statutory operating leverage and risk-based capitai ratio of
HMLIC in 2003 and 2002. The agreement contains a condition whereby HMLIC must maintain
an S&P financial strength rating of BBB- or higher. If this condition is not maintained for a
pericd of more than 60 consecutive days, HMLIC may recapiure the agreement without
penalty after giving 30 days written notice.

NOTE 10 - Pension Plans and Other Postretirement Benefits

Al employees of the Company are covered by a defined contribution plan and participate
in a 401(k) plan. Employees hired on or before December 31, 1998 are alsoc covered under a
defined benefit plan. In addition, certain employees participate in a supplemental defined
benefit plan or 2 supplemental defined contribution plan or both.

Under the defined contribution plan, the Company makes a contribution to each
participant's account based on compensation and years of service. Participants are 100%
vested in this plan after 5 years of service.




NOTE 10 - Pension Plans and Other Postretirement Benefits-(Continued)

All employees of the Company parlicipate in a 401(k) plan. Beginning January 1, 2002,
the Company automatically contributes 3% of eligible compensation {o each employee’s
account, which is 100% vested at the time of the contribution. In addition, each participant
may contribute up to 20% of eligible compensation into their account. Prior to December 31,
2001, the Company contributed an amount equal to 50% of the first 6% of eligible
compensation contributed by the employee, and the Company contribution vested over 5 years
at a rate of 20% per year of service.

Amounts earned under the defined benefit and supplemental defined benefit plans are
based on years of service and the highest average 36 consecutive months earnings under the
plan through March 31, 2002. Effective April 1, 2002, participants stopped accruing benefits
under the defined benefit and supplemental defined benefit plans but continue to retain the
benefits they had accrued to date. Participants are 100% vested in these plans after 5 years
of service.

The Company's policy with respect (o funding the defined benefit plan is {0 contribute
amounts which are actuarially determined tc provide the plan with sufficient assets to mest
future benefit payments consistent with the funding requirements of federal laws and
regulations. For the defined contribution, 401(k) and defined benefit plans, investments have
been set aside in a trust fund; whereas the supplemental retirement plans are non-qualified,
unfunded plans.

Total expense recorded for the defined contribution, 401(k), defined benefit and
supplemental plans was $15,347, $19,259 and $10,678 for the years ended December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Defined Contribution Plan and 401 (k) Plan

Pension benefits under the defined contribution plan were fully funded and investments
were set aside in a trust fund. None of the trust fund assets for the defined contributicn plan
have been invested in shares of HMEC’s commen stock. The 401(k) plan was fully funded
and investments were set aside through an annuity contract underwritien by the Company's
principal life insurance subsidiary. The annuity contract includes a fixed return account option
and several variable return account options, with the account cpticns selected by the individual
plan participants. One of the variable return account options invests in shares of HMEC
common stock. Contributions to employees’ accounts under the defined contribution plan and
the 401(k) plan, which were expensed in the Company's Consclidated Statements of
Operations, and total assets of the plans were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Defined contribution plan:
Contributions to employees acCounts .........occeeeceeerevrvciereeeennns $ 5,818 $ 6,254 $ 6,012
Total assets atthe end of the year.............ccocovieiivii v, 112,795 105,431 97,967
401(k) plan:
Contributions to employees acCountS........coocevevieevnnciiirinennnnn, 3,814 3,471 2,301
Total assets atthe end of the year.........cc...coooveeeei e 93,977 81,751 92,189
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NOTE 10 - Pension Plans and Other Postretirement Benefits-(Continued)
Defined Benefit Plan and Supplemental Retirement Plans

The following tables summarize both the funding status of the defined benefit and
supplemental retirement pension plans and identify the assumptions used to determine the
projected benefit obligation and the components of net pension cost for the defined benefit
plan and supplemental retirement plans for the following periods:

Supplemental
Defined Benefit Plan Retirement Plans
December 31, December 31,
2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001
Change in benefit obligation:
Projected benefit obligation
at beginning of year......c.c.cooovviiiiciinien $ 50,402 $ 50,927 $ 50,830 $ 16,014 $ 13,607 $12,191
ServiCE COST .. - 696 1,789 555 671 610
Interest CoSt. ... 3,258 3,453 3,518 1,019 907 840
Plan amendments.......cccceevvieveiinnncc, - - 980 - - (383)
Actuarial 10Ss {(gains) ...vvvvvvirver e 8,569 7,058 5,500 (103) 1,839 1,355
Benefits paid.......c.cooveveivriiinieee e (2,022) (1,484) (6,010) (1,219) (1,010} {997)
Curtailment gain .........oeveecer e - - (5,680) - - 9)
Settlements. ..o (6.946) (10.246) - - - -

Projected benefit obligation at end of year .. $53,261  $50,402 $50,927 $16,266 $16,014 $ 13,607

Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets

at beginning of year.........cccooeeeecenren. $28,105  $34,569  $ 43,401 $ -5 - 8 -
Actual return on plan assets ...............ocevee 5812 (2,644) (2,822) - - -
Employer contributions ..........cccovcveerinernnenn, 8,780 7,910 - 1,219 1,010 997
Benefits paid......cccoovevevviiinier e {2,022) (1,484) (6,010) (1,219) (1,010) (997)
Settlements......cccovivviieec e (6,946) (10,246) - - - -
Fair value of plan assets at end of year....... $33.729 $28105 $34569 § - 8 - 8 -
Funded status.......cccoovieievcniinnneee e $(19,532)  $(22,297) $(16,358) $(16,266) $(16,014)  $(13,607)
Unrecognized net actuarial 10ss ........ccccoeeennn. 22.860 22,393 14,967 3,681 4,136 2603
Accrued benefit cost included
in the Consolidated Balance Sheets............ 3,328 96 (1,391) (12,585) (11,878) (11,004)
Additional liability to recognize unfunded
accumulated benefit obligation .................... (22.860) (22,393) (14,967) (3.681) (4,170) (2,630)
Total benefit Cost....c.oivieririeiicie s $(19,532) $(22,297) $(16,358) $(16,266) $(16,048) $(13,634)

Amounts recognized in the Statements of
Financial Position consist of:

Accrued benefit Cost.......ccorvvvvervieiien, $ 3,328 $ 96  $ (1,391) $(12,585) $(11,878)  $(11,004)
Minimum liability .......oocveveiiieneniie e (22,860) (22,393) (14,967) (3,681) (4,170) (2,630)
Accumulated other
comprehensive inCOMe..........ccceeevvirenee, 22,860 22,393 14,967 3,681 4,170 2,630
Net amount recognized ...............cveue... $ 3328 § 96  $ (1.391) $(12,585) $(11.878) $(11.004)

Information for pension plans with
an accumulated benefit obligation
greater than plan assets:

Projected benefit obligation ...........ccceeinn. $ 53,261 $ 50,402 $ 50,927 $ 16,266 $ 16,014 $ 13,607
Accumulated benefit obligation................. 53,261 50,402 50,927 16,266 16,014 13,607
Fair value of plan assets.......cccccoeveinninen. 33,729 28,105 34,569 - - -
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NOTE 10 - Pension Plans and Other Postretirement Benefits-(Continued)

The increase in the Company's 2002 minimum pension liability for the defined benefit
plan of $7,426 was attributable to the following factors: (1) a decline in asset performance, (2)
an increase in the assumed frequency of lump sum elections, (3) an increase in retirement
rates and (4) a change in the discount rate from 7.00% tc 6.75%. The increase in the
Company's 2001 minimum pension liability for the defined benefit plan of $14,967 was
attributable to the following factors: (1), (2) and (3) as noted in the previcus sentence and (4) a
change in the discount rate from 7.25% to 7.00%. These increases were reccrded as charges
to a separate component of shareholders’ equity.

Supplemental

Defined Benefit Plan Retirement Plans
Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001 2003 _2002 2001
Components of net periodic pension
(income) expense:

SEIVICE COSt.vvireiieciiiiie e, $ - $ 696 $ 1,789 $ 555 $ 671 $ 610
Interest CoSt......cccvvniiiiieieceni e, 3,258 3,453 3,518 1,019 807 840
Expected return on plan assets................ (2,490) (2,798) (4,021) - - -
Armortization of prior service cost............... - - (610) - - 314
Recognized net actuarial 10SS..........ccceee.... 1,675 980 - 352 307 174
Curtailment (gain) 10SS..........ccoveeceeeeiennnnn, - - (1,614) - - 1,258
Settlement 1088 ..o vcvei e, 3,104 4,093 - - - -

Net periodic pension (income) expense ......... $5,947 $6,424 $ (938) $1,026 $1,885 $3,196

Weighted-average assumptions used to
determine expense:

Discount rate .....cooccveeeiieeceeee e 6.38% 6.81% 7.25% 6.75% 7.00% 7.25%
Expected return on plan assefs.................. 7.50% 7.81% 8.75% * * *
Annual rate of salary increase.................... * 4.00% 4.00% * 4.00% 4.00%

Weighted-average assumptions used to
determine benefit obligations
as of December 31:

Discount rate ......ccccevriivevreniieeeeninirer e, 6.25% 6.75% 7.00% 6.25% 6.75% 7.00%
Expected return on plan assets ................. 7.50% 7.50% 8.75% * * *
Annual rate of salary increase.................... * * 4.00% * * 4.00%

®

Not applicable.

The assumption for the long-term rate of return on plan assets was defermined by
considering actual investment experience during the lifetime of the plan, balanced with
reascnable expectations of future growth considering the various classes of assets and
percentage allocation for each asset class.

In 2001, HMEC's Board of Directors approved a propesal for the curtailment of the
Company's defined benefit plans. In accordance with SFAS No. 88, "Employers’ Accounting
for Settlements and Curtailments of Defined Benefit Pension Plans and for Termination of
Benefits", the curtailment gain was recognized in 2001, the period in which the pension plan
was amended.
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NOTE 10 - Pension Plans and Other Postretirement Benefits-(Continued)

The allocation by asset category of the Company's defined benefit pension plan assets
at December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 (the measurement dates) were as follows:

December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Asset category
Equity securities (1)..c.ccccovvivinnnn 71.3% 55.6% 72.2%
Debt securities .........cccoveiveiviiinnnnn 26.7 23.1 27.3
Cash and short-term investments 2.0 21.3 0.5
TORA) e e 100.0% 100.0% 100,0%

(1) None of the frust fund assets for the defined benefit pension plan have been invested in shares of HMEC’s common
stock.

In 2002, the Company adopted an investment policy for the defined benefit pension plan
that aligns the assets within the plan's trust to a 70% equity and 30% stable value funds
allocation. Management believes this allocation will produce the targeted long-term rate of
return on assets necessary for payment of future benefit obligations, while providing adequate
liguidity for payments to current beneficiaries. During 2003, assets were rebalanced to reflect
the defined benefit pension plan’s investment policy and the trustee has been directed to
review and adjust invested assets at least quarierly to maintain the target ailocaticn
percentages.

The Company expects to contribute $3,500 to the defined benefit plan and $1,200 to the
supplemental retirement plan in 2004.

Postretirement Benefits Other than Pensicns

In addition to providing pension benefits, the Cempany also provides certain health care
and life insurance benefits to retired employees and eligible dependents. Through December
31, 2000, employees with ten years of service were eligible to receive these benefits upon
retirement. Effective January 1, 2001, the eligibility requirement increased to age 55 and 20
years of service. Employees hired on or after January 1, 2001 are not eligible for
postretirement medical benefits. Effective January 1, 2004, only employees who are at least
age 50 with at least 15 years of service are eligible to participate in this program.
Postretirement benefits other than pensions of active and retired employees are accrued as
expense over the employees’ service years.
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NOTE 10 - Pension Plans and Other Postretirement Benefits-(Continued)

The following table presents the funded status of postretirement benefits other than
pensions of active and retired employees (inciuding employees on disability more than 2
years) as of December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 (the measurement dates) reconciled with
amounts recognized in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets:

December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Change in accumulated postretirement benefit obligation:
Accumulated postretirement benefit
obligation at beginning of year...........cccccvveeivivniecnic e, $ 37,087 $ 35,749 $ 30,766
Changes during fiscal year
SEIVICE COSt ..ottt 248 396 475
INtEIESt COSE..cviiiiriiiiee e e 1,972 2,231 2,285
Plan amendments .........ccccveiiiiniiiini (3,947) - -
Benefits Paid.........ccoiriiii (2,301) (1,976) (1,676)
Actuarial (Qain) [0SS ....oovevviierie e (2,822) 687 3,899
Accumulated postretirement benefit
obligation at end of YEar ........ccceveeevveveienccrerenren e $30,237 $ 37,087 $35,749
UNnfunded SEAtUS .....cc.evveveivrecivevieeetie et etcerieeveeseessees s $(30,237) $(37,087) $(35,749)
Unrecognized prior SEIVICE COSE ...uiecivieriirreiiee e (3,588) - -
Unrecognized net loss from past
experience different from that assumed..........ccccoovvviien e, 3,954 6,834 6.147
Accrued postretirement benefit cost ..., $(29.871) $(30,253) $(29,602)
Year Ended December 39,
2003 2002 2001
Compaonents of net periodic benefit cost:
SEIVICE COSE...vuviieiiiiiieiiietieti ettt ab e ettt $ 248 $ 396 $ 475
INEEIESt COSt ..ot e 1,972 2,231 2,285
Amortization of prior Service Cost ........cccovcvnniniiinnennienene (359) - -
Amortization of prior [0SSeS ........coovv i, 58 - 30
Net periodic benefit Cost.......cociviiiiiciii, § 1919 $ 2627 $ 2,790

The Company expects to contribute $2,300 {o the postretirement benefit plan in 2004.
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NOTE 10 - Pension Plans and Other Postretirement Benefits-(Continued)
Sensitivity Analysis

A one percentage point change in the assumed health care cost trend rate for each year
would change the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation as follows:

December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation
Effect of a one percentage point INCrease ..........ccccccvvvevieennnnn. $ 799 $ 904 $ 967
Effect of a one percentage point decrease ........cc.ocooeevivevereann, (710) (805) (859)
Service and interest cost components of the net
periodic postretirement benefit expense
Effect of a one percentage point increase ...........cccocvvve v, $ 54 $ 45 $ 77
Effect of a one percentage point decrease ............coceeveceeninene (48) (40) (64)
Healthcare cost trend rate assumed.........cccovevvv v, 11.0% 12.0% 6.5%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline
(ultimate trend rate) ...oooccvii e 5.5% 5.5% 5.0%
Year the rate is assumed to reach the ultimate trend rate............ 2009 2009 2004

Weighed-average assumptions used to determine benefit
obligation and net benefit cost as of December 31,
DiISCOUNE TALE .ot 6.25% 6.75% 7.00%
Expected return on plan assets ..o * * *

¥ Not applicable.

The discount rate of 6.25% at December 31, 2003 is based on the average yield for long-
term, high-grade securities available during the benefit payout period. To set its discount rate,
the Company iooks to leading indicators, including Moody's Aa long-term bond index.

The Company acknowledges the existence of the new government Medicare
Prescription Drug Program. The table above does not give consideration to this new program.
Any effects of this program on the postretirement health care plan of the Company are being
deferred while guidance is still pending on the accounting for the federal subsidy in this new
program. Guidance, when issued, could require the Company to change previously reported
information; however, the impact of this program is not expected to be material to the
Company.




NOTE 11 - Reinsurance

In the normal course of business, the Company’s insurance subsidiaries assume and
cede reinsurance with other insurers. Reinsurance is ceded primarily to limit losses from large
exposures and to permit recovery of a portion of direct losses; however, such a transfer does
not relieve the originating insurance company of contingent liability.

The Company is a national underwriter and therefore has exposure to catastrophic
iosses in certain coastal states and other regions throughout the U.S. Catastrophes can be
caused by various events including hurricanes, windstorms, earthquakes, hail, severe winter
weather and fires, and the frequency and severity of catastrophes are inherently unpredictable.
The financial impact from catastrophic losses results frem both the ftotal amount of insured
exposure in the area affected by the catastrophe as well as the severily of the event. The
Company seeks to reduce its exposure to catasirophe losses through the geographic
diversification of its insurance coverage, deductibles, maximum coverage limits, the purchase
of catastrophe reinsurance, and the purchase of a catastrophe-linked equity put option and
reinsurance agreement, described below.

The total amounts of reinsurance recoverable on unpaid insurance reserves classified as
assets and reported in Other Assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets were as follows:

December 31,

2003 2002
Reinsurance Recoverables on Reserves and Unpaid Claims
Life and health ... e $ 8,161 $ 9534
Property and casualty
State insurance facilities .......cocooviiiiii 9,582 36,780
Other INSUranCe COMPAMIES .......ovvvioire it 11,033 7.921
[+ €= L RSOSSN PURPOPPPRRt $28,776 $54.235

The Company recognizes the cost of reinsurance premiums over the contract periods for
such premiums in proportion to the insurance protection provided. Amounts recoverable from
reinsurers for unpaid claims and claim settlement expenses, including estimated amounts for
unsettied claims, claims incurred but not reported and pclicy benefits are estimated in a
manner consistent with the insurance liability associated with the pclicy. The effect of
reinsurance on premiums written and contract deposits, premiums and confract charges
earned, and benefits, claims and seltlement expenses were as follows:

Ceded to Assumed

Gross Other from State
Amount Companies Facilities Net

Year ended December 31, 2003

Premiums written and contract deposits......c....ccccc..e. $971,213 $23,038 $7,284 $955,459

Premiums and contract charges eaned..................... 658,171 22,249 7,614 643,536

Benefits, claims and settlement expenses.................. 523,205 8,342 4,115 518,978
Year ended December 31, 2002

Premiums written and contract deposits...................... 905,674 20,750 14,405 899,329

Premiums and contract charges earned..................... 642,310 33,567 16,490 625,233

Benefits, claims and settlement expenses.................. 462,476 26,784 15,174 450,866
Year ended December 31, 2001

Premiums written and contract deposits......c...c..c....... 885,801 27,991 17,756 875,566

Premiums and contract charges earned..................... 625,722 28,601 18,121 615,242

Benefits, claims and settlement expenses................. 475,991 18,416 18,008 475,583




NOTE 11 - Reinsurance-(Continued)

There were no losses from uncollectible reinsurance recoverables in the three years
ended December 31, 2003. Past due reinsurance recoverables as of December 31, 2003
were not material.

The Company maintains an excess and catastrophe treaty reinsurance program. The
Company reinsured 95% of catastrophe losses above a retention of $8,500 per occurrence up
to $80,000 per occurrence through December 31, 2003. Effective January 1, 2004, the
retention on this coverage increased to $10,000. In addition, the Company's predominant
insurance subsidiary for property and casualty business written in Florida reinsures 80% of
hurricane losses in that state above a retention of $14,500 up to $50,800 with the Florida
Hurricane Catastrophe Fund, based on the Fund's financial resources. These catasirophe
reinsurance programs are augmented by a $75,000 equity put and reinsurance agreement.
This equity put provides an option to sell shares of the Company’s convertible preferred stock
with a floating rate dividend at a pre-negotiated price in the event losses from catastrophes
exceed the catastrophe reinsurance program coverage limit.

Effective May 7, 2002, the Company eniered into an equity put and reinsurance
agreement with a subsidiary of Swiss Reinsurance Company. The Swiss Re Group is rated
“A+ (Superior)" by AM. Best. Under the 36-month agreement, which is renewable annually at
the option of the Company, the equity put coverage of $75,000 provides a source of capital for
up to $115,000 of pretax catastrophe losses above the reinsurance coverage limit. The
Company also has the option, in place of the equity put, to require a Swiss Re Group member
to issue a 10% quota share reinsurance coverage of all of the Company's property and
casualty book of business. Annual fees related to this equity put option, which are charged
directly to additional paid-in capital, are 145 basis points for the May 7, 2002 through May 7,
2004 period increasing to 150 basis points for the May 7, 2004 through May 7, 2005 period.
The agreement contains certain conditions to Horace Mann's exercise of the equity put option
including: (1) the Company's shareholders’ equity, adjusted to exclude goodwill, can not be
less than $215,000 after recording the first triggering event; (2) the Company's debt as a
percentage of total capital can not be more than 47.5% prior to recording the triggering event;
and (3) the Company's S&P financial strength rating can not be below "BBB" prior to a
triggering event. The Company's S&P financial strength rating was "A" at December 31, 2003.

For liability coverages, including the educator excess professional liability policy, the
Company reinsures each loss above a retention of $500 up to $20,000. Through December
31, 2003, the Company also reinsured each property loss above a retention of $250 up to
$2,500, including catastrophe losses that in the aggregate are less than the retention levels
above. Effective January 1, 2004, the retention on the property loss coverage increased io
$500.

The maximum individual life insurance risk retained by the Company is $200 on any
individual life and a maximum of $100 or $125 is retained on each group life policy depending
cn the type of coverage. Excess amounts are reinsured. The Company also maintains a life
catastrophe reinsurance program. The Company reinsured 100% of the catastrophe risk in
excess of $1,000 up to $20,000 per occurrence through December 31, 2003 and in excess of
$1,000 up to $15,000 per occurrence effective January 1, 2004. This program covers acts of
terrorism but excludes nuciear, biologicai and chemical explosions as well as other acts of war.
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NOTE 12 - Contingencies
Lawsuits and Legal Proceedings

In June 2002, the Company recorded a pretax charge of $1,581 representing the
Company's best estimate of the costs of resclving class action lawsuits related tc diminished
value brought against the Company. A final court hearing on this malter was held on
December 18, 2002, at which time the settlement was approved and was within the amount
previously accrued by the Company.

There are various other lawsuits and legal proceedings against the Company.
Management and legal counsel are of the opinion that the ultimate dispositicn of such other
litigation will have nc material adverse effect on the Company's financial position or results of
operations.

Assessments for Insoivencies of Unaffiliated Insurance Companies

The Company is also contingently liable for possible assessments under regulatory
reguirements pertaining to potential insclvencies of unaffiliated insurance companies.
Liabilities, which are established based upon regulatory guidance, have generally been
insignificant. [n December 2001, the Company recorded a pretax charge of $1,314
representing its estimated portion of the industry assessment related to the insclvency of the
Reliance Insurance Group.

NOTE 13 - Supplementary Data on Cash Flows

A reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activities as presented in
the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001

Cash flows from operating activities
NELINCOME .oiieii e e e stre e bt $ 18,975 $ 11,333 $ 25,587
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net
cash provided by operating activities:

Realized investment (gains) 10SSES ......covvvivverciiiiiive e, (25,487) 49,407 10,019
Depreciation and amortization .........ccceceevcveeeeciie e, 11,082 12,512 8,300
Increase in insurance liabilities ........c.vveverivivcienncirn e, 147,502 91,429 124,830
(Increase) decrease in premium receivables..........c.cc.oo..e. 634 10,968 (7,160)
Increase in deferred policy acquisition costs ........c.cceecvivnrns (19,835) (21,822) (19,565)
(Increase) decrease in reinsurance recoverable................... 1,110 4,279 (5,850)
Increase (decrease) in federal
income tax HabilitieS........ccvvv i ivien e (18,791) (9,061) 3,179
Decrease in liabilities
for restructuring and litigation charges..........ccccvvevvivnrececen (3,101) (170) (3,127}
OB oot e st sre e e r e et enreeae 5319 16,592 12,644
Total adjustmEnts ........cceeei e e 08,433 154,134 123,270
Net cash provided by operating activities ..............ccovueee $117.408 $165.467 $148.857

The Company's repurchases of debt in 2002 resulted in non-cash financing charges of
$1,731.
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NOTE 14 - Segment [nformation

The Company's operations include the following operating segments which have been
determined on the basis of insurance products sold: property and casualty, annuity and life insurance.
The property and casualty insurance segment includes primarily personal lines automobile and
homeowners products. The annuity segment includes primarily fixed and variable tax-qualified annuity
products. The life insurance segment includes primarily interest-sensitive life and traditional life
products.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note 1 - Summary
of Significant Accounting Policies. The Company accounts for intersegment transactions, primarily the
allocation of agent and overhead costs from the corporate and other segment to the property and
casualty, annuity and life segments, on a cost basis. The Company does not allocate the impact of
corporate level transactions to the insurance segments, consistent with management's evaluation of the
results of those segments.

Summarized financial information for these segments is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Insurance premiums and contract charges earned
Property and CasUaILY ........coocvceiereirie et $ 533,761 $ 519,546 $ 508,345
ANNUILY 1ot ese e e s e e erae s e s e e e anne e 14,588 14,247 14,906
LI e veeteee ettt e e ae b 96,004 92,707 93,272
Intersegment eliminations ..........cceevveiiicinininn (817) (1,267) (1.281)
B o] - PO URU SRR $ 643,536 $ 625233 $ 615242
Net investment income
Property and casualty ........c.occooviviircnicicv e $ 31,892 $ 35,180 $ 37,749
ANNUIY Lttt rtae st e aee e 104,380 107,731 107,583
LI ettt 49,605 53,925 55,226
Corporate and other..........cccoceviiiivi e 10 387 98
Intersegment eliminations .......c....ooooveiviiieeiecie e (1,162) (1,175) (1,389)
1+ - | O O USRS $ 184,725 $ 196,048 $ 199267
Net income
Property and casually ........ccccoouereeriiieneine e e $ (17,805) $ 19,043 $ 5,184
ANNUILY Lo neeieeeeesesse e e e s essesssasseaseasssasasasesssessessassans 14,353 16,963 20,619
LI ettt ettt r e e s a e reeas 13,431 18,899 18,646
Corporate and other (2).........cccovevrmrririvcncernieerr e 8,996 (44 472) {18.862)
Ot oot e e $§ 18975 $ 11333 $ 25587
Amortization of intangible assets
Value of acquired insurance in force
ANNUILY vttt bt et etb e se st etae e erearaereere b sran $ 3,402 $ 4,008 $ 2,317
LITE v vveever et ete st ere ettt e b se e 1,625 1,726 1,839
SUDIOIAN e e 5,027 5,734 4 156
GOOAWIll ...eeiiiii s - - 1,618
TORAL .ot $ 5027 3 5734 8 5774
December 31,
2003 2002
Assets
Property and CasUally .........c.ccovvveeennieneereeseens e sieereenns $ 795,579 $ 773,362
ANNUIY oo r e s et sssesene s rtraane e esaresenenenees 3,163,808 2,628,083
I = SO OO RRSU PR 947,468 1,036,078
Corporate and Other............occceeeeveinrre e e 95,505 112,102
Intersegment eliminations ............ccveeveereeciecivre e (29.372) (37.336)
TOA) et e re e $4,972.988 $4,512,289

(a) The corporate and other segment includes interest expense on debt and the impact of realized investment gains and
losses, restructuring charges, debt retirement costs, litigation charges, provision for prior years' taxes and certain public
company expenses.
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NOTE 15 - Unaudited Interim Information

Summary quarterly financial data is presented below.

Three Months Ended

December 31, September 30, Junsg 30,
2003
Insurance premiums written and contract deposits ...... $249,723 $251,436 $234,760
TOtal rEVENUES.......coiviiiiceee e e 232,436 211,014 209,207
Net income {(I0SS) ...ovveeeiiiiiie e 23,059 (14,266) 2,083
Per share information
Basic
Net inCome (I0SS)....cvivrviiieieicces e $ 054 $ (0.34) $ 005
Shares of common stock - weighted average (a) ... 42,722 42,722 42,707
Diluted
Net income (I0SS).....c.vevcvieieeeeiiecee et $ 054 $ (0.34) $ 0.05
Shares of common stock and equivalent shares -
weighted average (a)......ccccoivvnevcninnvnies e 42,900 42,933 42,901
2002
insurance premiums written and contract deposits ...... $236,377 $232,604 $218,600
Total reVENUES. ... 210,667 189,981 163,406
Net inCome (J0SS) ..o vvviiirieciii et ce s 13,547 549 (18,334)
Per share information
Basic
Net income (J0SS).......coviviviveriieiccierin e evee s $ 033 $ 002 $ (0.45)
Shares of common stock - weighted average (a) ... 41,293 40,850 40,838
Diluted
Net income (I0S8).......ccceviieeeeeeicre e $ 033 $ 0.02 $ (0.45)
Shares of common stock and equivalent shares -
weighted average (8)......ccccccceiieiicinnninnie e 41,466 41,025 41,294
2001
Insurance premiums written and contract deposits ...... $225,262 $224,307 $218,225
Total FEVENUES......cccoviiiiiiicecc e 201,889 203,131 196,106
Net income (I0SS) .o 4,758 9,057 (4,926)
Per share information
Basic
Net income (I0SS).........ccvvievieeieiicie e $ 012 $ 022 $ (0.12)
Shares of common stock - weighted average (a) ... 40,728 40,659 40,554
Diluted
Netincome (10SS)......coeviiviiviiiiciniineiie e $ 012 $ 022 $ (0.12)
Shares of common stock and equivalent shares -
weighted average (@)......ccocoevvreciiiiiiiiriiiecee 41,016 40,977 40,874

(a) Rounded to thousands.
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$219,540
201,091
8,089

$ o019
42,700
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$ 038
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$207,772

203,364
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SCHEDULE [

HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION

SUMMARY OF INVESTMENTS-OTHER THAN INVESTMENTS [N RELATED PARTIES
Decembzer 31, 2003

(Dollars in thousands)

Amount
shown in
Fair Balance
Type of Investments Cost{1) Value Sheet
Fixed maturities:
U.S. Government and U.S. Government agencies
aNd GUEROMLIES ..ooviecveii et $ 943,375 $ 961,062 $ 961,082
States, municipalities and political subdivisions ..........ccccceene 488,081 502,912 502,912
Foreign government BONAS ... e e 33,134 36,194 36,194
PUDBHC UGBS ...eovverieeiiciiccer e e 123,293 128,854 128,854
Other corporate bonds ......cccvvvriieceinr e ccreesee e 1,536,978 1,629,652 1.629.652
Total fixed maturity securities ..........ccccovvevicevcnrvnrnnncenen 3,124,881 $3,258,674 3,258,674
Morigage 1oans and real 8State ......ccccoveeviivivieevieeceecceee s 4,557 XXX 4,557
Short-term iNvestments ............ccccoveviiierecieee e e 25,367 XXX 25,367
Short-term investments, loaned securities ........ccccceveivvivienenenne 22,147 XXX 22,147
Policy loans and other ........c.cccooccviiiiiiie v 74,270 XXX 74,980
Total INVESIMENTS ....coovvriieeceiie e ceer e e $3.251,202 XXX $3.385,725

(1) Bonds at original cost reduced by repayments and adjusted for amortization of premiums or accrual of discounts and
impairment in value of specifically identified investments.

See accompanying Independent Auditors' Report.
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SCHEDULE Il

HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION
(Parent Company Only)

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31, 2003 and 2002
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

December 31,

2003 _2002
ASSETS
INVESTMENES ANA CASH ...ocivinii ettt et e e e $ 7311 $ 10,913
investment in SUDSIdIANES ........c.oovviniiieei e 640,886 608,164
N @SSBES ..ttt ensn e 53,297 55,764
TOtAl @SSBES ....oviivirtieciicee ettt ettt e $ 701494 $ 674,841
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
SHOM-TEIM AEDL .vee ettt e sr e st ee e s eanee e $ 25,000 $ -
LoNG-term dabt.......cccviiree e e 144,703 144,685
Other HabIHHES .. eecueii e et reeeraee e 1,316 1,314
Total liabilitieS ......cccvvevireee et 171.018 145,999
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, authorized

1,000,000 shares; NONE iSSUBM..........cccverrreviiieeee et - -

Common stock, $0.001 par value, authorized 75,000,000
shares; issued, 2003, 60,225,311; 2002, 60,194,615.....ccccorveerrirennrennn. 60 60
Additional paid-in Capital............ocociiiiierre e 342,306 342,749
RetaiNed €arniNgS «..cc.vvvie e cciee et e cte et eere e et ae e rraeeaeaes 456,330 455,308

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes:
Net unrealized gains on fixed maturities

aNd €qQUILY SECUNIIES ....cv.iiveeeeriiiiiires e crcie e e sree e s veaeseesesenesaree s 81,608 80,567
Minimum pension liability adjustment ..........cccoeev i (17,252) (17,265)
Treasury stock, at cost, 2003 and 2002, 17,503,371 shares.................... (332,577) (332,577)
Total shareholders’ eqQUItY.........ccccviiiiiiiiieneie v 530,475 528,842
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity ..........ccceveevvninnicnniinceeene $701,494 $674.8419

See accompanying note tc condensed financial statements.

See accompanying Independent Auditors’ Report.
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SCHEDULE Il

HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION
(Parent Company Only)

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
{(Dollars in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Revenues
Net investment iINCOME ... $ 19 $ 386 $ 100
Realized investment gains (I0SSES) .ccocvvvvveriiiieceeiieiee e, 62 (430) 219
TOtal TEVENUES ...t 81 44) 319
Expenses
TS, Looieiiii ittt et e e e 6,339 8,517 8,250
Debt retirement COStS ..ot - 2,272 -
Amortization of goodwill ..o - - 1,618
OB et 4,629 1,755 3,802
Total EXPENSES ....iiiieiece et 10,968 12,544 14,670
Loss before income taxes
and equity in net earnings of subsidiaries...............cccovveeeenn (10,887) (12,588) {14,351)
Income tax benefit.........cccccccviviieieice e (4.131) (3,954) {4,099)
Loss before equity
in net earnings of sUbSIAIAMNES .........cccevovieiicriiii e (6,756) (8,634) (10,252)
Equity in net earnings of subsidianies ..........c..ccovcvveeieeinineininns 25,731 19,967 35,839
NEBLINCOME ..ciiie ettt be e $18,975 $11,333 $ 25,587

See accompanying note to condensed financial statements.

See accompanying independent Auditors' Report.
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SCHEDULE Il

HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION
(Parent Company Only)

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Dollars in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Cash flows from operating activities
INterest @XPENSE PAI ..covvvvvreverereererriorere e te e ne $ (5,454) $ (9,540) $ (9,081)
Contribution to defined benefit pension plan trust fund............ (8,780) (7,210) -
Federal income taxes (paid) recovered ........cccocveevrirccenrnnnnnen 6,344 7,793 (12)
Cash dividends received from subsidiaries ............cccocveeevennne 23,300 5,900 28,650
L0 (=T A 1 = OO OO PR OO 2,534 9,296 (4.032)
Net cash provided by operating activities ........cccocccoivireennen, 17.944 5,539 15,515
Cash flows provided by (used in) investing aclivities
Net {increase) decrease in investments .........ccccoocveveven v, {(3,368) (2,477) 5,707
Capital contributions to subsidianes ............cccevvveviniinernnnne, {27.500) - {4,500)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities ................ {30,868) (2477) 1,207
Cash flows provided by (used in) financing aclivities
Dividends paid t0 shareholders ........cccoccevereevrenrin e ceennnnas (17,953) (17,164) (17,072)
Principal borrowings (payments) on Bank Credit Facility......... 25,000 (53,000) 4,000
Exercise of Stock OptioNS..........ccveveeeverrererinrc e - 2,183 3,758
Catastrophe-linked equity put option premium ........c...ceeevennen. {(1,088) (1,088) (950)
Proceeds from issuance of Senior Convertible Notes ............. - 162,654 -
Repurchase of Senior Notes and Senior Convertible Notes.... - (97.523) -
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ................ 5,959 {3,938) {10,263}
Net increase (decrease) in Cash......ccccvicvivveveeeiesensveneernnnn,s {(6,965) (876) 6,459
Cash at beginning of Periog........cccc.evcieiveeeenecvrininiie e 7.457 8,333 1.874
Cash at end Of PETIOT....ceveviircecrereeen ettt seseses $___492 $ 7457 § 8333

See accompanying note o condensed financial statements.

See accompanying Independent Auditors’ Report.
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SCHEDULE [

HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION
{(Parent Company Only)

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

NOTE TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The accompanying condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with
the Consolidated Financial Statements and the accompanying notes thereto.

See accompanying Independent Auditors’ Report.
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SCHEDULE IV
HORACE MANN EDUCATORS CORPORATION
REINSURANCE

(Dollars in thousands)

Column A Column B Column C Column Column E Column F
Ceded to Assumed Percentage
Gross Qther from State of Amount
Amount Companies Facilities Net Assumed to Net
Year ended December 31, 2003
Life insurance in force ...........oouvee $13,263,273 $1,338,005 - $11,930,268 -
Premiums
Property and casualty................ $ 542,500 $ 16,353 $ 7614 $ 533,761 1.4%
ANNUIY oo 14,588 - - 14,588 -
LIfE. et 101,900 5,896 - 96,004 -
Other, including
consolidating eliminations......... (817) - - (817) -
Total premiums........ccovveeenenne $ 6581471 § 22249 $ 7,614 $ 643536 1.2%
Year ended December 31, 2002
Life insurance in force........c....... $13,196,369 $1,286,109 - $11,910,260 -
Premiums
Property and casualty $ 530,253 $ 27,197 $16,490 $ 519,546 3.2%
ANNUItY ..o 14,247 - - 14,247 -
Life. oo 99,077 6,370 - 92,707 -
Other, including
consolidating eliminations ........... (1,267) - - (1,267) -
Total premiums.............c..c....... § 642310 $ 33567 $16,490 $ 625233 2.6%
Year ended December 31, 2001
Life insurance in force.........o.......... $13,216,146 $1,035,477 - $12,180,669 -
Premiums
Property and casualty................. $ 514,574 $ 24350 $18,121 $ 508,345 3.6%
ANOUIRY . e 14,906 - - 14,906 .
I T 97,523 4,251 - 93,272
Other, including
consolidating eliminations ........... (1.281) - - (1.281) -
Total premiums........cooovvvvceree. $§ 625722 § 28801 $18.121 $ 615242 2.9%

NOTE: Premiums above include insurance premiums earned and contract charges earned.

See accompanying Independent Auditers’ Report
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In November 1991, Horace Mann Educators Corporation completed an initial public offering of its common stock at a
price of $9 per share. The Company's common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol HMN.

The following table sets forth the high and low sales prices and the cash dividends paid per share during the periods

indicated.

Fisea] Peried High
2003

Fourth Quarter $ 15.39
Third Quarter 16.95
Second Quarter 16.91
First Quarter 16.35
2002

Fourth Quarter $16.49
Third Quarter 18.86
Second Quarter 24.08
First Quarter 23.00
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erporate 0ffce
1 Horace Mann Plaza
Springfield, IL 62715-0001
Telephone: (217) 789-2500
Internet: www.horacemann.com
www.reacheverychild.com

Anrugl Meeling

May 25, 2004

9.00 a.m.

Renaissance Springfield Hotel
701 East Adams Street
Springfield, IL 62701

Inderencent Accourtants
KPMG LLP

303 East Wacker Drive
Chicago, IL 60601

Warket Price

$ 12.81
14.22
13.06
12.43

$ 13.61
14.00
17.45
19.35

Comrmnon Stedk
HMEC Stock is traded on the
NYSE (HMN)

Tramsfer Agent

American Stock Transfer &
Trust Company

40 Wall Street

New York, NY 10005

Senior Conversible Netes
HMEC senior convertible notes
are traded in the open market
(HMN 1.425)

Senior Notes
HMEC senior notes are traded
on the NYSE (HMN 6 5/8)

Horace Mann Educators Corporation ° 2003 Annual Repert

Dividend Paid

$0.105
0.105
0.105
0.105

$ 0.105
0.105
0.105
0.105

Additienal Information
Additional financial data on
HMEC and its subsidiaries is
included in Form 10-K filed with
the Securities and Exchange
Commission. Electronic copies of
HMEC's SEC filings are available
at www.horacemann.com.
Printed copies of SEC filings are
available upon written request
from:

Investor Relations
Horace Mann

Educators Corporation
1 Horace Mann Plaza, C-120
Springfield, IL 62715-0001
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